# **Treatment of Diabetic Retinopathy through Stabilizing Neurovascular Microenvironment**

Inaugural dissertation

for the attainment of the title of doctor in the Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences at the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf

presented by

# **Kepeng Ou** from China

Düsseldorf, August 2019

from the laboratory of experimental ophthalmology, department of ophthalmology, university hospital Düsseldorf

at the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf

Published by permission of the Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences at Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf

Supervisor: Univ.-Prof. Dr. Dr. Stefan Schrader Co-supervisor: Uni.-Prof. Dr. Sebastian Wesselborg

Date of the oral examination: 25/10/2019

# Declaration

I confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been accurately cited and indicated in the thesis.

Since my research project is subject to an international cooperation project titled "Improvement of neurovascular microenvironment through neuropeptides in diabetic retinopathy", it was planned to perform part of the work at the Laboratory of the Department of Ophthalmology at the University of Düsseldorf, however due to the change of Universities of Prof. Stefan Schrader, all experiments were completed in the laboratory of the Academic Unit of Ophthalmology at University of Bristol. My co-supervisors Dr. Lei Liu and Prof. Andrew Dick directly supervised me with their expertise in the field of diabetic retinopathy during my time in the UK.

# Contents

Contents	4
List of Abbreviations	5
Abstract	7
1. Introduction	9
1.1 The Retina 1.1.1 Architecture of the Retina 1.1.2 Retinal cells	<b>9</b> 9 9
1.2 Diabetes Mellitus (DM) 1.2.1 Diabetes Classification	<b>10</b> 11
1.3 Diabetic Retinopathy (DR)	11
1.3.1 DR classification 1.3.2 Pathological Mechanism of Diabetic retinopathy	
1.4 Retinal Hypoxia and Müller Cells	15
1.4.1 Retinal Hypoxia and HIF-1	15
1.4.2 HIF-1 and VEGF	16
1.4.3 VEGF and Hypoxic Muller cells	16
1.5 Preconditioning 1.5.1 The Protective Effects of Hypoxic Preconditioning (HP)	<b>18</b>
1.6 Neuropeptides	18
1.6.1 Neuropeptides in The Retina	
1.6.3 NPY	
1.6.4 Neuropeptides (NPY/ SP) and DR	20
2. Aim of the thesis	21
3. Results	22
3.1 Müller Cells Stabilize Microvasculature through Hypoxic Preconditioning.	22
3.2 Restoring Retinal Neurovascular Health via Substance P	42
<b>3.3 Treatment of Diabetic Retinopathy through Neuropeptide Y-mediated Enhancement of Neurovascular Microenvironment</b>	62
4. General Discussion	83
5. Conclusion	90
6. Future Work	91
7. References	93
8. Acknowledgements	123

# List of Abbreviations

ANGPTL-4	Angiopoietin-like 4
ARVO	Association for Research in Vision and Ophthalmology
AGEs	Advanced glycation end-products
BRB	Blood-retina barrier
CNS	Central nervous system
DR	Diabetic retinopathy
DM	Diabetes mellitus
EB	Evans Blue
ERK1/2	Extracellular signal-related kinases 1/2
ERG	Electroretinography
fERG	Focal Electroretinogram
GCL	Ganglion cell layer
GLUT1	Glucose transporter 1
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
HP	Hypoxic preconditioning
HIF-1a	Hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha
HIF-1	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1
HRMECs	Human Primary Retinal Microvascular Endothelial cells
HUVECs	Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells
ILM	Inner limiting membrane
IPL	Inner plexiform layer
INL	Inner nuclear layer
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MFI	Mean Fluorescent Intensity
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
MRMECs	Mouse Primary Retinal Microvascular Endothelial cells
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
NPY	Neuropeptide Y
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NFL	Nerve fiber layer
NPDR	Non-proliferative diabetic retinopathy

NK1R	Neurokinin 1 receptor
OPL	Outer plexiform layer
ONL	Outer nuclear layer
OLM	Outer limiting membrane
OCR	Oxygen consumption rate
OCT	Optical coherence tomography
PEDF	Pigment epithelium-derived factor
PDR	Proliferative diabetic retinopathy
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
РКС	Protein kinase C
РКСζ	Protein kinase C zeta
PL	Photoreceptor layer
RGC	Retinal ganglion cells
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RPE	Retinal pigmented epithelium
RT	Room temperature
SP	Substance P
STZ	Streptozotocin
SDHD	Succinate dehydrogenase complex subunit D
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VPF	Vascular permeability factor
WHO	World Health Organization
ZO-1	Zonula occludens-1

#### Abstract

#### Abstract

Diabetic retinopathy (DR) is one of the most severe clinical manifestations of diabetes and a major cause of vision loss in worldwide working-age adults. The hallmarks of diabetic retinopathy include the damage and subsequent reduction of pericytes and endothelial cells numbers, followed by thickening of the vascular basement and further to disrupt the blood-retina barrier (BRB). The main known contributors to the breakdown of the BRB are pro-angiogenic factors, especially, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), mainly secreted by upregulation from the hypoxia-induced activation of retinal Müller cells. However, there are early stages of diabetes-induced retinal neurodegeneration, which include reactive gliosis with subsequent impairment of retinal neuronal function. These changes are observed before the onset of vascular abnormalities in human and mouse diabetic retinal tissue. Therefore, DR is widely recognized as a neurovascular disease, which is in contrast to its conventional perception as a merely vascular disease. In the recent years, considerable efforts have been made to find treatments for this condition. Studies have shown that hypoxic preconditioning (HP) can stabilize hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ) to regulate the hypoxic retinal disease. It has also been reported that neuropeptides exert functions through their multiple receptors are potentially important for consideration in developing new drug strategies.

The aim of this thesis was to investigate HP of retinal Müller cells and adjunctive Neuropeptide Y (NPY) and Substance P (SP) to stabilize and improve the health of neurovascular microenvironment. The effect of HP was assessed in detail, using several methods, including *in vitro* angiogenesis and vascular integrity models. In parallel, metabolism of Müller cells was assessed using Seahorse XF Cell Mito Stress Test. In the next series of my experiments, to interrogate the protective effect of SP and NPY in maintaining the retinal neurovascular unit, tight junction proteins expression and Vascular Permeability Image Assay were used to determine vascular integrity *in vitro*. The protective effect of SP and NPY on retinal ganglion cells (RGC) was also analyzed in *ex vivo* retinal explants. More importantly, the protective effect of the neuropeptides was further investigated utilizing *in vivo* murine diabetic models.

#### Abstract

The experiments revealed that the hypoxic response of retinal Müller cells promotes vascular permeability and angiogenesis through HIF-dependent upregulation of proangiogenic factors VEGF and angiopoietin-like 4 (ANGPTL4). HP had a robust effect decreasing HIF-1 $\alpha$  stabilization in response to hypoxia. In turn, HIF-mediated transcription and secretion of pro-angiogenic factors were reduced. This protective mechanism was linked to the change in the retinal Müller cells metabolic status. It was also demonstrated that SP and NPY are neuroprotective, suppressing apoptosis of RGC induced by N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), and protect against VEGF-induced microvascular leakage of the retina. Moreover, NPY showed neurovascular protection of DR in type 1 diabetic mice.

These effects demonstrate the significant role of HP and that the modulation of neuropeptide transmitters (SP and NPY) levels can be a potential novel approach of treatment in maintaining neurovascular-unit homeostasis, and open up new therapeutic avenues for DR.

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1 The Retina

#### 1.1.1 Architecture of the Retina

The retina is a light-sensitive layer of tissue located in the posterior chamber of the eyeball of most vertebrates (Figure 1A). The retina consists of 10 layers (Figure 1B). **A B** 



**Fig. 1.** The retina. (A) Anatomical structure of the human eye. (B) The 10 layers of retina including (1) the inner limiting membrane (ILM); (2) the nerve fiber layer (NFL); (3) the ganglion cell layer (GCL); (4) the inner plexiform layer (IPL); (5) the inner nuclear layer (INL); (6) the outer plexiform layer (OPL); (7) the outer nuclear layer (ONL); (8) the outer limiting membrane (OLM); (9) the photoreceptor layer (PL), and (10) the retinal pigmented epithelium (RPE) monolayer [1].

*Figure: Reproduced with permission from François Willermain et al., <u>Front Physiol.</u> 2014 May 30;5:199. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2014.00199. Copyright <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u>* 

#### 1.1.2 Retinal cells

Histologically, more than 10 diverse kinds of cells are embedded in the retinal layers (Figure 2). The Müller cells span across multiple layers in the retina, from the ILM to the distal end of the ONL [2]. Most of the retinal cells are located in different retinal layers. Astrocytes are located in the ILM, axons of retinal ganglion cells (RGC) and part of glial cells are found in the NFL. Nuclei of RGC, glial cells, and part of amacrine cells are found in the GCL. Bipolar and amacrine cells are found in the INL. The interconnecting neurons of the photoreceptor cells

(rods and cones), the horizontal and bipolar cells are located in the OPL. The ONL and OLM consists mainly of photoreceptor cells. The cones and rods are found in the PL. The pigment epithelium layer is formed by RPE cells [1,3].



**Fig. 2.** Schematic drawing of the retinal cellular components [3]. Amacrine cells (A), astrocytes (As, green), blood vessels (BV). bipolar cells (B), cones (C), RGC (G), horizontal cells (H), Müller cells (M), microglia cells (Mi, red), rods (R), optic nerve (ON), outer segment layer (OS), pigment epithelium (PE), choroid (Ch).

Figure: Reproduced with permission from Elena Vecino et al., <u>Prog Retin Eye Res.</u> 2016 Mar;51:1-40. doi: 10.1016/j.preteyeres.2015.06.003. Copyright <u>Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-No</u> <u>Derivatives License (CC BY NC ND)</u>.

#### **1.2 Diabetes Mellitus (DM)**

There is a significant increasing prevalence of diabetes worldwide, especially in western countries [4]. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that the number of DM patients is expected to significantly increase to 592 million by 2035 [5]. DM is not only a disease found in industrialized countries, but also spreading into the developing countries due to lack of healthy diet habits and physical activity [6].

#### **1.2.1 Diabetes Classification**

Diabetes can be divided into two broad pathogenetic categories: type 1 and type 2. Type 1 diabetes, also called the juvenile diabetes, is an autoimmune disease, where the immune system attacks beta cells in the pancreas, leading to a reduction or complete inability of the pancreas to produce insulin. However, the underlying mechanisms are still unclear [7]. On the other side, type 2 diabetes, is based on insulin resistance or a disturbed insulin production in the pancreas. Type 2 diabetes accounts for around 90-95% of diagnosed DM in adults [8]. There is also a range of atypical types of diabetes. For example, monogenics, infection-induced and iatrogenic (caused by certain medications or surgery or hormonal imbalances) diabetes. These atypical types of diabetes account for around 2% of the whole diabetic population [9].

#### **1.3 Diabetic Retinopathy (DR)**

DM patients suffer from many serious life-threatening complications, including microvascular-related neuropathy [10], nephropathy [11], retinopathy [12] and macrovascular-related cardiovascular diseases, such as ischemia [13], stroke [14] and peripheral artery disease [15]. Among these, patients who have suffered with diabetes for longer than 10 years are at a high-risk of developing diabetic retinopathy (DR) [16]; type 1 diabetic patients have a higher risk of developing DR compared to those with type 2 DM [17,18]. Currently, approximately 93 million people in the world have DR, a quarter of whom have vision-threatening DR [19]. This number is predicted to rise along with the increasing incidence of diabetes [5].

#### 1.3.1 DR classification

Clinically, DR is classified into two main types: proliferative and non-proliferative [18]. The key criterion is whether the retina starts growing abnormal blood vessels (Figure 3) [20].

#### 1.3.1.1 NPDR

Non-proliferative diabetic retinopathy (NPDR) is the early stage of DR without the occurrence of neovascularization. NPDR can be subdivided into mild, moderate and severe stages. Mild NPDR is characterized by a few microaneurysms in the retina. Moderate NPDR is identified by various microaneurysms, hemorrhages and hard exudates. Severe NPDR presents severe intraretinal hemorrhages, many more cotton wool spots, capillary occlusion and hard exudates [21,22], all of which can be detected by fundus examination.

#### 1.3.1.2 PDR

Proliferative diabetic retinopathy (PDR) is a more advanced form of DR, identified by significant retinal neovascularization. However, the abnormal blood vessels are fragile and leaky [23]. They may have misdirected growth into the vitreous, resulting in vitreous hemorrhage followed by vision loss. In addition, the abnormal blood vessels may scar and lead to tractional retinal detachment, ultimately resulting in vision loss [22,24].



**Fig. 3.** Progression of retinal dysfunction in diabetes. The left image illustrates mild NPDR. The middle image shows examples of PDR, the right image is a normal retina [25].

*Figure: Reproduced with permission from* <u>https://www.retinamd.com/diseases-and-treatments/retinal-</u> conditions-and-diseases/diabetic-retinopathy/

#### 1.3.2 Pathological Mechanism of Diabetic retinopathy

Numerous studies have suggested that hyperglycemia plays an essential role in the development of DR via the following biochemical mechanisms: increased polyol pathway flux [26], activation of protein kinase C (PKC) [27], increased hexosamine pathways flux [28], formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) [29]and advanced glycation end products formation (AGEs) (Figure 4) [30].



Fig. 4. The four main pathways associated with DR [31].

*Figure: Reproduced with permission from Sher Zaman Safi et al., <u>Biomed Res Int.</u> 2014;2014:801269. doi: 10.1155/2014/801269. Copyright <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u>* 

#### 1.3.2.1 Hyperglycemia and Retinal Microvasculopathy

Hyperglycemia is a major factor that links with the formation and development of DR [32]. The primary responses to hyperglycemia lead to retinal vessel dilation and blood

flow increase, as hyperglycemia suppresses the supply of energy substrates to the retina [33,34]. These changes might represent retinal autoregulation as an attempt to balance the changes in metabolism. Meanwhile, under hyperglycemic conditions, studies have shown the loss of pericytes in the diabetic retina both *in vitro* and *in vivo* [35]. The loss of pericytes is thought to initiate structural damages to retinal capillary walls, leading to microaneurysm formation which is the onset of NPDR [36]. Previous studies reported that retinal capillary coverage with pericytes is associated with the survival of endothelial cells. The loss of pericytes also impairs endothelial-pericyte interactions and subsequently causes retinal leakage, which is crucial for blood-retina barrier (BRB) [37]. In addition, hyperglycemia leads to apoptosis of retinal endothelial cells and disrupts the BRB [38]. Furthermore, apoptotic endothelial cells are deprived of their replicative ability. This ultimately results in capillary occlusion which leads to ischemia and hypoxia [39]. Retinal ischemia/hypoxia magnifies the effect of multiple proangiogenic factors through the activation of HIF-1. This may disrupt the integrity of BRB and leads to further visual impairment in DM [40].

#### 1.3.2.2 Neurovascular Changes in DR

However, in addition to existing research on microvascular changes in the diabetic retina, more recent pre-clinical studies demonstrated that components of the neurovascular-unit, including the inner and outer neurosensory retina, are disrupted in diabetic patients (Figure 5) [41,42]. Disturbed neuronal function is reflected by damaged glutamate and dopamine neurotransmitter systems [43]. In contrast to the enlargement of dendritic fields [44], the decreased expression of synaptic protein has been documented [45]. These changes ultimately lead to apoptosis of neurons alongside persistent uncontrollable diabetes [46]. Additional diabetic changes include altered glial cell activation, demonstrated by damaged interaction between glutamate and glutamine [47], reduced potassium channels [48], and subsequent markedly altered the expression of intermediary filament proteins [49]. The transformation of M ller glia cells from a quiescent to active phenotype increases the expression of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) in the human diabetic retina [50,51]. Studies have also shown an increased GFAP expression of rat M ller glia cells at 2 to 5 months in a diabetic model [52]. In addition, diabetes causes the dysfunction of retinal astrocytes, reduction of connexin expression as well as cell apoptosis with the progression of DR [53], though the

underlying mechanism needs to be explored. Microglial cells, the resident immune cells in the retinal, function to monitor the retinal microenvironment, react to local insults and translocate their positions in the retina to maintain homeostasis [54]. Nonetheless, microglial cells may lead to retinal damage associated with chronical stimulation [55]. In some diabetic patients, the alteration of retinal electrophysiology and neurodegeneration have also been observed [56,57]. The physiological and biochemical dysfunction of diabetic rat retina occurred is associated with the onset of hyperglycemia [58]. In contrast, significant alterations of the retinal microvascular system such as vascular leakage and angiogenesis occur after years of developing diabetes in humans or around 6 months later in diabetic animal models [59,60]. Therefore, diabetes-induced glia-neuronal abnormalities prior to vascular diseases may contribute to the pathogenesis of retinal vessels [61]. Hence, DR cannot be considered merely as a microvascular disease but more a neurovascular-unit disease.



**Fig. 5.** The retinal neurovascular interaction. (a) The integrity of normal retinal microenvironment. (b) The disruption of neurovascular-unit in the DR [62].

Figure: Reproduced with permission from David A. Antonetti et al., <u>N Engl J Med.</u> 2012 Mar 29;366(13):1227-39. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1005073. Copyright <u>Massachusetts Medical Society</u>.

# 1.4 Retinal Hypoxia and Müller Cells 1.4.1 Retinal Hypoxia and HIF-1

Retinal ischemia and hypoxia are the main causes of DR complications and visual loss.

Hypoxia, or low-oxygen conditions, will active hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) in eukaryotic cells [63]. HIF-1 is an oxygen-regulated heterodimer transcription factor formed by HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-1 $\beta$  subunit [64]. Under normoxic conditions, HIF-1 $\alpha$ subunits are degraded by proteasomes due to its oxygen sensitivity. Under hypoxic conditions, the degradation of HIF-1 $\alpha$  is reduced, thus the transcriptional activity is enhanced [65,66]. This leads to an accumulation of active HIF-1 $\alpha$  subunits that bind to HIF-1 $\beta$  subunits, forming HIF-1 [67]. Activated HIF-1 is capable of regulating specific downstream genes; it induces gene expression to facilitate the adaptation of cells, tissues and organisms to hypoxic conditions [68].

#### 1.4.2 HIF-1 and VEGF

A variety of HIF-1-target genes have been reported to stimulate neovascularization and vascular permeability in the retina. VEGF is the most critical pro-angiogenic factor among the HIF-1-dependent factors identified in retinopathies including DR [69,70]. VEGF or vascular permeability factor (VPF) consists of 8 highly conserved cysteines, and they belong to the platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) supergene family [71]. The family of VEGF includes 7 members, 5 of which (VEGF-A, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D and PIGF) exist in mammals [72]; however, VEGF-E and Trimeresurus flavoviridis sv VEGF do not [73]. VEGF is found to drive the angiogenesis and the formation of new vessels in DR [70], which lead to the development of anti-VEGF therapy[74]. VEGFs exert their biological functions through targeting VEGF receptors, the currently known VEGF receptors are: VEGFR1 (Flk-1), VEGFR2 (KDR/Flk-1in mice) and VEGFR3 (Flt-4) [75]. VEGF-A is also called VEGF, VEGF-A pre-mRNA can be spliced into multiple isoforms including VEGF121, VEGF165, VEGF189 and VEGF206 in humans (VEGF120, VEGF164, VEGF188 in mouse) [76]. The predominant expression VEGF-A isoforms in human and mouse tissues are VEGF165 and VEGF164 respectively [77]. Intensive investigations of the mechanisms of hypoxic retinal diseases suggest that oxygen levels are a crucial regulator of VEGF-A gene expression [78] and that VEGF induced by HIF-1 plays a major role in inducing vascular leakage and retinal neovascularization in DR [79,80].

### **1.4.3 VEGF and Hypoxic Müller cells 1.4.3.1 Müller Cells**

Müller cells account for 90% of the retinal glia and spans across the entire the retina [3]. Anatomically and functionally Müller cells constitute a link among the retinal vitreous body, neurons, blood vessels (forming glial limitans) and the subretinal space [81].

#### 1.4.3.2 Müller Cells Function

Müller cells display various shapes in different species, but they have a considerable number of common features. The morphological localization of the Müller cells is designed to provide structural stabilization, which plays an essential supporting role in maintaining the homeostasis of retina [82,83]. Müller cells also provides direction for neurons and neurites to migrate in processes, such as during the early stages of retinal development, the recycling of neurotransmitter and information processing [84]. Apart from their neuroprotective effect, Müller cells are participated in regulating retinal vascularization. In physiological conditions, factors secreted by Müller cells, such as pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF), neurturin and thrombospondin-1, are able to enhance the BRB's integrity [85,86]. However, in response to injuries such as retinal ischemia/hypoxia caused by DR, the factors secreted by Müller cells become imbalanced. In particular, the increased secretion of VEGF can result in degraded tight junctions and breakdown of the BRB, ultimately leading to increased vessel leakage [87,88].

#### 1.4.3.3 VEGF and Müller Cells

Currently observations show that there are five retinal cell types have the ability to generate and release VEGF, RPE [89], astrocytes [90], Müller cells [91], vascular endothelial [92] and RGC[93]. Amongst these cell types, the Müller glia cells are the primary source of VEGF in the retina [94]. It has been demonstrated that the conditional ablation of VEGF in mouse Müller glia cells has resulted in reduction of the total retinal VEGF by almost half [87][95]. Similar effects were observed in a Streptozotocin (STZ)-induced type 1 DM model [96]. However, the Müller glia-derived VEGF is a double-edged sword. Although it is essential for vasculogenesis and angiogenesis in the development of retina, it has also been found to be critical in the molecular pathogenesis of several retinal diseases [83]. Studies have revealed that Müller glia-derived VEGF is a key contributor to neovascularization and vascular leakage in DR, and the up-

regulation of VEGF in hypoxic Müller cells leads to the breakdown of the BRB in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* models [97]. Therefore, the stabilization of VEGF secretion in hypoxia-induced Müller cells needs to be explored.

#### **1.5 Preconditioning**

Preconditioning is a phenomenon where an entity is briefly exposed to a variety of stress and insults to subsequently induce resilience against lethal injuries in the future. Preconditioning stimuli like hypoxia [98], ischemia [99], hypothermia [100], endotoxin pretreatment [101] and light [102] have been shown to activate multiple pro-survival pathways and provide robust protection. Moreover, a number of preconditioning methods have been investigated in the kidney [103], liver [104] and retina [105], as well as other organs [106].

#### **1.5.1** The Protective Effects of Hypoxic Preconditioning (HP)

HP or hypoxia-induced tolerance refers to the exposure of cells, tissues or organs to mild hypoxia leading to accumulated tolerance towards subsequent hypoxia or severe insults that occurs minutes, hours, or even days later [107,108]. Sublethal hypoxia serves as a stimulatory "warning" signal that we term HP. Initial research confirmed the endogenous protective functions of HP in animals and later in various cell types and organs [109,110]. HP has been described in the heart [111], brain [112] and retina [113] as well as other tissues [114]. The cytoprotection of HP can be divided into two stages: firstly, an immediate protective effect that appears quickly and is short-lived after the stimulus, lasting only a few hours; secondly, a stronger protection occurring a few hours after hypoxia that lasts for many days or even several weeks [109]. The later stage of HP is mediated by HIF through regulating the transcription factor, HIF-1 $\alpha$ , thereby targeting the downstream synthesis of genes and proteins such as VEGF [115]. Recently, many studies have reported the ability of HP to provide tissue protection and neuroprotection through the stabilization of HIF-1 $\alpha$  [116,117]. HP also strongly protects the retina against cell death [118]. This encourages further exploration into the mechanisms of how Müller cells stabilize the retinal microvascular environment via the process of HP.

#### **1.6 Neuropeptides**

#### 1.6.1 Neuropeptides in The Retina

Neuropeptides are small amino acids, primarily generated by neurons, which modulate neuronal communication by acting on cell surface receptors [119]. Studies have shown that different neuropeptides participate in a range of physiological regulations [120] to include metabolism [121], stress control [122] and pain perception [123]. Neuropeptides are neural signaling molecules and evoke biological responses via specific receptors [124]. There are more than 10 neuropeptides expressed within the INL of the retina and RGC [125], of which Substance P (SP) and Neuropeptide Y (NPY) are the most highly-expressed [126,127].

#### 1.6.2 SP

SP is a neuropeptide that is 11 amino acids long; it belongs to the tachykinin neuropeptide family. SP is not only produced by neuronal cells, but also non-neuronal cells such as immune cells [128]. SP performs its biological function through high affinity neurokinin receptors: endogenous neurokinin 1 receptor (NK1R; which has the highest affinity interaction), NK2R and NK3R [129,130]. SP also performs a variety of neuroprotective functions, such as in Alzheimer's disease [131,132]. In addition, the effect of SP are observed in wound healing [133], cell proliferation [134], angiogenesis [135] and ocular homeostasis [136].

#### 1.6.3 NPY

NPY is the most highly-expressed neuropeptide (under physiological conditions) within the central nervous system (CNS) of mammals; it is involved in numerous physiological processes [137]. NPY consists of 36 amino acids and performs its biological function through G-protein-coupled receptors, Y1-6 [138]. The expression of NPY in several regions of the eye and in the retinal cells of different species have been demonstrated by NPY-immunoreactivity [139]. It has been shown that NPY exists in large amount within retinal neurons, especially the human RGC [140]. Likewise, the expression of NPY in non-neural elements has also been discovered in some species, such as within the Müller cells in humans [141,142]. NPY has a crucial effect on metabolism, and the dysregulation of NPY has been observed in multiple pathophysiological processes [143][144]. It has also been shown that NPY has a neuroprotective effect against excitotoxicity in the CNS [145]. Furthermore, Cavadas C *et al.* reported that NPY

protects retinal neurons from glutamate-induced excitotoxicity in cultured rat retinal neural cells [146]. Meanwhile, increased NPY levels in plasma were observed under several stress conditions in humans and animals, such as hypoxia, tissue injury and ischemia [147,148].

#### 1.6.4 Neuropeptides (NPY/SP) and DR

In recent years, studies have shown that elevated levels of NPY and SP observed in the retina are associated with acute stress, yet both levels are markedly reduced in diabetes [149,150]. A current opinion is that NPY and SP are neuroprotective, and that retinal neural apoptosis is attenuated when the neuropeptides are elevated along with preventing the loss of retinal functions in animals [151,152]. In addition, SP and NPY promote the proliferation, differentiation and migration of vascular endothelial cells [153,154], while NYP also stimulates vascular smooth muscle cells [155].

# 2. Aim of the thesis

The primary aim of the thesis was to interrogate the impact of HP in modifying Müller cells in DR. The secondary aims were to investigate the function of neuropeptides (SP and NPY) in regulating the neurovascular-unit in DR.

# **2.1 The first hypothesis: Müller cells stabilize microvasculature through HP**

According to the protective effect of HP though stabilizing the HIF-1 $\alpha$  in the retina. The beneficial effects of HP might involve counter-regulation of Müller cell activation and negate subsequent secretion of pro-angiogenic factors, including VEGF and angiopoietin-like 4 (ANGPTL-4).

This study aimed to answer the following scientific questions:

1) Can Müller cells under hypoxic conditions increase retinal vascular leakage and angiogenesis?

2) Can HP stabilize Müller cells in hypoxic conditions to protect vascular integrity in retinal endothelial models?

3) What is the potential mechanism of HP in stabilizing HIF-1 $\alpha$  in Müller cells?

# 2.2 The second hypothesis: Adjunctive neuropeptides (SP and NPY) therapy sustain neurovascular health thereby attenuating DR

Based on the known functions of SP and NPY, it is worth assessing whether NPY and SP can exhibit neurovascular protective properties in the retina, and specifically in a model of DR.

This study aimed to answer the following scientific questions:

1) Are neural dysfunction and microvascular abnormality interdependent in DR?

2) Can improvement of neuronal health through neuropeptides (SP and NPY) prevent or rescue vasculopathy in DR?

# **3.1 Müller Cells Stabilize Microvasculature through Hypoxic Preconditioning**

Kepeng Ou<sup>1,2</sup>, Mertsch Sonja<sup>1</sup>, Sofia Theodoropoulou<sup>2</sup>, Jiahui Wu<sup>2</sup>, Jian Liu<sup>2</sup>, David A Copland<sup>2</sup>, Louis M Scott<sup>2</sup>, Andrew D Dick<sup>2,3#</sup>, Stefan Schrader<sup>1,4#</sup>, Lei Liu<sup>2#</sup>.

- Laboratory for Experimental Ophthalmology, University of D seldorf, D seldorf, Germany
- Academic Unit of Ophthalmology, Bristol Medical School, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK
- National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Biomedical Research Centre at Moorfields Eye Hospital and University College London Institute of Ophthalmology, London, UK
- 4. Department of Ophthalmology, University of D seldorf, D seldorf, Germany

#### Abstract

Background/Aims: Hypoxia of the retina is a common pathogenic drive leading to vision loss as a result of tissue ischemia, increased vascular permeability and ultimately retinal neovascularisation. Here we tested the hypothesis that Müller cells stabilize the neurovascular unit, microvasculature by suppression of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ) activation as a result of hypoxic preconditioning. *Methods:* Tube Formation Assay and In Vitro Vascular Permeability Image Assay were used to analyze angiogenesis and vascular integrity. Seahorse XF Cell Mito Stress Test was used to measure mitochondrial respiration. Gene and protein expression were examined by qRT-PCR, ELISA and western blot. Results: Hypoxic insult induces a significant induction of pro-angiogenic factors including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and angiopoietin-like 4 (ANGPTL-4) resulting in angiogenesis and increased vascular permeability of vascular endothelial cells. Hypoxic preconditioning of a human retinal Müller glia cell line significantly attenuates HIF-1α activation through the inhibition of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and concomitant induction of aerobic glycolysis, stabilizing endothelial cells. Conclusions: Hypoxic preconditioning of Müller cells confers a robust protection to endothelial cells, through

the suppression of HIF-1 $\alpha$  activation and its downstream regulation of VEGF and ANGPTL-4.

#### **Running title**

Microvasculature Stabilization through Hypoxic Preconditioning

**Key words:** Müller cells, angiogenesis, vascular permeability, hypoxia, hypoxic preconditioning

Retinal hypoxia is recognized in a number of sight-threatening disorders including central retinal artery occlusion, ischemic central retinal vein occlusion, diabetic retinopathy and occlusive retinal vasculitis [156-158]. Hypoxic environments induce expression of Hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ), which modulates target genes such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and nitric oxide synthase (NOS) in many tissues [159]. Under conditions of hypoxic stress, degradation of the oxygensensitive HIF-1a subunit is reduced, whereas its transcriptional activity is enhanced [65,66,160]. The increased amount of active HIF-1 $\alpha$  protein localizes to the nucleus by binding to HIF-1 $\beta$ , forming a heterodimer (HIF-1) that is capable of binding to the DNA of specific (hypoxia-inducible) genes and inducing broad changes in gene expression, which mediate acclimation of cells, tissues, and the organism to conditions of low oxygen tension [68]. The HIF family consists of three identified members, with HIF-1 being the best-characterized protein [161]. The action of HIF-1 and associated downstream regulated genes, particularly VEGF, are essential for retinal development, vasculature stability, proper retinal function, and vision maintenance [162]. Nevertheless, the HIF-1 targeted genes represent a double-edged sword [163]. Under hypoxic conditions, overexpression of these target genes alters the tissue homeostasis and contribute to ocular disease, through increased retinal angiogenesis and vascular permeability [164].

Müller cells account for 90% of the retinal glia [3]. Müller cells span across the entire thickness of the retina, from the inner limiting membrane of the retina to the distal end of the outer nuclear layer. Anatomically and functionally Müller cells constitute a link between the retinal neurons, the vitreous body, the retinal blood vessels (forming glial limitans) and the subretinal space [165]. However, reactive Müller cell gliosis often occurs in the mammalian retina in response to injury. It has been demonstrated that the release of several proinflammatory factors, cytokines and proangiogenic growth factors from Müller cells can accentuate retinal damage [83]. As an example, evidence demonstrates that VEGF and ANGPTL-4 are up-regulated by HIF-1 in hypoxic retinal Müller cells *in vitro* and the ischemic inner retina *in vivo* [69]. Increased expression of VEGF and ANGPTL-4 promotes angiogenesis and vascular permeability resulting in disruption of the blood retinal barrier [69,166].

Hypoxic preconditioning (HP) or hypoxia-induced tolerance, refers to a brief period of hypoxia that induces protection against subsequent lethal insult occurring minutes, hours, or even days later [108]. HP represents a fundamental adaptive response to environmental stress, whereby cells adapt to stress by upregulating defense mechanisms and switching to a protective phenotype [167]. Reports have shown that HP stabilizes HIF-1 $\alpha$  in the retina and protects photoreceptors against light-induced cell death [168]. Whilst the underlying pro-survival mechanisms are not fully understood, the cellular response to hypoxia is characterized by the differential regulation of genes. Therefore, we hypothesized that the beneficial effects of HP might involve counter-regulation of Müller cell activation and negate subsequent secretion of pro-angiogenic factors. In this *in vitro* study, we demonstrate that HP of Müller cells stabilizes microvasculature via HIF-1 regulation.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1 Cell Culture and Reagents.

Spontaneously immortalized human Müller glia cell line (MIO-M1) purchased from UCL Business PLC (London, UK), were cultured in DMEM medium containing high glucose and stable glutamine, supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Life Technologies, UK). Human Primary Retinal Microvascular Endothelial cells (HRMECs, H6065, Generon, UK) were cultured in Complete Human Endothelial Cell Medium (H1168, Generon, UK), Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells (HUVECs) (C-12200, Promocell, UK) were cultured in Endothelial Cell Growth Medium 2 (C-39211, Promocell, UK). Rapamycin (R8781, working concentration 100 nM) and Digoxin (D6003, working concentration 100 nM) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich. Apoptosis/ Necrosis Detection Kit (ab176749, Abcam, UK) was used to assess HP-induced cell viability. MIO-M1 were seeded at a density of  $3 \times 10^4$  in 96 well plate, then cultured in normoxic and hypoxic incubator for 3 days. Cells were then stained with Apoptosis/ Necrosis Detection Kit as described by the manufacturer's protocol. MIO-M1 cell viability was quantified by counting the number of apoptosis and necrosis cells account for the total number of cells under a fluorescence microscope (Nikon, Japan).

Hypoxic conditions was used according to previous report [69]. In brief, MIO-M1 cells were cultured in normal conditions to confluency and then transferred to hypoxic chamber supplied with 1% O<sub>2</sub>, 94% N<sub>2</sub>, and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Control cultures were incubated under standard normoxic conditions for the same duration. In HP experiments, MIO-M1 cells are transferred to hypoxic culture conditions for a defined duration (1 hour, 2 hours and 4 hours) before returning and reoxygenation in the normoxic incubator (95% air, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>) for 24 hours. Cultures are then re-incubated for a further 48 hours within the hypoxic environment. After the re-incubation time, the supernatant and cells were collected for the quantitative assays.

#### 2.2 Quantitative Real time RT-PCR

Total RNA extraction was carried out using TRIzol<sup>TM</sup> Reagent (15596026, Life Technologies, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Total RNA was quantified by Nanodrop and treated with RQ1 RNase-free DNase before cDNA synthesis using the ImProm-II<sup>TM</sup> Reverse Transcription System (A3800, Promega, UK). cDNA was amplified using the Power SYBR® Green PCR Master Mix Reagent

(4367659, Life Technologies, UK) on a StepOne<sup>™</sup> Applied Biosystems Real-Time 5'-PCR System. Primer sequences β-Actin, forward used were: gggaaatcgtgcgtgacattaag, reverse 5'-tgtgttggcgtacaggtctttg; HIF-1a, forward 5'gaaagcgcaagtcctcaaag, reverse 5'-tgggtaggagatggagatgc; ANGPTL-4, forward 5'ggacacggcctatagcctg, reverse 5'-ctcttggcgcagttcttgtc. succinate dehydrogenase complex subunit D (SDHD), forward 5'-atggcggttctctggaggctg, reverse 5'gagettecaegeatggeaae; 1 (GLUT1), forward 5'glucose transporter tcactgtgctcctggttttctg, reverse 5'-cctgtgcctcctgagagatcc. The equation fold change =  $2^{-1}$  $\Delta\Delta ct$  was used for calculation relative changes in expression levels. All measurements were performed at least in duplicates and the experiments were performed at least three times independently.

#### 2.3 SDS\_PAGE analysis

For analysis of protein levels, cultured cells were rinsed twice with ice-cold PBS and then lysed with ice-cold CelLytic<sup>™</sup> MT Cell Lysis Reagent (C2978, Sigma-Aldrich, UK). Cell lysates were centrifuged at 14,000 g for 10 min at 4°C, the supernatant was transferred to fresh tubes and Pierce<sup>TM</sup> BCA Protein Assay Kit (23225, Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK) used to determine the protein concentration in each sample. Then the equal protein was mixed with 4× SDS sample buffer, boiled for 10 min at 90°C, and resolved using 4% to 20% NuPAGE gels (XV04200PK20, Invitrogen, UK). After electrophoresis, the proteins were transferred to PVDF membranes (IB24001, Invitrogen, UK) by electrophoretic transfer. The membranes were blocked with 5% skimmed milk for 2 hours, rinsed, and incubated overnight at 4°C with the following primary antibodies: Anti-HIF-1 alpha (ab2185; Abcam, UK; 1: 1000) and mTOR (7C10) Rabbit mAb (2983; Cell Signaling Technology, UK; 1:1000). Excess antibody was then removed by washing the membrane in PBS/ 0.1% Tween 20, and the membranes were incubated for 2 hours with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (A0545, Abcam, UK; 1:2000). Following further washes in PBS/ 0.1% Tween 20, the signals were developed with ECL reagent (GERPN2209, Sigma, UK) and captured by an electronic imaging system (Konica Minolta).

#### 2.4 ELISA

To quantify levels of secreted VEGF and ANGPTL-4, culture supernatants from hypoxic conditioned MIO-M1 cells were assayed using DuoSet human VEGF

(DY293B, Bio-Techne, UK) or ANGPTL-4 ELISA (DY3458, Bio-Techne, UK) kits according manufacturer's instructions. Three samples for each experimental condition were used. In each experiment, all samples and standards were measured in duplicate.

#### 2.5 Tube formation

Tube formation assay was performed using growth factor-reduced Matrigel (No.354320, BD Biosciences, UK). Fifty microliters of Matrigel was added into a prechilled 96-well plate and placed in a  $37^{\circ}C$  CO<sub>2</sub> incubator for 30 min. HRMECs were counted and seeded  $2 \times 10^4$  cells in 100 µl of culture medium which were mixed with 50 µl of test sample, then added onto the matrigel surface. Eighteen hours later, phase contrast photos were taken by Wide field microscope (Leica DMI6000). The whole area of tube length was quantified by ImageJ1.46r (National Institutes of Health, USA).

#### 2.6 Permeability Assay

Permeability visualization experiments were performed on 18×18 mm square Rinzle plastic coverslips with In Vitro Vascular Permeability Imaging Assay (17-10398, Merck, UK). HUVEC cells were cultured for 48-72 hours on biotinylated gelatin coated coverslips in 35 mm culture dishes in a density of  $4.5 \times 10^5$  cells/dish. The culture medium was then changed to EGM-2 containing 2% FBS for 2 hours prior to stimulation. Then culture medium was mixed with test samples at 1:3 ratio and incubated for 30 min at 37°C before evaluation of HUVEC cell monolayer permeability. Fluorescein-streptavidin (25 µg/ml) was directly added to the culture medium for 5 min, followed by two washing steps (3 ml of PBS, pH 7.4, 37°C). The cells were fixed (3.7% formaldehyde in PBS for 10 min) and subjected to immunofluorescence staining for VE-cadherin according to the manufacturer's instructions. Overlay of Fluorescein and VE-cadherin staining demonstrates reciprocal relations between VE-cadherin peripheral localization and increased local permeability of Fluorescein-streptavidin. Local permeability change induced by conditioned medium was visualized in cells grown on biotinylated gelatin plastic coverslips. The pattern of Fluorescein-streptavidin binding to the biotinylated gelatin underlying the cell monolayer was examined under Leica SP5-AOBS confocal laser microscope. Images were processed with ImageJ software.

#### 2.7. Extracellular flux analysis

Cell metabolism was assessed using a Seahorse XFp Extracellular Flux Analyzer (Agilent, UK). MIO-M1 cells were seeded at a density of  $3 \times 10^4$  per well and were treated with appropriate reagents. Real time measurements of oxygen consumption rate (OCR) were normalized to total protein content using a BCA assay. Pre-optimized injections of the reagents specific for each assay were used. Cell Mito Stress kit (103015-100, Agilent, UK) injections: oligomycin, FCCP and antimycin A/rotenone.

#### 2.8 Statistical Analysis.

Results from cell culture and animal models are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD from a minimum of three independent experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons, while unpaired Student's *t* test and Mann-Whitney test for two individual comparisons where indicated. Statistical analysis was performed using Prism 6.0 software (GraphPad). \**P* < 0.05; \*\**P* < 0.01; \*\*\*\**P* < 0.001; \*\*\*\**P* < 0.0001.

To determine whether HP can alter MIO-M1 cells responses in low-level oxygen environments, we initially established the hypoxic response profile of the MIO-M1 cell line through *in vitro* assays. Consistent with previous reports [69,169], MIO-M1 cells remain viable when cultured in a hypoxic (1% O<sub>2</sub>) environment, with increased protein expression of HIF-1 $\alpha$ , and gene expression and secretion of VEGF and ANGPTL-4 over the 48 hour time-period examined (Figure 1). Pretreatment of MIO-M1 cells with digoxin to block hypoxic induction of HIF-1 $\alpha$ , suppressed VEGF and ANGPTL-4 production (Figure 1).



**Fig. 1.** Hypoxia insult induces HIF-1-dependent up-regulation of VEGF and ANGPTL-4 in cultured MIO-M1 cells without reducing cell viability. (A). Prolonged 1% O<sub>2</sub> hypoxia (72 hours) did not alter the cell viability staining in MIO-M1 cells culture (n=4 per group). (B-F) Exposure of MIO-M1 cells to hypoxia (indicated time) resulted in an increase of HIF-1 $\alpha$  protein and a corresponding increase in VEGF and ANGPTL-4 mRNA and protein level, which can be inhibited by pretreatment with the HIF inhibitor, digoxin (100 nM; 2 hours before hypoxia, 48+D) (n=4 per group). Data represents means ± SD of relative values vs control from 3 independent experiments. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01; \*\*\*P<0.001; \*\*\*\*P<0.0001, statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons, while unpaired Student's t test and Mann-Whitney test for two individual comparisons.

To confirm a potential contribution of secreted factors elicited by hypoxia-treated MIO-M1 cells to angiogenesis and vascular leakage, HRMECs were treated with conditioned medium from the MIO-M1 cells exposed to hypoxia for 48 hours (Hypoxia-CM). Endothelial cell proliferation and permeability was determined by tube formation and Fluorescein-positive intercellular signal respectively. Hypoxia-CM increased HRMEC

tube length compared with normoxic conditioned medium (Normoxia-CM). Conditioned medium from hypoxic MIO-M1 cells pre-treated with digoxin resulted in reduced overall tube length, comparable to Normoxia-CM (Figure 2A-B). Furthermore, exposure of a monolayer of HRMECs to Hypoxia-CM from the MIO-M1 cells promoted endothelial cell permeability and was perturbed by addition of digoxin (Figure 2C-D). Collectively, these results support a HIF-1 $\alpha$ -mediated up-regulation and functional effect of pro-angiogenic factors secreted by MIO-M1 cells.



**Fig. 2.** Conditioned medium from hypoxic MIO-M1 cells promotes angiogenesis and vessel leakage. (A-B) Conditioned media from MIO-M1 cells exposed to  $1\% O_2$  hypoxia 48 hours (H) stimulated HRMECs tube formation compared to  $20\% O_2$  normoxic condition (N) (n=12 per group). The total length of tubes decreased by pretreatment with digoxin (H+D). Images was performed with Leica DMI6000 microscope (×5). Scale bar, 500 µm. (C-D) The area of Fluorescein-positive intercellular spots increased conditioned medium from hypoxic MIO-M1 cells and decreased by pretreatment with digoxin (n=3 per group). Scale bar, 200 µm. Data represents means ± SD of relative values vs control from 3 independent experiments. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01; \*\*\*P<0.001; \*\*\*\*P<0.0001, statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

Extending these observations further to determine a suitable hypoxic stimulus period for evaluating HP responses, we wished to confirm the early hypoxic response kinetics of HIF expression. MIO-M1 cells were similarly cultured in low O<sub>2</sub> conditions, mRNA and protein expression levels were quantified at several early time points, ranging from 1 to 6 hours. Expression of HIF, VEGF and ANGPTL-4 increased in a time-dependent response; elevated by 2.6 folds by 2 hours, and further increased by 3.9 folds by 4 hours, as compared to cells under normoxic conditions (Figure 3A-E). Based on the concept of HP (brief hypoxic exposure), we determined that the cellular response within the first 6 hours following hypoxic exposure elicit induced HIF & proangiogenic expression, but not to a detrimental level. On this basis, we examined the effect of 1, 2 & 4 hours HP exposure to assess the potential beneficial effect of HP.



**Fig. 3.** HIF-1 $\alpha$  protein accumulation and VEGF expression in cultured hypoxic MIO-M1 cells. (A) Exposure of MIO-M1 cells to 1% O<sub>2</sub> hypoxia (indicated time) induces HIF-1 $\alpha$  protein stability. (B-E) Hypoxic conditions lead to increase expression of VEGF and ANGPTL-4 mRNA and protein. All the samples were normalized to their  $\beta$ -actin expression (n=4 per group). Data represents means  $\pm$  SD of relative values vs control from 3 independent experiments. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01; \*\*\*P<0.001; \*\*\*\*P<0.0001, statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

### Hypoxic Preconditioning Suppresses Hypoxia Induced Expression of HIF-1α, Angiopoietin-Like 4 and VEGF in MIO-M1 cells

The HP protocol involves an initial short exposure of MIO-M1 cells to hypoxia (1, 2 or 4 hours), then a 24 hours reoxygenation period under standard normoxic conditions, before a return to the hypoxic environment for a further 48 hours (Supplementary 1).

We compared the effect of the HP duration on VEGF and ANGPTL-4 expression to MIO-M1 cells without return to normoxia. Following HP for 2 hours, the level of mRNA and secreted protein were both significantly reduced. HP for 1 hour and 4 hours did not alter expression (Figure 4A-D). To interrogate whether the protective effect of HP in MIO-M1 cells in hypoxia was mediated via altered expression/regulation of HIF- $1\alpha$ , we performed SDS-PAGE on cell lysates from HP and hypoxia alone samples. Consistent with our angiogenic markers expression, HP-2 hours resulted in the maximal attenuation of HIF- $1\alpha$  protein accumulation (Figure 4E).



**Fig. 4.** Hypoxic preconditioning suppresses prolonged hypoxia-induced VEGF and ANGPTL-4 in MIO-M1 cells culture. (A-E) The expression of VEGF and ANTPGL-4 as well as HIF-1 $\alpha$  protein remarkably increased with exposure of MIO-M1 cells to 1% O<sub>2</sub> Hypoxia 48 hours (H) in comparison with 20% O<sub>2</sub> normoxic conditions (N). Brief hypoxia exposure for 2 hours before prolonged hypoxia (HP+H) insult significantly reduced the expression of VEGF and ANGPTL-4. The induction of HIF-1 $\alpha$  was also significantly suppressed by brief HP for 2 hours (n=4 per group). Data represents means ± SD of relative values vs control (N) from 3 independent experiments. \*P<0.05; \*\*\*P<0.001; \*\*\*\*P<0.0001, statistical analysis was performed with oneway ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

# Hypoxic Preconditioning Suppresses Hypoxia Induced Angiogenesis and Vascular Permeability in MIO-M1 cells

The data demonstrates the potential beneficial effect of HP that suppresses HIF mediated upregulation of proangiogenic factors in response to hypoxia. Thus, we evaluated how altered cellular responses following HP may regulate endothelial cell responses. Monolayers of HRMECs were treated with Hypoxia-CM or conditioned medium from hypoxic preconditioning (Hypoxic preconditioning-CM) and tube

formation and vascular permeability assessed. Whilst Hypoxia-CM promoted endothelial cell proliferation, Hypoxic preconditioning-CM from MIO-M1 cells subjected to the HP-2 hours protocol demonstrate significantly reduced HRMEC tube length and junction formation by 35% and 64% respectively (Figure 5A-C). The HP-1 hour and HP-4 hours conditions failed to significantly reduce angiogenic potential. Similarly, assessment of vascular permeability corroborates the anti-angiogenic potential that HP confers to MIO-M1 cells. Conditioned medium from the MIO-M1 cells exposed at HP-2 hours demonstrate reduced by 44% endothelial cell permeability with decreased Fluorescein-positive intercellular signal across the HRMEC monolayer (Figure 5D-E). Whilst the extent of vascular leak was slightly reduced with conditioned medium from HP-1 hour and 4 hours, this was not statistically significant.



**Fig. 5.** Hypoxic preconditioning decreases HIF-1-dependent up-regulation of angiogenesis and vascular permeability. (A-C) Stimulation of HRMECs tube formation by conditioned media from MIO-M1 cells exposed to 1% O<sub>2</sub> hypoxia 48 hours (H) compare to 20% O<sub>2</sub> normoxic condition (N). Supernatant from HP-2 hours (HP-2hr) reduced both the total length and junction number of tubes compared to Hypoxic group (n=12 per group). Images was performed with Leica DMI6000 microscope (×5). Scale bar, 500  $\mu$ m. (D, E) HUVECs were plated on coverslips coated with biotinylated gelatin and grown to confluence.

then treated for 10 min with conditioned medium from cultured Müller cells. Fluorescein-avidin was added for 3 min, cells were fixed and subjected to immunofluorescence staining for VE-cadherin (red) to visualize cell-cell contacts. Green fluorescence depicts areas permeable for Fluorescein-labeled avidin. Conditioned medium from hypoxic MIO-M1 cells increase area of Fluorescein-positive intercellular spots and decreased by HP-2 hours (n=3 per group). Scale bar, 200  $\mu$ m. Data represents means  $\pm$  SD of relative values vs control from 3 independent experiments. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01; \*\*\*P<0.001; \*\*\*\*P<0.001; \*\*\*\*P<0.001; \*\*\*\*P<0.001; \*\*\*\*P<0.001; \*\*\*\*P<0.001; \*\*\*\*\*P<0.001; \*\*\*\*\*P<0.001; \*\*\*\*\*P<0.001; \*\*\*\*\*

# Hypoxic Preconditioning Suppresses Hypoxia-Induced MIO-M1 cells Activation through Regulation of Metabolic Signaling.

As a key transcription factor, HIF-1 $\alpha$  also upregulates genes involved in glycolytic energy metabolism and cell survival, including GLUT1 and several glycolytic enzymes [170]. Stabilization of HIF-1 $\alpha$  under normoxia impairs the TCA cycle and mitochondrial activity [171]. We therefore hypothesized that HP could protect mitochondrial function by modulating oxidative metabolism, and thus preventing the HIF-1 $\alpha$  mediated glycolysis as a rapid energy source.

To understand how HP may inhibit stabilization of HIF-1 $\alpha$ , we examined changes to the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathway that is known to regulate HIF [172]. Accordingly, we noted that mTOR and HIF are upregulated in response to hypoxia in MIO-M1 cells, and expression of both is diminished upon pretreatment with rapamycin (mTOR inhibitor) (Figure 6A). A similar reduction in mTOR and HIF expression is observed in cells subjected to the HP-2 hours protocol (Figure 6B).

To this end we explored how hypoxia vs HP influenced cellular metabolism. In response to prolonged hypoxia, MIO-M1 cells switch to aerobic glycolysis, shown by the increased expression of GLUT1, and decreased expression of SDHD (Figure 6C-D). Therefore, switch to aerobic glycolysis under hypoxia is associated with the upregulation of HIF-1 $\alpha$ . Interestingly, HP-2 hours prevents this switch to glycolysis as shown by reduced GLUT1 and increased SDHD expression.

Using the mitochondrial stress test confirmed that cells under hypoxia have reduced basal and maximal respiration, as shown with OCR results. This demonstrates that cells
have increased aerobic glycolysis compared to mitochondrial activity, which is consistent with the expression profile of metabolic genes GLUT1 and SHDH (Figure 6E). Interestingly, HP-2 hours partially protected cells' mitochondrial function, as cells after 2 hours HP measured significantly increased basal and maximal respiration, as well as spare respiratory capacity compared to cells not exposed to preconditioning/ under hypoxia (Figure 6F-H).



**Fig. 6.** Hypoxic preconditioning inhibits HIF-1 $\alpha$  activation by modulating mTOR and decreasing glycolysis in MIO-M1 cells. (A) Exposure of MIO-M1 cells to 1% O<sub>2</sub> hypoxia 24 hours (H-24hr), the increased expression of mTOR in accordance with HIF-1 $\alpha$  compare to normoxia (N) and both (Normoxia with Rapamycin: N+R; Hypoxia with Rapamycin: H+R) were inhibited through pretreatment with

rapamycin (100 nM) at protein level (n=3 per group). (B) HP-2 hours (HP-2hr) could inhibit the expression of HIF-1 $\alpha$  through suppressing mTOR expression, decreased glycolysis and improves mitochondrial function in comparison with hypoxic treatment (n=3 per group). (C, D) Exposure MIO-M1 cells to hypoxia increased gene expression of GLUT and SDHD compared to normoxic treatment. However, HP-2 hours partially reversed the expression in comparison with hypoxia (n=4 per group). (E) Representative mitochondrial stress test measured with sequential injections of oligomycin, FCCP and rotenone/antimycin A. (F) Spare-respiratory capacity was calculated as the difference between maximal and basal OCR. (G) Maximal respiration was calculated as difference between maximal OCR value post-injection of FCCP and non-mitochondrial OCR. (H) Basal respiration was calculated as the difference between first OCR measurement and non-mitochondrial OCR. Data represents means ± SD of relative values vs control from 3 independent experiments. P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01; \*\*\*P<0.001; \*\*\*\*P<0.0001, statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

Therefore, the mitochondrial stress showed the increased mitochondrial activity after hypoxic preconditioning, which supports the reduced glycolytic function observed by the reduced mRNA expression of key glycolytic enzyme GLUT1.

# Discussion

The protective role that HP offers to tissue, including the retina, has been previously highlighted [117]. Whilst the hypoxic response of MIO-M1 cells promotes vascular permeability through HIF-dependent upregulation of pro-angiogenic factors (e.g ANGPTL4) [69], the potential protective effects of HP have not previously been investigated in those cells. In the current study, we demonstrate that HP has a robust effect decreasing HIF-1 $\alpha$  stabilization in response to hypoxia. In turn, HIF-mediated transcription and secretion of pro-angiogenic factors are reduced. This protective mechanism is linked with a change in the MIO-M1 cells' metabolic status.

Consistent with previous reports [69,169], we have shown that conditioned medium from hypoxic MIO-M1 cells upregulates HIF-1a and promotes endothelial cell angiogenesis and vascular permeability in HUVEC cultures. Whilst the endothelial cells are from different origins it provides principal of an endothelial non-specificity as well as regulation of tight junctions in common between the two cell types. Furthermore, our data demonstrate a protective effect of HP in hypoxic MIO-M1 cells. The protective effect is consistent with other data showing that hypoxia-preconditioned cells delay apoptosis in response to subsequent hypoxia [173], hypoxia-preconditioned bone marrow stem cells promote nerve regeneration in cerebral ischemic rats [174], HP treated astrocytes are tolerant to severe hypoxia [167] and HP treated neurons were protected against the effects of subsequent oxygen and glucose deprivation [175]. In our experiments, we show that cells subjected to HP demonstrate improved tolerance to a subsequent severe hypoxic exposure. However, HP as a brief period of hypoxia to induce protection against subsequent severe insult is ill-defined. We assessed the timecourse of a cellular response under hypoxia (Figure 3B-E), and MIO-M1 cells start showing a response at 2 hours which exaggerates at 4 hours. The protective effect of HP on the permeability and angiogenesis assays was optimal for 2 hours, implying the importance of selecting the appropriate duration of HP.

It has been suggested that metabolic products, specifically fumarate and succinate, regulate the expression of hypoxia inducible genes including HIF-1 $\alpha$  in cancer pathology [176]. We therefore assessed metabolic pathways as a potential mechanism through which HP-2 hours exerts the protective anti-angiogenic effect. We found that transcriptional activity of HIF during hypoxia and HIF-1 $\alpha$  stabilization is dependent on

the activation of mTOR. Although the mechanism of how mTOR modulates HIF within cells remains elusive, our results confirm previous cancer studies that showed that mTOR activation potently enhances the activity of HIF-1 $\alpha$  and VEGF-A secretion during hypoxia, and this is reversed with rapamycin [172]. In our experiments, HP significantly perturbed mTOR expression suggesting that HP could provide a suitable strategy for the treatment of hypoxic retinopathy by suppressing mTOR-mediated pro-angiogenic factors through HIF-1 $\alpha$ .

Furthermore, Lu et al. demonstrated that the upregulation of end products of glycolytic metabolism under hypoxia in cancer – the well-known Warburg effect –promotes HIF-1 $\alpha$  protein stability and activation of HIF-1-inducible genes [170]. In our experiments, we found reduced oxidative metabolism of retinal MIO-M1 cells under hypoxia, which was partially prevented after HP, as shown by OCR results at the mitochondrial stress test (Figure 6E-H). Furthermore, gene expression of glycolytic proteins was reduced by HP, while SHDH expression was significantly increased, suggesting the usage of the TCA cycle. We observed a correlation of GLUT expression levels with HIF-1 $\alpha$  expression in MIO-M1 cells, with HP preventing the upregulation of GLUT, and subsequently of HIF-1 $\alpha$ . Overall, we demonstrate that HP regulates the cellular metabolism of MIO-M1 cells, stabilizing the cells, preventing the switch to aerobic glycolysis, and therefore preventing angiogenesis (Figure 6C-D). Although we propose a mechanism for the protective effect of HP on angiogenesis, future studies are required to investigate further how HP specifically influences all metabolic pathways and the HIF regulation.

The inhibition of HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-1 $\alpha$  - mediated genes expression has emerged as a major target for cancer treatment. Additionally, the beneficial effects of HP in reducing tissue damage from cerebral ischemia are also considered to involve HIF-1 $\alpha$ - mediated genes expression [177]. Our data on retinal MIO-M1 cells and *in vitro* angiogenesis models further demonstrated that treatments that regulate aerobic glycolysis may also target HIF-1 $\alpha$ , with HP representing a potential therapeutic strategy in hypoxic retinopathy. In conclusion, HP induced significant protection against hypoxic insults and suppressed HIF-1 $\alpha$  activation. Pretreatment of MIO-M1 cells with sublethal exposure to hypoxia inhibited the expression of proangiogenic factors reducing the

promotion of endothelial cell proliferation and leakage. These results further indicate the importance of HP in preventing hypoxic injury.

# **3.2 Restoring Retinal Neurovascular Health via Substance P**

Kepeng Ou<sup>a,b</sup>, Mertsch Sonja<sup>a,c</sup>, Sofia Theodoropoulou<sup>b</sup>, Jiahui Wu<sup>b</sup>, Jian Liu<sup>b</sup>, David A Copland<sup>b</sup>, Stefan Schrader<sup>a,c,#</sup>, Lei Liu<sup>b,#</sup>, Andrew D Dick<sup>b,d,#</sup>.

a Laboratory for Experimental Ophthalmology, University of Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany

b Academic Unit of Ophthalmology, Bristol Medical School, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK

c Department of Ophthalmology, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Oldenburg, Oldenburg, Germany

d National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Biomedical Research Centre at Moorfields Eye Hospital and University College London Institute of Ophthalmology, London, UK

#corresponding authors: Stefan Schrader, Lei Liu, Andrew D Dick.

# Abstract

Regulation of vascular permeability plays a major role in the pathophysiology of visually threatening conditions such as retinal vein occlusion and diabetic retinopathy. Principally, several factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), are up-regulated or induced in response to hypoxia thus adversely affecting the blood-retinal barrier (BRB), resulting in retinal edema and neovascularisation. Furthermore, current evidence supports a dysregulation of the inner retinal neural-vascular integrity as a critical factor driving retinal ganglion cell (RGC) death and visual loss. The principal objective of this study was to interrogate whether Substance P (SP), a constitutive neurotransmitter of amacrine and RGC, may protect against N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)-induced excitotoxic apoptosis of RGC and VEGF-induced vessel leakage in the retina. Tight junctional protein expression and a Vascular Permeability Image Assay were used to determine vascular integrity in vitro. The protective effect of SP on RGC was established in ex vivo retinal explants and in vivo murine models. After NMDA administration, a reduction in TUNEL+ cells and a maintained number of Brn-3a+ cells were found, indicating an inhibition of RGC apoptosis mediated by SP. Additionally, SP maintained endothelial

tight junctions and decreased VEGF-induced vascular permeability. In conclusion, administration of SP protects against NMDA apoptosis of RGC and VEGF-induced endothelial barrier breakdown.

# Key words

Substance P, retinal ganglion cell, vascular permeability, ZO-1

## Introduction

The retina is one of the most metabolically active tissues and its demand for oxygen is higher than many other tissues including the brain [178,179]. Optimal function of the retina is dependent on a continuous supply of oxygen from the circulation [180]. A number of retinal disorders are propagated as a result of loss of retinal vascular integrity and subsequent retinal cell apoptosis. For example, in conditions such as retinal artery or vein occlusions and diabetic retinopathy, ischemia causes an up-regulation hypoxiainducible factors such as HIF-1 alpha which elevate pro-angiogenic factors including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). As a result the blood-retinal barrier (BRB) is disrupted which leads to increased vascular permeability. With respect to the inner retinal barrier the resulting leakage of fluid into the inner retina is a critical response implicated in retinal ganglion cell (RGC) death and loss of vision [181]. RGC are integral to processing of visual information and thus critical for vision [182]. Due to RGCs and other central nervous system (CNS) neurons failure to regenerate after injury, the loss of RGCs observed in many retinal diseases further contribute to visual loss [183]. Chronic diseases such as glaucoma and diabetic retinopathy are associated with RGC death [156,184] and associated with persistent ischemia in glaucoma [185,186], either by mechanical compression of retinal blood vessels around the optic nerve head caused by increased intraocular pressure or by ineffective vascular autoregulation [187]. The implication is that additional therapeutic options should be considered addressing the retinal neurovascular unit [188]. Consequently, therapeutic strategies for enhancing RGC viability (neuroprotection) and preventing or reversing retinal neuronal dysfunction as well as vascular leakage remain a goal of basic and translational research.

Substance P (SP) is a neuropeptide secreted by neurons and is involved in many biological processes via specific receptors [189]. More than 10 neuropeptides are expressed in the inner nuclear layer and the RGC of the retina, of which SP is the most abundant [125,126,190]. SP modulates a diverse set of pathways, including those involved in vasodilatation, cell proliferation, apoptosis, and inflammation [191], as well as promoting the migration and differentiation of vascular endothelial cells [192]. Animal models have provided insights into the biology of this peptide, and compelling evidence highlights the importance of SP in cell-to-cell communication by either paracrine or endocrine signaling [189]. Moreover, higher levels of SP are observed in retina in response to acute stress [193]. A corollary observed is that SP is markedly

reduced in diabetes [149,194], supporting a notion that SP may be important for the retinal health and its loss contributes to disease progression.

Based on these functions, we hypothesized that SP is neuroprotective, attenuating retinal neural apoptosis and maintains inner retinal vascular integrity. In this study, the effect of SP was assessed by evaluating endothelial and ganglion cell viability, apoptosis, and vascular permeability *ex vivo*, as well as in an animal model *in vivo*.

#### Materials and methods

# Intravitreal administration of VEGF and N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)

All procedures were conducted under the regulation of the United Kingdom Home Office Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986, and were in compliance with the Association for Research in Vision and Ophthalmology (ARVO) statement for the use of animals in ophthalmic and vision research. The methods were carried out in accordance with the approved University of Bristol institutional guidelines and all experimental protocols under Home Office Project Licence 30/3045 and 30/3281 were approved by the University of Bristol Ethical Review Group.

In vivo retinal vascular permeability was assessed as previously described [195]. Eightweek-old C57BL/6 mice were purchased from Charles River. Briefly, adult mice were deeply anesthetized by intraperitoneal injection of Vetelar (ketamine hydrochloride 100 mg/mL, Pfizer, UK) and Rompun (xylazine hydrochloride 20 mg/mL, Bayer, UK) mixed with sterile water in the ratio 0.6:1:84, and the pupils of mice were dilated using topical 1% tropicamide (0.5% w/v, Bausch & Lomb, Aubenas, France), before induction of anesthesia. Mice received the following intravitreal injections (2  $\mu$ l) with a 33-gauge needle into one eye: VEGF (v7259, Sigma-Aldrich, in distilled water) (100 ng); SP (ab120170, Abcam, in distilled water) (20 nmol); VEGF plus SP together; 0.9% saline vehicle. 48 hours post the first injection mice received tail vein injections of Evans Blue (200  $\mu$ l, 2%). Mice were killed 10 minutes later and eyes were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 2 hours. Retinal flatmounts were mounted in antifading medium (Vector Laboratories, Inc., Burlingame, CA, UAS), and images were captured by Leica SP5-AOBS confocal laser microscope.

NMDA (M3262, Sigma-Aldrich, in distilled water) was used to induce excitotoxicity of RGC in the retina, under experimental conditions described above. Mice received the following intravitreal injections (2  $\mu$ l) with a 33-gauge needle into one eye: NMDA (10 nmol); SP (20 nmol); NMDA with SP together; 0.9% saline vehicle control. Mice were killed 24 hours following NMDA injection, and retinal flatmounts from eyes prepared. Eyes were fixed in 2% PFA for 2 hours for TUNEL labeling as well as immunofluorescence staining.

#### Retinal Explant Culture ex vivo model

Retinal explant culture was performed as per protocol [196], Han Wistar rat (20-oldday) with healthy, untreated eyes were killed by exposure to a rising concentration of carbon dioxide followed by cervical dislocation. The retina was dissected radially into four equal-sized pieces, and individual explants positioned onto 12-mm diameter filters (0.4  $\mu$ m pore, Millipore) with the RGC side facing up. The filters were placed into the wells of a 24-well plate, each of which contained 800  $\mu$ l of retinal explant media, consisting of neuronal growth medium (Neurobasal A) supplemented with 2% B27 (Invitrogen Ltd.), 1% N2 (Invitrogen Ltd.), L-glutamine (0.8 mM), penicillin (100 U/ml) and streptomycin (100  $\mu$ g/ml). Retinal explant cultures were maintained in humidified incubators at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Half of the media were changed on day 1 and every second day thereafter.

# Cell culture and viability

Mouse Primary Retinal Microvascular Endothelial cells (MRMECs, Generon, UK) were cultured in Complete Mouse Endothelial Cell Medium (Generon, UK). Cell viability was assessed using the MTT assay. A total of  $2 \times 10^4$  cells were seeded in each well of a 48-well plate and cultured for 48 hours to confluency. Following serum starvation for 24 hours, fresh medium supplemented with different concentrations of VEGF (25-200 ng/ml) or SP (1-80  $\mu$ M) were added for a further 24 hours. To assess cell viability, the MTT assay was performed according to manufacturer's instructions. In brief, 50  $\mu$ l of MTT solution (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK) was added to each culture well, and the plate was incubated for a further 2 hours at 37 °C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The MTT solution was replaced with HCl/ isopropyl alcohol to dissolve formazan, and the optical density (OD) of the wells was measured at 562 nm on a microplate reader and was calculated using linear regression analysis.

# In Vitro Vascular Permeability Assay

Permeability visualization experiments were performed using  $18 \times 18$  mm glass coverslips coated with biotinylated gelatin and placed in 35 mm culture dishes. MRMECs were seeded ( $4.5 \times 10^5$  cells/dish) and cultured for 72 hours to reach 100% confluency. Culture medium was changed to serum free medium supplemented with treatment (VEGF, SP or SP+VEGF) for a further 24 hours. To evaluate permeability of the MRMEC monolayer, Fluorescein conjugated streptavidin (25 µg/ml final concentration) was directly added to the culture medium for 5 mins, washed twice with

PBS, before cell fixation with 3.7% formaldehyde in PBS 10 mins, room temperature (RT). Overlay of Fluorescein and Zonula occludens-1 (ZO-1) staining demonstrates reciprocal relations between ZO-1 peripheral localization and increased local permeability of Fluorescein-streptavidin. The pattern of Fluorescein-streptavidin binding to the biotinylated gelatin underlying the cell monolayer was examined under Leica SP5-AOBS confocal laser microscope. Images were processed with ImageJ software. The percentage expression of fluorescein intensity was taken from areas with associated DAPI staining only, therefore excluding non-cellular area of fluorescence.

# Immunofluorescence staining

Rat retinal explants were fixed with 4% PFA and plus 4% sucrose and snap frozen in OCT (VWR Chemicals, UK). Cryosections were prepared, washed in PBS and permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100. Non-specific staining was blocked with 5% BSA in PBS for 30 min at RT followed by immunostaining with goat anti-mouse GFAP (Cell Signaling Technology, UK, 1:100), rabbit anti-mouse Brn-3a (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., UK, 1:50), goat anti-mouse Rhodopsin (Abcam, UK, 1:100) antibodies. The secondary antibodies Alexa Fluor 549-labeled donkey anti-goat IgG (Invitrogen, CA) and Alexa Fluor 488-labeled donkey anti-rabbit IgG (Invitrogen, CA), both with 1:200 dilution in 2% BSA in PBS at room temperature (RT) for 1 hour in the dark. Exclusion of the primary antibody acted as the negative control.

## **TUNEL** assay

The terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) assay was performed according to the instructions provided by the manufacturer (Roche; Indianapolis, IN). In brief, fixed retinal explant were washed in PBS, retinas were incubated in 0.1% Triton X-100 for 1 hour to permeabilize the cells, rinsed three times with PBS, before incubation with the TUNEL reaction mixture for 1 hour at 37 °C. Retina were mounted using anti-fading mounting medium (Vector Laboratories, Inc., Burlingame, CA), and apoptotic cells were observed using Leica SP5-AOBS confocal laser microscope. The number of TUNEL+ cells in retinal explant was counted in five random fields on each retinal explant (four per condition), and the average number of TUNEL+ cells per random field was determined for each condition tested. *In vivo* TUNEL staining was quantitatively analyzed by determining the intensities of TUNEL+ cells from dissected whole retina tissues (n=6 per group) using ImageJ.

## **Retinal flatmount**

The whole retina was carefully dissected from the eyecup, permeabilized with 0.2% Triton X-100 and non-specific binding blocked by 5% normal goat serum in PBS for 2 hours RT. The retinas were then incubated with the primary antibody (purified rabbit anti-Brn-3a (1:100)) for 24 hours at 4°C. Tissues were washed before incubation with secondary Cy3 conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (1:250) for 2 hours at RT. For TUNEL staining, retinas were incubated with the reaction mixture for 2 hours at 37°C, before being flat mounted onto microscope slides and covered with anti-fading mounting medium for confocal microscopy. The number of Brn-3a+ cell bodies was determined from four separate fields of view (the same distance from the optic nerve) per retinal flatmount and expressed as an average number of Brn-3a+ cells per field.

### **SDS-PAGE** analysis

Cultured MRMEC cells were washed twice with ice-cold PBS before lysis with icecold CelLytic™ MT Cell Lysis Reagent (Sigma-Aldrich, UK). Cell lysates were centrifuged at 14,000 g for 10 min at 4°C, the supernatant was transferred to fresh tubes and protein concentration of samples determined using a Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK). Equal amounts of protein were mixed with 4× SDS sample buffer, boiled for 10 mins at 90°C, and resolved using 4% to 20% NuPAGE gels (Invitrogen, UK). Proteins were transferred to PVDF membranes (Invitrogen, UK), blocked with 5% skimmed milk for 2 hours, and incubated overnight at 4°C with primary antibodies: Anti-ZO-1 (Merck, UK; 1:1000), anti-p38 MAPK (Cell Signaling Technology, UK; 1:1000), anti-p44/42 MAPK (Cell Signaling Technology, UK; 1: 1000) and β-actin (Cell Signaling Technology, UK; 1:1000). Excess antibody was removed by washing the membrane in PBS/ 0.1% Tween 20, and the membranes were incubated for 2 hours with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (Abcam, UK; 1:2000). Following further washes in PBS/ 0.1% Tween 20, the signals were developed with ECL reagent (Sigma, UK) and captured by an electronic imaging system (Konica Minolta). Restore<sup>™</sup> PLUS Western Blot Stripping Buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK) was used to re-blot the membranes. The density of protein was quantified using the ImageJ.

# Statistics

All experiments were repeated at least three times. Results are therefore presented as

means  $\pm$  standard deviation (S.D.). Comparisons of two individual experimental groups were performed by unpaired Student's t test and Mann-Whitney test. For multiple comparisons, nonparametric analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA test with Dunn's test. All the analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 6 (GraphPad Software, version 6.01, La Jolla, USA). Two-tailed tests were used throughout. The significant differences were considered at  $P \le 0.05$ .

# Results

# SP regulates ZO-1 expression in cultured MRMECs, through MAP-kinase inactivation.

Toward initial understanding of role of SP in regulation of vascular barriers we examined the effects of SP on the tight junction proteins in primary retinal microvascular endothelial cells (MRMECs). We assessed the response of MRMECs following exposure to VEGF, SP or a combination of VEGF and SP. At all concentrations tested, VEGF had no effect on cell viability, while we established that SP demonstrated toxicity at the high dose of 80 ( $\mu$ M) *in vitro* (Figure 1A-B), which we therefore omitted from further experiments. VEGF resulted in a dose-dependent reduction of ZO-1 in MRMECs as shown by western blot, whereas SP at non-toxic doses increased significantly ZO-1 expression in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 1C-D). Treatment of cultured MRMECs with VEGF led to a significant (52%) reduction of ZO-1 expression as compared to untreated control. Incubation of the cells with SP (20  $\mu$ M), applied 6 hours before VEGF treatment, showed an increase in ZO-1 expression by 43% compared to VEGF alone. (Figure 1E).

To understand the potential mechanism for the observed SP protective effect, we examined expression of MAP-kinase which is recognised to modulate the cellular expression of tight junction proteins in response to various stimuli [197]. In MRMECs, we showed that SP treatment significantly reduced the phosphorylated forms, p38-MAPK and p44/p42 MAPK. The data supported that treatment of MRMECs with SP led to down-regulation of activated MAPK isoforms, accompanied by increased expression of ZO-1, compared to VEGF alone (Figure 1F-G).



**Fig. 1.** Effects of Substance P on the expression of tight junction protein ZO-1 in MRMEC cells. (A, B) Cells were deprived of serum for 24 h and then incubated in the presence of SP or VEGF. MRMEC viability was determined in each group using the MTT assay. Data were normalized by control. (C, D) ZO-1 expression in MRMECs deprived of serum for 24 h, upon treatment with SP (0–40  $\mu$ M) or VEGF (0–200 ng/ml). (E) ZO-1 expression in MRMECs deprived of serum for 24 h and then incubated in the presence of SP (20  $\mu$ M), VEGF (100 ng/ml) or SP with VEGF (pre-incubated with SP for 6 h before addition of VEGF). (F, G) p44/p42 MAPK, p38 MAPK and ZO-1 expression in MRMECs treated with SP (20  $\mu$ M) or VEGF (100 ng/ml). Data represents means ± SD of relative values vs control from 3 independent experiments. \**P* < 0.05; \*\*\**P* < 0.001, statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

# SP inhibits VEGF-induced vascular permeability by preventing dissociation of endothelial ZO-1.

To determine how the SP-mediated increase in ZO-1 expression may influence the barrier function of MRMEC cells, we exploited an *in vitro* vascular permeability assay.

This approach permitted dual assessment of endothelial cell integrity (tight junction expression of ZO-1) and extent of vascular leakage (fluorescence intensity of fluorescent-positive intercellular signal) in response to SP and VEGF treatments.

When MRMEC cells monolayer were treated with VEGF (100 ng/ml, 24 hours), a 6fold increase in fluorescence intensity compared to control (untreated cells) was observed indicating increased permeability. SP partially protected against the increased permeability through preservation of the cell junction integrity demonstrated by attenuation of fluorescence intensity by 36% compared to VEGF alone (p<0.001) (Figure 2A-B). Furthermore, ZO-1 immunostaining confirmed the loss of tight junction (TJ) integrity following VEGF treatment, which was again attenuated by SP pretreatment (Figure 2A).



**Fig. 2.** Substance P inhibits VEGF-induced retinal vascular permeability *in vitro*. (A) Immunostaining of MRMECs for Fluorescein-streptavidin to detect permeable areas and for ZO-1 to show cell-cell contact; cells deprived of serum for 24 h and incubated in the presence of SP (20  $\mu$ M), VEGF (100 ng/ml) or SP with VEGF (pre-incubated with SP for 6 h before addition of VEGF) for 24 h (n = 4 per group). (B) Fluorescein intensity associated with DAPI expression was calculated by Image J in all treatment groups. Scale bar, 200  $\mu$ m. Data represents means ± SD of relative values vs control from 3 independent experiments. \**P* < 0.05; \*\**P* < 0.01; \*\*\**P* < 0.001, statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

To support the *in vitro* data, we investigated the protective effect of SP on VEGFinduced vessel leakage *in vivo*. Groups of C57BL/6J mice were treated with a single intravitreal injection of VEGF, SP, SP+VEGF or vehicle control. Vascular leakage was measured at 48 hours post-injection by extravasation of intravascular Evans Blue dye.

Flat-mount retinal preparations showed that intravitreal injection of VEGF induced a 70% increase in Evans blue extravasation as determined via fluorescent intensity compared to control. Intravitreal injection of SP together with VEGF suppressed the VEGF-induced leakage in retinal vessels by 47%. By contrast, only minimal vascular leakage was observed in animals receiving normal saline or SP alone (Figure 3A-B).

Deploying ZO-1 immunofluorescence staining, we assessed the spatial relationship between TJ protein expression and changes in paracellular vascular permeability. Classical staining of intact vasculature exposes the demarcated lateral membranes of retinal microvascular endothelial cells. Localization and integrity of junctional complexes were not altered following exposure to SP or saline alone. However, intravitreal injection of VEGF resulted in a dramatic loss of staining of the ZO-1 junctional protein network. Combined administration of SP with VEGF led to a significant increase in the expression of ZO-1 protein (Figure 3C). Collectively this data supports a protective effect of SP on retinal vascular integrity.





# SP protects retinal ganglion cell against apoptotic cell death induced by NMDA *ex vivo* retinal explants

Given the distribution of neurotransmitter SP expression in the inner retina, next we wished to determine whether SP conferred a homeostatic role and delivered a protective effect leading to preservation of retinal microarchitecture and other cell types, specifically retinal ganglion cells (RGC). *Ex vivo* retinal explants cultured for 2 weeks maintained the laminar structure of the retina, with no loss of cells from the outer and inner retinal layers (Figure 4A). Furthermore, immunostaining demonstrated major cell types were preserved after 2 weeks in culture. Brn-3a+ RGC axon bundles were observed in the retinal nerve fiber layer, but also GFAP+ astrocytes and Müller cells and Rhodopsin+ photoreceptors were retained (Figure 4B).

To evaluate the role of SP on RGC health, we employed the well-established NMDAinduced model of excitotoxic damage in retinal explants [25]. Quantification of TUNEL+ cells shows NMDA treatment results in a 10-fold increase in the number of apoptotic cells. Pre-treatment of the explant with SP for 6 hours prior to NMDA exposure significantly reduced the cytotoxic effects, as shown by a reduction in the number of TUNEL+ cells by 27% compared to NMDA alone, SP treatment alone did not lead to any apoptosis or retinal toxicity, with comparable number of TUNEL+ cells to control explants (Figure 4D and E). To confirm with an *in vivo* correlate we analyzed wholemounts obtained from eyes exposed to NMDA for 24 hours (10 nmol, intravitreal injection) where upon following incubation with NMDA for 24 hours RGC NMDA-induced excitotoxic damage of RGC cells undergoing apoptosis was noted. (Figure 4C).



**Fig. 4.** Substance P protects against apoptotic cell deathin the retinal explants induced by NMDA. Gross morphology and tissue viability of rat retinal explants, cultured in B27/N2 and maintained to Day 14. (A) Wholemount photographs. Scale bar, 2 mm. Sectioned explants, stained with DAPI to visualize nuclei, demonstrated good survival of cells in the ganglion cell layer (GCL), inner nuclear layer (INL), and outer nuclear layer (ONL). Scale bar, 200  $\mu$ m. (B) Immuno-staining of retinal sections from day 14 explant for different cell markers (Rhodopsin, Brn-3a, GFAP), counterstained with DAPI (blue). Scale bar, 200  $\mu$ m. (D, E) Representative images showing TUNEL-positive cells in rat explants exposed to NMDA (10  $\mu$ M), SP (20  $\mu$ M) or pretreated with SP 6 h before NMDA exposure (n = 6 per group). Scale bar, 100  $\mu$ m. Quantification of TUNEL positive cells expressed as percentage of control. (C) Representative images of retinal wholemount obtained from eyes exposed to NMDA for 24 h (10 nmol, intravitreal injection), showing TUNEL+ (red), Brn-3a+ (green), and cell nuclei stained with DAPI (blue). 3D image indicates NMDA specifically induced TUNEL+ in GCL. Scale bar, 50  $\mu$ m. Data represents means ± SD of relative values vs control from 3 independent experiments. \**P* < 0.05; \*\**P* < 0.01; \*\*\**P* < 0.001; \*\*\**P* < 0.0001, statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

#### SP protects ganglion cells from NMDA excitotoxicity in vivo

To validate the protective effect of SP in suppressing NMDA-induced RGC apoptosis, we assessed *in vivo* efficacy. In these experiments, intravitreal administration of NMDA (10 nmol) was used to induce neuronal excitotoxic damage in the eyes of mice.

A dose-response was undertaken previously to ascertain the optimal dosing of SP (10nmol to 40 nmol). We found that 20 nmol of SP demonstrated the optimal protective effect in NMDA-induced ganglion cell apoptosis model (Supplemental figure 1A-B). The extent of NMDA-induced RGC apoptosis was quantified by immuno-staining (TUNEL and Brn-3a positivity) of *ex vivo* retinal whole-mounts (Figure 5A-D). We observed a significantly higher fluorescence in the NMDA-injected eyes than PBS-injected contralateral eyes. Combined administration of SP and NMDA, resulted in a significant reduction (34%) in the fluorescence intensity of TUNEL+ cells in the retina as compared to NMDA alone. Of note, no significant differences were detected between the SP-injected experimental eyes and the respective control (Figure 5A, C).



**Supplementary Figure 1.** Optimizing the dose of Substance P with NMDA-induced ganglion cell apoptosis model (A) Representative images of retinal whole-mounts prepared for TUNEL assay, 24 hours following a single intravitreal injection of NMDA (10 nmol), different dose of SP (10 nmol, 20 nmol and 40 nmol) combined with NMDA (n=4 per group). (B) The fluorescence intensity of TUNEL+ was quantified by Image J, showing that SP (20 nmol) significantly decreases the intensity of apoptotic RGC induced by NMDA. \*P < 0.05, statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

The number of Brn-3a+ cells was also evaluated from the retinal flat mount, and showed that NMDA reduced decreased the number of Brn-3a+ cells to 45% of control. Conversely, after SP was injected along with NMDA injection in the mouse vitreous,

there was a statistically significant protective effect as larger number of Brn-3a+ cells remained (from 45% to 68% of control) (Figure 5B, D).



**Fig. 5.** Substance P protects neuronal cell death induced by NMDA in murine retina. Representative images of retinal whole-mounts prepared for TUNEL assay (A) and Brn-3a immunostaining (n = 6 per group). (B) 24 h following a single intravitreal injection of SP (20 nmol), NMDA (10 nmol), SP combined NMDA or vehicle control (n = 6 per group). (C) The fluorescence intensity of TUNEL+ was quantified by ImageJ, showing that SP decreases the intensity of apoptoticRGC induced by NMDA. (D) Brn-3a+ were counted by ImageJ, showing that SP protects against the loss of RGC. Data represents means  $\pm$  SD of relative values vs control from 3 independent experiments. \**P* < 0.05; \*\**P* < 0.01; \*\*\*\**P* < 0.0001, statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

# Discussion

In this study, we demonstrated a protective role of SP against NMDA-induced retinal ganglion cell death *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Furthermore, our results revealed that SP suppresses VEGF-induced increase in vascular permeability. These findings suggest that modulating SP levels can be a potential new avenue of treatments to preserve the neurovascular unit in retinal neurodegenerative and vascular diseases.

Regulation of vascular permeability plays a major role in the pathophysiology of neovascular diseases, with numerous VEGF-inhibitory strategies to reduce retinal vascular permeability [198]. The integrity of endothelial cell–cell junctions and vascular barrier function is regulated by a series of adhesion molecules that form three types of junctions, tight, gap and adherens [199–201]. Among the various protein components of tight junctions, ZO-1 is a phosphoprotein that participates in multiple protein–protein interactions and has been implicated in the regulation of tight junction integrity [202–204]. Furthermore, VEGF disrupts tight junctions by altering phosphorylation of ZO-1 and occludin through a Src-dependent pathway [205,206]. In our experiments, and in agreement with previous studies, we were also able to demonstrate the inhibitory effect of VEGF on the expression of tight junction protein ZO-1 in endothelial cells. However here, we demonstrated that VEGF and SP have opposite effects on the expression of ZO-1 in the MRMEC monolayers. SP increased ZO-1 expression, which supported our initial hypothesis that SP maintains the vascular integrity.

To further assess the mechanism of action of SP, we assessed vascular permeability both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. We observed that SP can attenuate VEGF-induced vascular leakage of microvascular retinal endothelial cell monolayer. These results suggest that SP improves barrier function to maintain homeostasis of retinal endothelial cells. Our results support other data demonstrating that SP up-regulates the tight-junction protein ZO-1 in various cell types, including epithelial cells [207], and also promotes wound healing and tissue integrity [133,208].

During pathological conditions, many components may interplay to determine either death or survival of RGCs [187], but there are many mechanisms for RGC death that are shared among different diseases [209]. Changes in electrical activity [210] and

growth factor deprivation [211] likely contribute to RGC death after optic nerve injury, while other mechanisms, such as excitotoxicity [212], ischemia and hypoxia [156], oxidative stress [213] and abnormal protein trafficking, induce RGC death. Xie's [126] results from studies in diabetic rats showed that the levels of SP in the retina and serum were significantly reduced, with an associated increase in apoptosis and caspase-3 activity in the retina. More importantly, restoration of endogenous SP paralleled the inhibition of the apoptosis of the RGC and the caspase-3 activity in the diabetic animals. This indicates its potential use in the development of therapeutic strategies to fight retinal disease.

Here we extend the known beneficial effect to show that SP exerts neuroprotective properties on RGC in NMDA-induced neuro-excitotoxicity apoptotic cell death both in vitro and in an animal model. For SP neuroprotective property we speculated that SP exerts its protective function mainly through MAPK signaling, as MAPK has been shown to regulate tight junction function. In other tissues, p38 MAPK is activated by tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  and interferon  $\gamma$ , leading to down-regulation of occludin, ZO-1 and claudin-2, which contributes to the increase in paracellular permeability [214]. In our experiments, we similarly found that both phosphorylated forms of MAPK (p38 and p44/42) were reduced upon SP treatment, alongside ZO-1 upregulation, supporting that SP inactivated MAPK to maintain vascular integrity. Furthermore, several cytokines such as IL-10 and IL-12 have been observed to mediate partially the effect of SP in several organs/tissues [215,216]. There appear to be opposing data on the role of SP on endothelial cells. For example, SP has been reported to regulate angiogenesis directly by inducing endothelial cells to produce nitric oxide [217], or indirectly via its interactions with mast cells and granulocytes [135], while VEGF blockade does not abolish the proangiogenic property of SP [218]. On the other side, in support of our findings, SP can reportedly prevent laser-induced retinal degeneration in vivo, by suppressing inflammation and reducing neovascularization [219]. These differences are likely attributable to different animal models studied, the type and kinetics of retinal insult, selective mechanisms potentially affecting only some subtypes of RGC or experimental methods that select some types of RGC for observation over others (e.g. central retina versus peripheral) [187]. Nevertheless, as we continue to decode the molecular mechanisms of SP, other important potential therapies may be incorporated

into a multifaceted approach. It will be important moving forward to transition as many of these are possible into well-structured clinical trials in humans.

In conclusion, we have shown that SP is neuroprotective, suppressing apoptosis of RGC induced by NMDA, and SP also protects against VEGF-induced microvascular leakage. Both effects demonstrate the significant role that the neuropeptide transmitter plays in maintaining neurovascular unit homeostasis.

# 3.3 Treatment of Diabetic Retinopathy through Neuropeptide Ymediated Enhancement of Neurovascular Microenvironment

Kepeng Ou<sup>a,b</sup>, David A Copland<sup>b</sup>, Sofia Theodoropoulou<sup>b</sup>, Sonja Mertsch<sup>a,c</sup>, Youjian Li<sup>b</sup>, Jian Liu<sup>b</sup>, Stefan Schrader<sup>a,c,#</sup>, Lei Liu<sup>b,#</sup>, Andrew D Dick<sup>b,d,#</sup>.

a Laboratory for Experimental Ophthalmology, University of Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany

b Academic Unit of Ophthalmology, Bristol Medical School, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK

c Department of Ophthalmology, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Oldenburg, Oldenburg, Germany

d National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Biomedical Research Centre at Moorfields Eye Hospital and University College London Institute of Ophthalmology, London, UK

#corresponding authors: Stefan Schrader, Lei Liu, Andrew D Dick.

# Abstract

Diabetic retinopathy (DR) is one of the most severe clinical manifestations of diabetes mellitus (DM) and a major cause of blindness. The progress of DR induces neuronal and glial activation resulting in disruption of the neurovascular unit and regulation of the microvasculature. The objective of this study was to determine a potential protective role of neuropeptide Y (NPY) using an established model of DR permissive to N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)-induced excitotoxic apoptosis of retinal ganglion cells (RGC) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) induced vascular leakage. *In vitro* evaluation using primary retinal endothelial cells demonstrates that NPY promotes vascular integrity, evidenced by maintained tight-junction protein expression and reduced permeability in response to VEGF treatment. Furthermore, *ex vivo* assessment of retinal tissue explants shows that NPY can protect RGC from excitotoxic induced apoptosis. *In vivo* clinical imaging and *ex vivo* tissue analysis in the diabetic model permitted assessment of NPY treatment in relation to neural and endothelial changes. The neuroprotective effects of NPY were confirmed by attenuating NMDA-induced RGC apoptosis and able to maintain inner retinal vascular integrity. These findings

could have important clinical implications and offer novel therapeutic approaches for the treatment in the early stages of DR.

# Key words

Diabetic retinopathy, NPY, vascular permeability, ZO-1, retinal ganglion cells, neurovascular unit

# Introduction

Diabetic Retinopathy (DR) is a major cause of visual loss in worldwide working-age adults [220]. This number of DR is predicted to rise along with the increasing incidence of diabetes mellitus (DM) [18]. Conventional clinical assessment and classification is based on classical microvascular features including: haemorrhage, lipid exudate, cotton wool spots and neovascularization; all observed predominantly in the inner retina [221]. However, preclinical studies also demonstrate that components of the neurovascular unit, including the inner and outer neurosensory retina are disrupted in diabetes [41,42]. Perturbed neuronal function reflected by impaired glutamatergic and dopaminergic neurotransmitter signaling [43]. In contrast to the enlargement of dendritic fields [44], the decreased expression of synaptic protein has been documented [45]. These changes ultimately leading to apoptosis of neurons alongside persistent uncontrolled diabetes [46]. Additional diabetic changes include altered Glial cell activation, demonstrated by impaired interconversion of glutamate and glutamine [47], reduced potassium channels [48], and subsequent markedly altered expression of the glutamate-aspartate transporter and intermediary filament proteins such as glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP). Diabetes also induces changes to retinal astrocytes, which located in the retinal nerve fibre layer and aligned with blood vessels provide contact with synapses [222], and where connexin expression is reduced in the early course of diabetes prior to astrocyte loss [52]. Collectively, diabetes causes components of the retinal neurovascular unit to "dis-integrate", and accordingly DR should be recognized as a neurovascular degeneration and not solely a microvascular disease [223,224]. Nevertheless, recognition that disruption of the neurovascular unit presents opportunities for new therapeutic strategies and/or molecular targets that may offer potential for treating in the early stages of disease.

Neuropeptide Y (NPY) is one of the most highly-expressed neuropeptides (under physiological conditions) within the central nervous system (CNS) of mammals [225]. NPY consists of 36 amino acid peptide and performs its biological function through G-protein-coupled receptors Y1 – 6 [226], expressed in the retina of several species including mice [227–230]. Studies demonstrate putative neuroprotective effects of NPY in different CNS regions [145], including inhibition of glutamate release in rat hippocampus and striatum [231]. Selective activation of NPY receptors has also been shown to protect mouse hippocampal cells from excitotoxic lesions [232], and NPY

receptor signalling suppresses glutamate-induced necrotic and apoptosis in retinal neural cells [146]. Although no direct evidence in retinal endothelium, NPY also can induce migration and proliferation of endothelial cells via its receptors, and regulate their function [233].

In light of the reported observations of NPY function, we examined whether administration of NPY would extend and offer protection of the neurovascular multicellular complex in the diabetic retina. Using *in vitro* platforms, we first assessed whether neuroprotective actions of NPY could reduce the sensitivity of retinal neurons to glutamate-induced excitotoxicity. Additionally, we evaluated the potential intracellular signalling pathways of NPY suppression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-induced vascular leakage in retinal endothelial cells. Finally, we established an *in vivo* model of DR, permissive to accelerated glutamate excitotoxicity and VEGF-induced vascular permeability to evaluate whether NPY is neuroprotective, attenuating retinal ganglion cell (RGC) apoptosis and able to maintain inner retinal vascular integrity.

#### Materials and methods

#### Cell culture and viability

Primary Retinal Microvascular Endothelial cells from mouse (MRMECs) or human (HRMECs) were cultured in Complete Mouse and Human Endothelial Cell Medium respectively (Generon, UK). Using MTT assay to assess cell viability.

# In Vitro Vascular Permeability Assay

Permeability visualization experiments were performed as previously described[234]. For assays, serum free culture medium supplemented with the treatment (combinations of NPY, N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), VEGF) was added for a further 24 hours. Then Fluorescein-streptavidin was directly added to the culture medium for 5 mins, washed twice with PBS before cell fixation with 3.7% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in room temperature (RT) subjected to immunofluorescence staining according to the manufacturer's instructions.

## **SDS-PAGE** analysis

The equal protein from cultured MRMECs cells determined by Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK), and boiled for 10 mins at 90°C with 4× SDS sample buffer. Then resolved using 4% to 20% NuPAGE gels (Invitrogen, UK). Proteins were transferred to PVDF membranes (Invitrogen, UK), blocked for 2 hours with 5% skimmed milk and incubated overnight at 4°C with the primary antibodies: Anti-ZO-1 (Merck, UK; 1: 1000) and  $\beta$ -actin (Cell Signaling Technology, UK; 1:1000). Then wash the membrane in PBS/ 0.1% Tween 20, subsequently incubated for 2 hours with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (Abcam, UK; 1:2000). Following further washes in PBS/ 0.1% Tween, protein signals were developed with ECL reagent (Sigma, UK) and captured by an electronic imaging system (Konica Minolta). Membranes were re-blotted by Restore<sup>TM</sup> PLUS Western Blot Stripping Buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK), and the density of protein was quantified using the ImageJ.

# Retinal Explant Culture ex vivo model

Retinal explant culture was performed as previously described [196,234]. Healthy Han Wistar rat's retina (20-old-day) was dissected into four equal-sized pieces, and the explants were separately transferred onto 12-mm diameter filters (0.4 µm pore,

Millipore) with the RGC side facing up. The filters were placed into the wells of a 24well plate, each contained 800  $\mu$ l of culture media. Retinal explant cultures were maintained in humidified incubators at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Half of the media was refreshed on day 1 and every second day thereafter.

# Immunofluorescence staining

Eyes from 6-month-diabetic mice and rat retinal explants were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) and snap frozen in OCT (VWR Chemicals, UK). For immunostaining, 8 µm cryosections were washed in PBS and blocked in 5% donkey serum, 3% BSA and 0.3% Triton X-100 in PBS for 30 min at RT followed by incubating with the following primary antibodies– mouse anti-GFAP (#3670, Cell Signaling Technology, UK, 1:200), mouse anti-Brn-3a (sc-8429, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., UK, 1:50), rabbit anti-Rhodopsin (ab3424, Abcam, UK, 1:100)– overnight at 4°C. The secondary antibodies Cy3 conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (Merck, UK) and Alexa Fluor 488-labeled donkey anti-rabbit IgG (Invitrogen, CA), both with 1:200 dilution in 2% BSA in PBS at room temperature (RT) for 1 hour in the dark. DAPI (Vector Laboratories, Peterborough, UK) was used to show nuclei in sections. Retinal flatmounts were mounted in antifading medium. Images were captured by Leica SP5-AOBS confocal laser microscope and processed with ImageJ software.

For retinal flatmount, the whole retina was permeabilized with 0.2% Triton X-100 and blocked in PBS with 5% NGS for 2 hours RT. The retinas were then incubated with the primary antibodies (anti-Brn-3a (1:50), anti-GFAP (1:200)) for 48 hours at 4°C. Tissues were washed before incubation with secondary Alexa Fluor 549-labeled donkey antimouse IgG (1:200, Invitrogen, CA) for 2 hours at RT. Then washed in PBS, flat mounted onto microscope slides and covered with anti-fading mounting medium (with DAPI) for confocal microscopy.

#### **Quantitative Real time RT-PCR**

Total RNA extraction was performed using TRIzolTM Reagent (Life Technologies, UK). Total RNA was quantified and used to synthesize cDNA. Using the Power SYBR® Green PCR Master Mix Reagent to amplify cDNA. Primer sequences used were:  $\beta$ -Actin, forward 5'-gggaaatcgtgcgtgacattaag, reverse 5'-tgtgttggcgtacaggtctttg; NPY, forward 5'-actccgctctgcgacactacat, reverse 5'-gcgttttctgtgctttccttca; VEGF,

forward 5'-ttactgctgtacctccacc, reverse 5'-acaggacggcttgaagatg; ANGPTL-4, forward 5'-ggacacggcctatagcctg, reverse 5'-ctcttggcgcagttcttgtc. The equation fold change =  $2-\Delta\Delta$ ct was used for calculation relative changes in expression levels.

# **TUNEL** assay

The terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) assay was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions (Roche; Indianapolis, IN). In brief, retinal explants were fixed with 4% PFA and washed in PBS, retinas were permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 for 1 hour, rinsed three times with PBS, before incubation with the TUNEL reaction mixture for 1 hour at 37 °C. Retinal explants were mounted using anti-fading mounting medium, and apoptotic cells were observed using Leica SP5-AOBS confocal laser microscope.

### Type 1 Diabetic mouse model

All procedures were conducted under the regulation of the United Kingdom Home Office Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986, and were in compliance with the Association for Research in Vision and Ophthalmology (ARVO) statement for the use of animals in ophthalmic and vision research.

Adult (6-8 weeks) C57BL/6 strains of male mice were obtained from Charles River Laboratories (Margate, UK). Type I diabetes was induced by 5 daily intraperitoneal injections with streptozotocin (STZ) (Sigma-Aldrich, UK) (40  $\mu$ g/g body weight in 0.1 M citrate buffer), a pharmacological agent that is toxic to pancreatic insulin secreting beta islet cells[235]. Control mice were injected with citrate buffer alone. Diabetes was confirmed by measuring urine glucose (14 days after the onset of diabetic induction, >300 mg/dl considered diabetic).

#### Intravitreal administration of NPY, VEGF and NMDA

*In vivo* retinal vascular permeability was assessed as previously described [236]. Briefly, the pupils of 3-month-old diabetic mice were dilated using topical 1% tropicamide before induction of anaesthesia. Mice received the following intravitreal injections (2  $\mu$ l) with a 33-gauge needle into one eye: VEGF (100 ng); NPY (10 nmol); VEGF with NPY combined; PBS vehicle. 48 hours post the first injection mice received tail vein injections of Evans Blue (200  $\mu$ l, 2%). Mice were killed 10 minutes later and eyes were

fixed with 4% PFA for 2 hours. Retinal flatmounts were mounted in antifading medium, and images captured by Leica SP5-AOBS confocal laser microscope and processed with ImageJ.

NMDA (Sigma-Aldrich) was used to induce excitotoxicity of RGC in the retina [234], under experimental conditions described above. A dose-response was undertaken previously to ascertain the optimal dosing of NPY (5 nmol to 20 nmol), then mice received the following intravitreal injections (2  $\mu$ l) with a 33-gauge needle into one eye: NMDA (10 nmol); NPY (10 nmol); NMDA with NPY together; PBS vehicle. Mice were killed in 2 days following NMDA injection, and eyes as well as optic nerves were isolated. Eyes were fixed in 2% PFA for 2 hours for immunofluorescence staining.

# Electroretinography (ERG) and Optical coherence tomography (OCT) measurements

*In vivo* imaging was performed in anaesthetized mice with the Micron IV retinal imaging system. Image-guided spectral domain OCT and focal electroretinogram (fERG) were used to investigate retinal structure and function. Responses to focal light stimuli (1mm diameter; spot size D) were recorded at luminance ranging from -0.9 to 3.9 log cd\*sec/m<sup>2</sup>. Data is displayed as the mean amplitude of the a-wave (indicates photoreceptor function) and b-wave (indicates bipolar cell function).

### **Statistics**

All experiments were repeated at least three times. Results are therefore presented as means  $\pm$  standard deviation (S.D.). Comparisons of two individual experimental groups were performed by unpaired Student's t test and Mann-Whitney test. For multiple comparisons, nonparametric analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA test with Dunn's test. All the analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 6 (GraphPad Software, version 6.01, La Jolla, USA). Two-tailed tests were used throughout. The significant differences were considered at  $P \le 0.05$ .

# Results

# Diabetes drives neurovascular dysfunction, including Müller cell activation and ganglion cells loss.

To understand how diabetes influences the neurovascular unit in the eye, we first confirmed what alterations to vasculature and neural retina occur in STZ-induced diabetic model. In vivo monitoring of STZ injected mice and controls permitted longtitudinal assessment of retinal function by ERG. There was a steady decline of ERG function in diabetic eyes from 6 weeks to 25 weeks, and by 6 months a significant suppression of the B wave, indicative of dysfunctional Müller and bipolar cells (Figure 1A&B). Ex vivo assessment of vascular integrity using retinal flatmount demonstrates leakage of Evans Blue dye is remarkably increased in the retina of diabetes (219.6±29%) compared to control retina (100.0±9.4%, P≤0.001; Figure 1C&D). The number of Brn3a+ cells, a specific marker of RGC was quantified on tissue sections and was significantly decreased by 43.6±12.8% of normal controls (Figure 1E&F). In the healthy retina, Müller cells do not express high levels of GFAP, a common marker of reactive gliosis [237], however in the diabetic retina an increase mean fluorescent intensity (MFI) of 76.7±17.1% of GFAP expression was observed (Figure 1G, H). Next, we assessed whole retinal tissues for altered expression of gene transcripts encoding NPY and vasoproliferative factors, VEGF and ANGPTL-4. In 6-month diabetic retinas there was significantly reduced NPY mRNA levels detected (Figure 1I), with corresponding increased expression of the pro-angiogenic VEGF and ANGPTL-4 (Figure 1J).



**Fig. 1.** Diabetic retinas exhibit neurovascular dysfunction. Representative images captured from retinal flatmounts and sections obtained from age-matched wild-type and 6-month-old diabetic mellitus (DM). (A&B) ERG recorded a- and b- waves in scotopic conditions show photoreceptor and inner retina electroretinogram data respectively. (C) Fluorescent images of retina demonstrated differences in vascular integrity (leakage of Evans blue dye, which appears as red). (D) The mean fluorescence intensity of Evans blue was quantified using ImageJ and shown to be significantly increased in the DM group. (E) Immuno-staining of tissue sections RGC marker Brn-3a (red) and DAPI (blue). (F) Quantification of Brn-3a+ expression as percentage of control. (G) Immuno-staining of retinal sections with retinal macroglial cell marker GFAP (red) counterstained with DAPI (blue). Arrows indicate activated Müller cells in diabetic mice. Scale bar, 100  $\mu$ m. (H) The mean fluorescence intensity of GFAP staining was quantified using Image J and shown to be significantly increased in the DM group. Retinal ganglion layer (RGC), inner nuclear layer (INL) and outer nuclear layer (ONL). (I&J) Gene expression in control and diabetic retina demonstrates significant reduction in NPY and increase of pro-angiogenic factors (VEGF and ANGPTL-4). \**P* < 0.05; \*\**P* < 0.01; \*\*\* *P* < 0.001; \*\*\*\* *P* < 0.0001, statistical analysis was performed with unpaired student's t-test.

#### NPY regulates the tight junctions of retinal endothelium through MAP-kinase.

The observed reduction in NPY gene expression in the diabetic retina correlates with an increase in vascular permeability and pro-angiogenic factors. We therefore wished to interrogate the potential role of NPY in maintenance and regulation of the retinal vascular barrier. Using an *in vitro* approach, we examined the effects of NPY in terms of maintaining the tight junctions in cultured MRMECs. First, we established the response profile of MRMECs following incubation for 24 hours with a range of VEGF and NPY doses (Figure 2A&B). VEGF had no effect on cell viability, and NPY was toxic only at the high dose of 40 µM. SDS-PAGE analysis of MRMEC cell lysates demonstrated that VEGF resulted in a dose-dependent reduction of ZO-1, whereas NPY increased significantly ZO-1 expression (Figure 2C&D). For subsequent in vitro assessment the following doses were used: VEGF 100ng/ml and NPY 10 µM. At these concentrations, MRMEC expression of ZO-1 following incubation with VEGF resulted in a significant (43%) reduction, whereas NPY increased expression by 40% compared to untreated controls. When cells were pre-treated with NPY, applied 6 hours before VEGF, there was a significant increase in ZO-1 expression (33% higher than VEGF alone) equivalent to expression of the control cells. (Figure 2E). To understand the potential mechanism for the protective effect of NPY, we next examined expression of MAP-kinase (MAPK), recognized to regulate the cellular expression of tight junction proteins[238]. Our results indicate that treatment of MRMECs with NPY increased expression of ZO-1, in contrast to down-regulate MAPK isoforms p38-MAPK and p44/p42 MAPK, compared to VEGF alone ( $P \le 0.05$ ; Figure 2F-G).

To demonstrate how NPY-mediated increase in expression of ZO-1 influenced the barrier function in MRMECs, we next exploited an *in vitro* vascular permeability assay. This approach permits dual assessment of tight junction expression and extent of monolayer leakage in response to NPY and VEGF treatment. When treat MRMEC cell monolayers with VEGF (100 ng/ml, 24 hours), a 7-fold increase in fluorescence area (fluorescent-positive intercellular signal) compared to control (untreated cells) was observed, indicating increased permeability. NPY attenuated permeability through preservation the integrity of cellular tight junction, demonstrated reduction of fluorescent area by 30% compared to VEGF alone (p<0.05) (p<0.05) (Figure 2H&I). In addition, ZO-1 immunostaining confirmed the breakdown integrity of tight junction following VEGF treatment, which was similarly partially prevented by NPY pretreatment (Figure 2H). To assess whether NPY modulation of murine endothelial cells
could be extended to human and thus bring a translational understanding of the role of NPY, experiments were also performed using HMRECs, and demonstrated similar protective effects and maintained ZO-1 expression (Supplementary 1A). To model microvascular disturbance observed in the hyperglycemic retina [239], we determined the angiogenic potential of HRMECs in response to NPY under high glucose (HG) conditions. Utilizing the *in vitro* tube formation assay, quantitative analysis showed that HRMEC tube length was significantly reduced with high glucose exposure (50 mM) compared with control group (5.5 mM glucose), while NPY co-treatment under high glucose conditions maintained the angiogenic capacity (p<0.05; Supplementary 1B& C).



**Fig. 2.** NPY regulates the tight junctions of retinal endothelium through MAPK. (A, B) MRMEC cell monolayers were serum starved for 24 hours, before incubation with complete medium supplemented

with NPY or VEGF for a further 24 hours. Cell viability was determined in each group using the MTT assay. Data were normalized by control. (C, D) SDS-PAGE analysis demonstrating altered ZO-1 expression in MRMEC cell lysates treated with NPY (0 – 20  $\mu$ M) or VEGF (0 – 200 ng/ml). (E) ZO-1 expression in MRMECs stimulated with NPY (10  $\mu$ M), VEGF (100 ng/ml) or NPY+VEGF (preincubated with NPY for 6 hours before addition of VEGF). (F, G) ZO-1, p44/p42 MAPK and p38 MAPK protein expression in MRMECs treated with NPY (10  $\mu$ M) or VEGF (100 ng/ml). (H) Immunostaining of MRMECs for Fluorescein-streptavidin to detect permeable areas and for ZO-1 to show cell-cell contact; cells deprived of serum for 24 hours and incubated in the presence of NPY (10  $\mu$ M), VEGF (100 ng/ml) or NPY+VEGF (pre-incubated with NPY for 6 hours before addition of VEGF) for 24 hours (n=4 per group). (I) Fluorescein intensity associated with DAPI expression was calculated by ImageJ in all treatment groups. Scale bar, 50  $\mu$ m. Data represents means ± SD of relative values vs control from 3 independent experiments. \**P* < 0.05; \*\**P* < 0.01; \*\*\* *P* < 0.001; statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.



**Supplementary 1.** (A) NPY stabilizes ZO-1 expression *in vitro* following VEGF-induced permeability. Representative pictures of confluent HRMEC cultures at 24 hours following treatment with NPY (10  $\mu$ M), VEGF (100 ng/ml) or NPY followed by VEGF 6 hours later stained for ZO-1 (green) and nuclei (DAPI). Scale bar 200  $\mu$ m. (B&C) Representative bright-field images showing HRMEC tube formation. Addition of HG (50 mM) alone inhibited tube formation, whereas the addition of NPY (10  $\mu$ M) in combination with HG only partially inhibits. Scale bar, 500  $\mu$ m. Data represents means ± SD of relative values vs control from 3 independent experiments. \**P* < 0.05; \*\*\* *P* < 0.001; statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

#### NPY inhibits VEGF-induced vascular permeability in diabetic mice

The *in vitro* data demonstrates that NPY can modulate VEGF-induced vascular changes, so we next investigated whether this protective effect on vascular integrity translated to an *in vivo* setting. Groups of 6-month aged diabetic mice were treated with a single intravitreal injection of VEGF (100 ng), NPY (10 nmol) or NPY+VEGF and clinically assessed at 48 hours post-injection. Clinical OCT assessment demonstrated that VEGF

or the combined VEGF+NPY treatments did not alter structural integrity as measured by retinal thickness (Figure 3A&B).

Vascular leakage was then assessed by extravasation of intravascular Evans Blue (EB) dye in the different treatments. Flatmount retinal preparations showed that intravitreal injection of VEGF results in a 4.8-fold increase in extravasation of EB as determined via MFI compared to control. Intravitreal injection of NPY together with VEGF decreased the leakage in retinal vessels by 36% compared to VEGF alone (Figure 3C&D). On the contrary, minimal vascular permeability of EB was observed in animals receiving vehicle (PBS control) or NPY alone injections (p<0.01).



**Fig. 3.** NPY inhibits VEGF-induced vascular permeability in diabetic mice. Groups of 3-month-old diabetic mice received intravitreal injections of NPY (10 nmol), VEGF (10 nmol), or NPY in combination with VEGF (n=6 per group). (A&B) At 24 hours post-injection, clinical OCT images were acquired, and retinal thickness quantified. (C) Representative *ex vivo* retinal flatmount images prepared 48 hours following treatment demonstrate differences in the vasculature (leakage of Evans blue dye, which appears as red). Scale bar=1 mm. (F) The fluorescent intensity of Evans blue was quantified by Image J. Data represents means  $\pm$  SD of relative values vs control from 3 independent experiments. \**P* < 0.05; \*\**P* < 0.01; \*\*\*\* *P* < 0.0001, statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

## NPY protects retinal ganglion cells against apoptotic cell death induced by NMDA *ex vivo* and *in vivo*.

As NPY receptors are expressed and distributed in the inner retina, and recognition that RGC are perturbed in diabetes [59], we then wished to determine whether NPY played a homeostatic role and exerted a protective effect to preserve RGC. To investigate this further, the NMDA-induced RGC excitotoxic model were employed in retinal explants [234].

Quantification of TUNEL+ cells indicates NMDA treatment leads to a 4.8-fold increase in the number of apoptotic cells. Using NPY (10  $\mu$ M) treated the explant for 6 hours prior to exposure to NMDA remarkedly decreased the cytotoxic effects, as presented by a significant reduction in the number of TUNEL+ cells by 38% as compared to NMDA alone (*p*<0.05; Figure 4A&B). NPY treatment result in comparable low numbers of TUNEL+ cells to control explants.

To further elucidate with an *in vivo* correlate, we analyzed flatmounts of diabetic eyes exposed to NMDA for 24 hours as a model of induced neuronal excitotoxic damage. A dose-response was tested prior to confirm the optimal dosing of NPY (5 nmol to 20 nmol), which showed that a 10 nmol NPY dose provided the optimal protective effect in perturbing NMDA-induced RGC apoptosis model (Supplementary Figure 2A&B). In diabetic eyes, administration of NMDA alone, reduced the overall total retinal thickness by 23% compared to disease controls. However, the combined administration of NPY and NMDA the extent of cell loss is significantly reduced by 16% compared to NMDA alone (p<0.05; Figure 4C&D). Similarly, ERG responses demonstrate that eyes receiving a combined NPY and NMDA injection have improved functional responses, with increased a- and b-waves, compared to NMDA alone, although these were not statistically significant (Figure 4E&F). Retinal wholemount assessment from diabetic eyes receiving NMDA show a 7.9-fold increase in the number of TUNEL+ cells (from 7.9-fold to 4.1-fold of control) (p<0.05; Figure 4 G&H).



**Fig. 4.** NPY protects RGC against apoptotic cell death induced by NMDA. (A&B) Representative images showing TUNEL+ cells in rat retinal explants exposed to NMDA (10  $\mu$ M), NPY (10  $\mu$ M) or pre-treated with NPY 6 hours before NMDA exposure, showing TUNEL+ (red) and cell nuclei (blue). Scale bar, 50  $\mu$ m. Quantification of TUNEL+ cells expressed as percentage of control. Groups of 3-month-old diabetic mice received intravitreal injections of NPY (10 nmol), NMDA (10 nmol), NPY in combination with NMDA (n=6 per group). (C) At 48 hours post-injection OCT images show intravitreal NMDA results in reduced retinal thickness and NPY partially protects. ONH = optic nerve head. Retinal ganglion layer (RGC), inner nuclear layer (INL) and outer nuclear layer (ONL) (E, F) ERG a- and b-wave responses represented by mean values of amplitudes in scotopic conditions. (G&H) Representative images of retinal whole-mounts prepared for TUNEL staining and Image J analysis of confocal images. Data represents means ± SD of relative values vs control from 3 independent experiments. \**P* < 0.05; \*\**P* < 0.01; \*\*\*\* *P* < 0.0001, statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.



**Supplementary 2.** (A) Representative images of retinal whole-mounts prepared for TUNEL assay, 24 hours following a single intravitreal injection of NMDA (10 nmol), different dose of NPY (5 nmol, 10 nmol and 20 nmol) combined with NMDA (n=4 per group). (B) TUNEL+ was quantified by ImageJ, showing that NPY (10 nmol) significantly decreases the intensity of apoptotic RGC induced by NMDA. Scale bar, 1mm. \*\*P < 0.01, statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

#### NPY restored neurovascular function in diabetic retinas in vivo

To determine whether the positive effects of NPY extended to offer long-term protection in the diabetic retina, NPY was administered via intravitreal injection at 3and 5-months post-induction of diabetes. Clinical assessment by OCT to measure retinal thickness and ERG to determine changes in retinal function were performed at regular intervals throughout the experimental time-course. We observed no difference of retinal thickness in the NPY-injected eyes compared to age-matched control eyes, whereas the total retinal thickness in DM groups was reduced by 15% compared to control group, with cell loss occurring predominantly in the inner plexiform layer (IPL) (Figure 5A-C). ERG assessment also demonstrates that NPY administration increased a- and b-wave amplitudes to levels equivalent to age-matched non-diabetic controls (p < 0.05; Figure 5D). These data support a notion that diabetic eyes injected with NPY had sustained neuronal cell function. To confirm whether the protective effect of NPY was evident in RGC and astrocytes, retinal flatmounts were prepared for ex vivo immunohistochemistry assessment. Quantification of Brn-3a+ RGC numbers in the diabetic retina show a 66% reduction in cell numbers compared to age-matched controls. By contrast, DM eyes treated with NPY demonstrate a significant increase in the number of Brn-3a+ cells (from 34% to 59% of control) (p<0.05; Figure 5E&F). Retinal glial coverage was evaluated by staining with GFAP, showing widespread loss of glial coverage in the retina of diabetes (Figure 5G). The relative glial coverage in the diabetic retina was significantly reduced by 55% compared to control retina. The diabetic eyes treated with NPY demonstrated a significant increase by 49% in glial cell coverage compared to untreated diabetic eyes (p < 0.05; Figure 5H). Vascular integrity assessment by extravasation of EB dye showed a 3-fold increase in the diabetic retina, and this was remarkably reduced in the NPY group. (p < 0.05; Figure 5I&J).



**Fig. 5.** NPY restores neurovascular function in diabetic retinas. Groups of diabetic mice received intravitreal injections (NPY; 10 nmol) at 3- and 5-months. (A-C) Representative fundal and OCT images captured at 6-months, showing no difference in retinal thickness between NPY-injected eyes and agematched control eyes. The total retinal thickness showed significant reduction in the diabetic retina, primarily in inner plexiform layer. (D) ERG a- and b-wave responses represented by mean values of amplitudes in scotopic conditions. (E&F) Representative confocal images of retinal flatmount and quantification of Brn-3a immunostaining, showing that NPY prevents the loss of RGC in diabetic mice. (G&H) Representative images and quantification of GFAP immunostaining, showing that NPY also protects against the loss of retinal astrocytes (I&J) Representative images 48 hours following treatment demonstrate differences in the vasculature (leakage of Evans blue dye, which appears as red). Scale bar=50  $\mu$ m. The fluorescent intensity of Evans blue was quantified by ImageJ. Data represents means  $\pm$  SD of relative values vs control from 3 independent experiments. \**P* < 0.05; \*\**P* < 0.01; \*\*\* *P* < 0.001; statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

#### Discussion

In this study, we demonstrate a protective role of NPY in the retina, preventing loss of RGC and vascular leakage in diabetic mice *in vivo*. These findings are supported by *in vitro* and *ex vivo* evidence of NPY mediated protection of MRMECs and RGC. The data supports how modulation of neurovascular unit may offer therapeutic opportunities to prevent progression of DR.

The pathogenesis of DR is highly complex and a multifactorial process. Hyperglycemia perturbs the metabolic and haemodynamic equilibrium, altering the molecular signature of multiple different cell types, principally retinal endothelial cells and pericytes. Diabetes elicits the formation of advanced glycation end-products and reactive intermediates of altered metabolism, increased oxidative stress, which ultimately drive progressive neural and vascular damage [30,240,241]. There is also reported data suggesting that DR results from changes to the neurovascular unit rather than isolated neuroglial or vascular alterations [242,243]. The in vivo clinical assessment detailing the changes in ERG response and OCT retinal thickness in the DM-mice supports previous reports which demonstrate a progressive neuronal injury at 6 weeks after diabetic induction [244]. Furthermore, besides vascular disruption we have shown there is significant neuronal impairment (reduced numbers of Brn-3a+ RGC and activation of GFAP+ retinal glial) at 6 months, which supports that dysfunction of retinal neurons occurs early following the onset of diabetes. Considering the current data together with previous reports, there is compelling evidence to support that DR is a consequence of neurovascular-unit disruption. Reduction of NPY expression (as we demonstrate in DM mice) may be associated with increased retinal neuron apoptosis and development of DR. This would suggest that that normal levels of NPY are critical to the homeostasis and maintenance of neurovascular unit.

Increased vascular permeability in diabetes is recognized as a complex process involving multiple signaling pathways, mediated principally by VEGF. This alters the integrity of endothelial tight junctions by altering phosphorylation of ZO-1 and occludin proteins [40,245]. Our results are consistent with previous work describing the disruptive effect of VEGF on endothelial cell integrity [206,246]. Moreover, we demonstrate that VEGF and NPY have opposite effects modulating the expression of ZO-1 *in vitro* using the MRMEC cell monolayers. Treatment with NPY increased

expression of ZO-1, accompanied by reduction of the phosphorylated MAPK isoforms, supporting our initial hypothesis that NPY maintains vascular integrity, and this is dependent on MAPK inhibition. In addition, NPY has been shown to inhibit nuclear translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B and activation of microglia challenged with IL-1 $\beta$  suggesting and a further mechanism to protect and regulate the endothelial barrier function [247–250].

Our previous studies using *in vitro* vascular permeability assay clearly demonstrate VEGF mediated increase in retinal endothelial cell monolayer permeability [234], and when the assay was deployed here, results show that NPY suppressed VEGF-induced monolayer leakage and permeability. In addition, NPY treatment enhances stability of ZO-1 proteins at cell-cell contacts in human retinal endothelial monolayer, coincident with leakage of fluorescence. Our data suggests the protective effect of NPY on the integrity of the retinal endothelial barrier is likely due to its ability to induce stabilization of tight junction complexes. Furthermore, and relevant to DR, our observations from the diabetic mice demonstrate the protective role of NPY against VEGF-induced microvascular permeability *in vivo*. The protective effects of NPY are similar to another neuropeptide, Substance P [207], which we previously demonstrated can maintain and support retinal vascular integrity.

Other recognised alterations in the diabetic retina include an increased frequency of apoptosis of RGC, demonstrated in experimental models of diabetes and human tissue samples from individuals with DM [59]. Similarly, we report that in the retinas of STZ-induced DM, there is a significant decrease of retinal thickness in DM compared with controls. Interestingly, segmentation analysis of retinal OCT images indicates cell loss occurs primarily in the retinal IPL, a layer comprising a dense reticulum of fibrils predominantly formed by interlaced dendrites of RGC. RGC death in DR by glutamate-related toxicity [251]. Glutamate is the primary excitatory neurotransmitter in the retina, utilized by RGC, photoreceptors and bipolar cells. However, when glutamate levels are elevated this is recognized to contribute to RGC death as in diabetes [251–256]. Expression of NPY in the mouse retina affords neuroprotective effects [146], confirmed by *in vitro* observations that rat retinal cells are protected from NMDA-induced excitotoxicity [257]. In the current study, we extend understanding of the beneficial effects and show that NPY can protect RGC against NMDA-induced apoptosis both *in* 

*vitro* (using the retinal explant model) and *in vivo* following NMDA administration in diabetic eyes. The intracellular mechanisms underlying the neuroprotective function of NPY, are likely linked to the inhibition of glutamate release, as reported in the CNS [231,258]. Previous studies using cultures of retinal neurons from rats demonstrate that NPY inhibits the increase in intracellular  $[Ca^{2+}]$  through activation of NPY receptors [146,259]. Different intracellular signaling pathways are also reported to facilitate NPY-mediated neuroprotection; the involvement of extracellular signal-related kinases 1/2 (ERK1/2) and Akt pathways are reported in animal model of Parkinson's disease [260], as well as PKA and p38K in retinal neural cells [146]. In terms of neuroprotection, we speculate that NPY similarly exerts a protective effect through MAPK signaling pathways, as MAPK has been shown to regulate tight junction function. Further work in this area will be required to confirm.

Taken together, these studies highlight the regulatory and homeostatic role of the neurovascular unit that is disrupted in DR. The current data supports that adjunctive NPY therapy sustains neuronal health and can attenuate at least in models the downstream effects of diabetic retinal vasculopathy, notably vascular leakage and neuronal death, as well as the loss of Glia cells.

# 4.1 Müller Cells Stabilize Microvasculature through Hypoxic Preconditioning

One of the initial aims of this thesis demonstrated that HP has a robust effect on HIF-1 $\alpha$  stabilization in response to hypoxia. I found that HIF-mediated transcription and pro-angiogenic factors are downregulated following exposure to HP. This protective mechanism is associated with the regulation of the retinal Müller cells' mitochondrial metabolism.

Diabetes leads to distinct retinal microvascular complications including vascular leakage and neovascularisation [261]. Numerous clinical and experimental observations have shown that retinal ischemia/ hypoxia, one of major factors driving retinal neovascularization, vessel leakage and macular oedema, leads to vision loss in DR [92,262]. Studies have shown that retinal Müller cell-derived VEGF contributes to a significant increase of neovascularization and vascular permeability under retinal ischemia/ hypoxia, suggesting that Müller glial cells play an essential role in maintaining retinal microvascular homeostasis [263–265]. In heathy conditions, Müller cells regulate the integrity of BRB, by balancing the secretion of pro- and antiangiogenic factors, such as VEGF [266], PEDF [267] and thrombospondin-1[268] etc.. In DR, the homeostasis of Müller cells is disrupted in retinal hypoxia, leading to increased secretion of pro-angiogenic factors, particularly VEGF, subsequently causing angiogenesis and vessel leakage [97,263,269].

VEGF is essential to the development of retinal vessels, whereas, overexpression of VEGF can disrupt integrity of BRB [270]. Recently, Sodhi et al., has identified that hypoxic retinal Müller cells induce vascular permeability despite inhibiting the expression of VEGF [69], suggesting that there are other HIF-dependent factors involved in retinal vascular disease [69]. ANGPTL-4 has been identified as a novel pro-angiogenic factor. Hypoxic Müller cell-derived ANGPTL-4 expression leads to vessel leakage and angiogenesis *in vitro* and *in vivo* models [271]. Consistent with previous studies, in this thesis it was shown that the protein level of HIF-1 $\alpha$  and the expression of pro-angiogenic factors (VEGF and ANGPTL-4) were significantly increased in hypoxic Müller cells. In support, it was found that up-regulation of VEGF and

ANGPTL-4 in conditioned medium from hypoxic Müller cells significantly promotes tube formation and permeability in HUVEC cultures. The corollary is the expression of VEGF and ANGPTL-4 was attenuated when applying digoxin to block HIF-1 $\alpha$  translation in hypoxic Müller cells.

In addition to pro-angiogenic factors, previous studies have shown that multiple hypoxia-induced cytokines and other growth factors contribute to retinal pathogenesis in DR [272,273]. These cytokines are activated during hypoxia through HIF-1. Therefore, HIF-1 is a key target to regulate hypoxic retinal microvascular disease. Through inhibiting HIF-1a and thereby modifying the downstream target genes expression, HIF-1a has emerged as a major target for cancer treatment [274]. However, a systemic knock out of the oxygen dependent regulated component HIF-1a is lethal [275]. Meanwhile, multiple studies have focused on developing specific therapeutic targets, such as proteins [276], small molecules [277] and RNAs [278] to inhibit HIF-1a locally in the tissue. Although, there are not any selective HIF-1a inhibitors currently approved for clinical use, future studies will need to develop a specific stabilize HIF-1a in hypoxic retinal disease.

Preconditioning which is the exposure of a tissue or an organism to sub- lethal stress conditions, has recently been demonstrated to be an effective strategy to attenuate neuro- and retinal degeneration in animal models [279]. This induces pro-survival pathways to provide protection against future injury. Additionally, the beneficial effects of HP in reducing tissue damage from cerebral ischemia are also considered to involve in HIF-1 $\alpha$ - mediated genes expression [177]. Therefore, the connection between preconditioning and HIF-1 $\alpha$  expression was analyzed in this thesis.

In the current study, for the first time, the potential protective effects of HP in retinal Müller cells was explored, and it was demonstrated that HP has a robust effect decreasing HIF-1 $\alpha$  stabilization in response to hypoxia. In turn, HIF-mediated transcription and secretion of pro-angiogenic factors was reduced. This leads to noted suppression of both vascular tube formation *in vitro* and vascular permeability with HP pretreated Hypoxic Müller cells' medium. The protective effect is consistent with other data, showing that HP can delay the apoptosis of cells in response to further hypoxic insults [173], the HP of bone marrow stem cells can stimulate nerve regeneration in

cerebral ischemia of rats [174] and HP pre-treated astrocytes are tolerant to severe hypoxia [167]. In these experiments, it has been shown that cells subjected to HP display an improved tolerance to a subsequent severe hypoxic exposure.

Thiersch et al. [280] have shown that photoreceptors of normoxic (21% O<sub>2</sub>) control mice undergo apoptosis when exposed to light. In contrast, retinal morphology and function of mice preconditioned by hypoxia (6% O<sub>2</sub>) for 6 hours were completely maintained when exposed to light after 4 hours of reoxygenation. When retinas of mice are exposed to oxygen concentration of 6 to 10%, it can protect retina from light induced degeneration completely, 14% oxygen showed an intermediate level of protection, while 18% oxygen did not display any protection. Thereby, the oxygen level of HP correlates with the level of retinal neuroprotection. Meanwhile, the current study has shown that the protective effect of HP lies within a narrow time window, through assessing the time-course of a cellular response under hypoxia. The protective effect of HP on the permeability and angiogenesis assays was optimal for 2 hours, implying the importance of selecting the appropriate duration of HP. Moreover, the potential protective factors derived from HP may be short-lived and rapidly degraded or inactivated during reoxygenation.

It has been demonstrated that metabolic products, specifically fumarate and succinate, regulate the expression of hypoxia inducible genes including HIF-1 $\alpha$  in cancer pathology [176,281]. The metabolic pathways have been assessed in this present study, as a potential mechanism through which HP- 2-hours exerts the protective antiangiogenic effect. Further it was shown that transcriptional activity of HIF and HIF-1 $\alpha$  stabilization is dependent on the activation of mTOR under hypoxia. These data confirm previous cancer study that showed that mTOR activation potently enhances the activity of HIF-1 $\alpha$  and VEGF-A secretion during hypoxia, and can be reversed with rapamycin [172]. HP significantly perturbed mTOR expression, suggesting that HP could provide a suitable strategy for the treatment of hypoxic retinopathy by suppressing mTOR-mediated pro-angiogenic factors through HIF-1 $\alpha$ .

Furthermore, Lu et al. demonstrated that the up-regulation of end products of glycolytic metabolism under hypoxia in cancer – the well-known Warburg effect –promotes HIF- $1\alpha$  protein stability and activation of HIF-1-inducible genes [170]. In this study, the

data also shows that reduced oxidative metabolism in hypoxic retinal Müller cells was partially prevented after HP, as supported by OCR results from the mitochondrial stress test. Furthermore, gene expression of glycolytic proteins was reduced by HP, while SDHD expression was significantly increased, suggesting deployment of the TCA cycle. The association of GLUT expression levels with HIF-1 $\alpha$  expression in Müller cells have been observed, with HP preventing the upregulation of GLUT, and subsequently of HIF-1 $\alpha$ . Overall, the results obtained demonstrate that HP regulates the cellular metabolism of Müller cells, stabilizes the cells, prevents the switch to aerobic glycolysis, and prevents angiogenesis. The data implies that HP may represent a clinically applicable approach to improve the microvascular environment in DR.

However, more recently, numerous studies have shown that the dysfunction of Glianeurons was disturbed prior to the pathogenic changes of microvessels in DR [62,282]. Therefore, it is arguably more important to maintain the integrity of neurovascular-unit in DR, rather than merely control vasculopathy.

### 4.2 Restoring retinal neurovascular health via SP and NPY

In the neuropeptides project of this thesis, results have shown a protective function of SP and NPY against NMDA-induced RGC death *in vitro* and *in vivo* models. Moreover, SP and NPY directly suppressed VEGF expression, which lead to the reduction of vascular permeability in experimental models. Furthermore, NPY prevented loss of RGC and Glia cells, as well as vessel leakage in diabetic mice *in vivo*.

The pathogenesis of DR is highly complex and a multifactorial process. Hyperglycemia perturbs the metabolic and haemodynamic equilibrium, altering the molecular signature of multiple different cell types, principally endothelial cells and pericytes in the retina [37,283]. Diabetes elicit the formation of AGEs, elevate reactive intermediates because of altered metabolism and increase oxidative stress, which ultimately drive progressive neural and vascular damage [30,240,241]. There is also reported data that DR results from changes to the neurovascular-unit rather than isolated neuroglial or vascular alterations [242,243]. The continual change in ERG and OCT data in STZ-mice supports previous reports, demonstrating the development of neuronal damage in mice after 6 weeks of diabetic induction [244]. Current studies have shown significant

neuronal impairment at 6 months, which further supports that the dysfunction of retinal neurons occurs in the early start of diabetes. Thereafter, the vascular impairment in the diabetic retina has been observed, which increases the vessel leakage, activation of Glia cells and eventually leads to the loss of RGC. Taking the data together, there is compelling support that DR is a consequence of neurovascular-unit disruption. Reduction of SP and NPY expression (as observed in diabetic mice) may be associated with the increased retinal neuron apoptosis and development of DR. Therefore, the assumption is that normal levels of SP and NPY are critical to maintenance of neurovascular-unit.

The progress of DR causes vascular permeability is complicated. The principal reason is that VEGF and other pro-angiogenic factors disrupt the integrity of endothelial cellcell junctions [40]. Among the various protein components of tight junctions, ZO-1 is a phosphoprotein that participates in multiple protein-protein interactions regulating tight junction integrity [245]. VEGF disrupts tight junctions by altering phosphorylation of ZO-1 and occludin through a Src-dependent pathway [246]. Accordingly with previous studies [206], our results are also able to demonstrate the inhibitory effect of VEGF on the expression of tight junction protein ZO-1 in retinal endothelial cells. Moreover, it has been demonstrated that VEGF and NPY have opposite effects on the expression of ZO-1 in the MRMEC monolayers. SP and NPY increased ZO-1 expression, which supported the initial hypothesis that SP and NPY maintains the vascular integrity and additionally that this is dependent on MAPK inhibition. These results are consistent with Aveleira CA et al. [247], who showed that PKC-MAPK-NF- $\kappa$ B pathway modulates the level of tight junction proteins, further to regulate the blood-barrier in various organs or cells. Furthermore, using a peptide or a chemical inhibitor to block protein kinase C zeta (PKCζ) resulted in reducing NF-κB activation, subsequently inhibiting the alterations in cell-cell tight junction [248].

Furthermore, several cytokines such as IL-10 and IL-12 have been observed to mediate partially the effect of SP in several organs/tissues [215,216]. There appears to be opposing data on the role of SP on endothelial cells. For example, SP has been reported to regulate angiogenesis directly by inducing endothelial cells to produce nitric oxide [217], or indirectly via its interactions with mast cells and granulocytes [135], while VEGF blockade does not abolish the proangiogenic property of SP [218]. On the other

side, in support of our findings, SP can reportedly prevent laser-induced retinal degeneration *in vivo*, by suppressing inflammation and reducing neovascularization [219]. These differences are likely attributable to different animal models studied, the type and kinetics of retinal insult.

In addition, studies have shown that using NPY inhibits nuclear translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B in microglia against IL-1 $\beta$ -induced nitric oxide release, and protects the endothelial barrier function [249,250]. Current work was consistent with previous studies that verified VEGF increases retinal endothelial cell monolayer permeability [234]. Notably, these results have also shown that SP and NPY blocked VEGF-induced monolayer leakage. Furthermore, NPY treatment also enhanced stability of ZO-1 proteins at cell-cell contacts in human retinal endothelial monolayer. These findings indicated that the protective effects of SP and NPY are likely due to their ability to induce stabilization of tight junction complexes at cell contact. In terms of relevance to DR, present study highlights a potential role of NPY to protect against VEGF-induced vessel leakage as demonstrated by *in vivo* findings in diabetic mice.

Whereas, although VEGF is identified as a crucial inducer of vascular permeability and neovascularization, ANGPTL-4 and other pro-angiogenic factors also contribute to the induction of angiogenesis and vessel leakage in diabetes. In term of clinical, controlling VEGF alone has limitations [69], additionally, some patients also have suboptimal response or develop resistance to anti-VEGF therapy [284]. Therefore, the protective regulation of SP and NPY in other pro-angiogenic factors still need to be explored.

Another very dramatic alteration of the retina in diabetes is the increased frequency of apoptosis of retinal cells, which has been demonstrated that in experimental diabetes of rats and DM [59]. In this study, it has shown the same phenomenon in the retinas of STZ-induced diabetic model, the cell number of diabetic retinas reduced a lot compared to control. There is evidence that glutamate-mediated toxicity is one of pathways resulting in the RGC death in DR [251]. It has been reported that glutamate level is elevated in the retina of experimental diabetes [254], especially increased significantly in the first 3 months of STZ-induced rat model [251]. It also confirmed the increase of glutamate is also associated with human diabetic patients [285]. Glutamate is considered to be the primary excitatory neurotransmitter in the retina, most of retinal

cells use glutamate to transmit signals, including RGC, photoreceptors and bipolar cells etc. [252]. Glutamate is also a well-known excitotoxin associated with a number of pathologic conditions, increased level of glutamate involved in neurodegeneration has been demonstrated [255,256,286]. Xie's results from studies in diabetic rats showed that the levels of SP in the retina and serum were significantly reduced, with an associated increase in apoptosis and caspase-3 activity in the retina [126]. More importantly, restoration of endogenous SP paralleled the inhibition of the apoptosis of the RGC and the caspase-3 activity in the diabetic animals. Studies have also shown that NPY exerts neuroprotective effect in the mouse retina [146]. Moreover, it has been shown that NPY protected rat retinal cells against NMDA-induced toxicity [257]. This indicates that the potential use of NPY in the development of therapeutic strategies to fight retinal disease. Here, this study extended the known beneficial effect to show that SP and NPY exerted neuroprotective properties on RGC in NMDA-induced neuroexcitotoxicity apoptotic cell death both *in vitro* and in an animal model, particularly in a diabetic animal model with NPY. Overall, current studies have shown that SP and NPY were neuroprotective, suppressing apoptosis of RGC induced by NMDA, and also protect against VEGF-induced microvascular leakage, further investigated in a diabetic model. Both effects demonstrate the significant role that the neuropeptide transmitter plays in maintaining neurovascular-unit homeostasis.

## **5.** Conclusion

In conclusion, HP induced significant protection against hypoxic insults through the suppression of HIF-1 $\alpha$  activation in the retina. Pretreatment of retinal Müller cells with sublethal exposure to hypoxia, inhibits the expression of proangiogenic factors, thereafter, reduces the promotion of endothelial cell proliferation and leakage. These results further indicate the importance of HP in stabilizing retinal Müller cells under hypoxic condition.

In addition, my results have shown that SP and NPY are neuroprotective by suppressing apoptosis of RGCs induced by NMDA, and protect against VEGF-induced microvascular leakage of the retina. Moreover, NPY attenuates the destruction of DR to retinal neurovascular-unit in diabetic mice.

Overall, these findings demonstrate that HP and neuropeptide (SP and NPY) exert significant protective role in maintaining neurovascular-unit homeostasis in DR, and can potentially provide the new therapeutic avenues for DR.

6. Future Work

### 6. Future Work

## 6.1 To interrogate the protective effect of preconditioned hypoxic Müller cells in RGC

Müller cells are the main macro-glia cells in the retina, play an essential role in retinal development via maintaining its microenvironment, structure and physiology. Studies have shown that Müller cells contribute to the integrity of the BRB [264], and support neurons and their functions in the retina [287,288]. In contrast, selectively ablation of Müller cell in the retina leads to breakdown of the BRB as well as neovascularization. It also induces retinal dysplasia and abnormal neurotransmitters recycle, further to neuronal cell apoptosis and retinal degeneration [289–291].

It has been shown that HP activates multiple pro-survival pathways and prevents neuronal degeneration in mouse and human [108,292]. Hypoxic and ischemic preconditioning strongly protects the retina against cell death [118]. Therefore, HP should be an excellent candidate for regulating retinal neuroprotection. Meanwhile, HIF-1 is associated with bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells cell survival after preconditioning [293], and HIF-1 controls the expression of genes involved in apoptosis [294]. Current results demonstrated that the level of HIF-1 is reduced in the hypoxic Müller cells after HP. Future studies are required to evaluate whether HP of retinal Müller cells has a protective effect in RGC, prevents the loss of RGC or maintains the normal function of the retina.

# 6.2 To investigate the potential mechanism of SP and NPY in maintaining the survival of RGC

In terms of the underlying mechanisms of the neuroprotective effect of SP and NPY against glutamate-induced RGC death, the protective function of NPY is considered to be associated with inhibition of glutamate release in the CNS, specifically the hippocampus [231,258]. Various intracellular signaling pathways are also reported to facilitate NPY-mediated neuroprotection. ERK1/2 and Akt pathways were involved in a disease model of Parkinson [260]. PKA and p38K pathways were participated in retinal neural cells [146]. Interestingly, it has been shown that SP-NK1R coupling translocates signals to MAPK via the activation of phospholipase C and adenylate

### 6. Future Work

cyclase, generating DAG/IP<sub>3</sub> and cAMP, respectively [295]. Subsequently, MAPK activates ERK1/2 to regulate the expression of cytokines by the serine/threonine protein kinase, mTOR and the transcription factors [296]. Therefore, future study speculates whether the protective effect of SP and NPY in preventing or attenuating the loss of RGC through the MAPK signaling pathway.

## 7. References

- F. Willermain, S. Libert, E. Motulsky, D. Salik, L. Caspers, J. Perret, C. Delporte, Origins and consequences of hyperosmolar stress in retinal pigmented epithelial cells., Front. Physiol. 5 (2014) 199. doi:10.3389/fphys.2014.00199.
- [2] A. Reichenbach, S.R. Robinson, Phylogenetic constraints on retinal organisation and development, Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 15 (1995) 139–171. doi:10.1016/1350-9462(95)00008-9.
- [3] E. Vecino, F.D. Rodriguez, N. Ruzafa, X. Pereiro, S.C. Sharma, Glia-neuron interactions in the mammalian retina, Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 51 (2016) 1–40. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2015.06.003.
- [4] An initiative of the World Health Organization and the International Diabetes Federation diabetes action now World Health Organization, n.d. https://www.who.int/diabetes/actionnow/en/DANbooklet.pdf.
- [5] GLOBAL REPORT ON DIABETES WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data Global report on diabetes, 2016. http://www.who.int/about/licensing/copyright\_form/index.html.
- [6] T. Bhurosy, R. Jeewon, Overweight and obesity epidemic in developing countries: a problem with diet, physical activity, or socioeconomic status?, ScientificWorldJournal. 2014 (2014) 964236. doi:10.1155/2014/964236.
- [7] Chapter 1. Introduction to Diabetes, n.d.
  https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1671/pdf/Bookshelf\_NBK1671.pdf.
- [8] L. Dean, J. Mcentyre, The Genetic Landscape of Diabetes, n.d.
  https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1667/pdf/Bookshelf NBK1667.pdf.
- [9] Diabetes Mellitus: Type 1 vs 2, Symptoms, Causes, & amp; Treatments, (n.d.). https://www.webmd.com/diabetes/guide/types-of-diabetes-mellitus#3.
- [10] Diabetic neuropathy Symptoms and causes Mayo Clinic, (n.d.). https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/diabeticneuropathy/symptoms-causes/syc-20371580.
- [11] Diabetic nephropathy myDr.com.au, (n.d.).https://www.mydr.com.au/diabetes/diabetic-nephropathy.
- [12] Facts About Diabetic Eye Disease | National Eye Institute, (n.d.). https://nei.nih.gov/health/diabetic/retinopathy.

- G.H. Bresnick, G. De Venecia, F.L. Myers, J.A. Harris, M.D. Davis, Retinal Ischemia in Diabetic Retinopathy, Arch. Ophthalmol. 93 (1975) 1300–1310. doi:10.1001/archopht.1975.01010020934002.
- [14] R. Chen, B. Ovbiagele, W. Feng, Diabetes and Stroke: Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, Pharmaceuticals and Outcomes., Am. J. Med. Sci. 351 (2016) 380–6. doi:10.1016/j.amjms.2016.01.011.
- [15] N.C. Dolan, K. Liu, M.H. Criqui, P. Greenland, J.M. Guralnik, C. Chan, J.R. Schneider, A.L. Mandapat, G. Martin, M.M. McDermott, Peripheral artery disease, diabetes, and reduced lower extremity functioning., Diabetes Care. 25 (2002) 113–20. doi:10.2337/diacare.25.1.113.
- [16] D.S. Fong, L. Aiello, T.W. Gardner, G.L. King, G. Blankenship, J.D.
  Cavallerano, F.L. Ferris, R. Klein, American Diabetes Association, Retinopathy in diabetes., Diabetes Care. 27 Suppl 1 (2004) S84-7. doi:10.2337/diacare.27.2007.s84.
- [17] L. Zhang, G. Krzentowski, A. Albert, P.J. Lefebvre, Risk of developing retinopathy in Diabetes Control and Complications Trial type 1 diabetic patients with good or poor metabolic control., Diabetes Care. 24 (2001) 1275– 9. doi:10.2337/diacare.24.7.1275.
- [18] R. Lee, T.Y. Wong, C. Sabanayagam, Epidemiology of diabetic retinopathy, diabetic macular edema and related vision loss, Eye Vis. 2 (2015) 17. doi:10.1186/S40662-015-0026-2.
- [19] J.W.Y. Yau, S.L. Rogers, R. Kawasaki, E.L. Lamoureux, J.W. Kowalski, T. Bek, S.-J. Chen, J.M. Dekker, A. Fletcher, J. Grauslund, S. Haffner, R.F. Hamman, M.K. Ikram, T. Kayama, B.E.K. Klein, R. Klein, S. Krishnaiah, K. Mayurasakorn, J.P. O'Hare, T.J. Orchard, M. Porta, M. Rema, M.S. Roy, T. Sharma, J. Shaw, H. Taylor, J.M. Tielsch, R. Varma, J.J. Wang, N. Wang, S. West, L. Xu, M. Yasuda, X. Zhang, P. Mitchell, T.Y. Wong, for the M.-A. for E.D. (META-E.S. Meta-Analysis for Eye Disease (META-EYE) Study Group, Global prevalence and major risk factors of diabetic retinopathy., Diabetes Care. 35 (2012) 556–64. doi:10.2337/dc11-1909.
- J. Amin, M. Sharif, M. Yasmin, A Review on Recent Developments for Detection of Diabetic Retinopathy., Scientifica (Cairo). 2016 (2016) 6838976. doi:10.1155/2016/6838976.

- [21] Diabetic Retinopathy for Medical Students. Classification, (n.d.). https://webeye.ophth.uiowa.edu/eyeforum/tutorials/diabetic-retinopathy-medstudents/Classification.htm.
- [22] R. Singh, K. Ramasamy, C. Abraham, V. Gupta, A. Gupta, Diabetic retinopathy: an update., Indian J. Ophthalmol. 56 (2008) 178–88.
- [23] B. Corcóstegui, S. Durán, M.O. González-Albarrán, C. Hernández, J.M. Ruiz-Moreno, J. Salvador, P. Udaondo, R. Simó, Update on Diagnosis and Treatment of Diabetic Retinopathy: A Consensus Guideline of the Working Group of Ocular Health (Spanish Society of Diabetes and Spanish Vitreous and Retina Society)., J. Ophthalmol. 2017 (2017) 8234186. doi:10.1155/2017/8234186.
- [24] A.A. Alghadyan, Diabetic retinopathy An update., Saudi J. Ophthalmol. Off.
  J. Saudi Ophthalmol. Soc. 25 (2011) 99–111. doi:10.1016/j.sjopt.2011.01.009.
- [25] E.J. Gray, T.W. Gardner, Retinal Failure in Diabetes: a Feature of Retinal Sensory Neuropathy, Curr. Diab. Rep. 15 (2015) 107. doi:10.1007/s11892-015-0683-5.
- [26] M. Lorenzi, The Polyol Pathway as a Mechanism for Diabetic Retinopathy: Attractive, Elusive, and Resilient, Exp. Diabetes Res. 2007 (2007) 1–10. doi:10.1155/2007/61038.
- [27] M. Prakash, J.K. Sun, G.L. King, The Role of Protein Kinase C in Diabetic Retinopathy, in: Diabet. Retin., Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, 2008: pp. 207– 216. doi:10.1007/978-1-59745-563-3\_8.
- [28] L.R. James, D. Tang, A. Ingram, H. Ly, K. Thai, L. Cai, J.W. Scholey, Flux Through the Hexosamine Pathway Is a Determinant of Nuclear Factor κB– Dependent Promoter Activation, Diabetes. 51 (2002) 1146–1156. doi:10.2337/DIABETES.51.4.1146.
- [29] R.A. Kowluru, P.-S. Chan, Oxidative stress and diabetic retinopathy., Exp. Diabetes Res. 2007 (2007) 43603. doi:10.1155/2007/43603.
- [30] V.P. Singh, A. Bali, N. Singh, A.S. Jaggi, Advanced glycation end products and diabetic complications., Korean J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 18 (2014) 1–14. doi:10.4196/kjpp.2014.18.1.1.
- [31] S.Z. Safi, R. Qvist, S. Kumar, K. Batumalaie, I.S. Bin Ismail, Molecular mechanisms of diabetic retinopathy, general preventive strategies, and novel

therapeutic targets., Biomed Res. Int. 2014 (2014) 801269. doi:10.1155/2014/801269.

- [32] R.L. Engerman, T.S. Kern, Hyperglycemia as a cause of diabetic retinopathy, Metabolism. 35 (1986) 20–23. doi:10.1016/0026-0495(86)90182-4.
- [33] P. Kappelgaard, S.K. Holfort, O.N. Klefter, M. Larsen, Retinal Vessel
  Diameter Changes in Relation to Dark Adaptation and Acute Hyperglycemia.,
  J. Ophthalmol. 2018 (2018) 7064359. doi:10.1155/2018/7064359.
- [34] T. Bek, Diameter Changes of Retinal Vessels in Diabetic Retinopathy, Curr. Diab. Rep. 17 (2017) 82. doi:10.1007/s11892-017-0909-9.
- [35] H.-P. Hammes, J. Lin, O. Renner, M. Shani, A. Lundqvist, C. Betsholtz, M. Brownlee, U. Deutsch, Pericytes and the pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy., Diabetes. 51 (2002) 3107–12. doi:10.2337/diabetes.51.10.3107.
- [36] S. Ejaz, Importance of pericytes and mechanisms of pericyte loss during diabetes retinopathy, Diabetes, Obes. Metab. 0 (2007) 071018044430008-??? doi:10.1111/j.1463-1326.2007.00795.x.
- [37] H.-P. Hammes, J. Lin, O. Renner, M. Shani, A. Lundqvist, C. Betsholtz, M.
  Brownlee, U. Deutsch, Pericytes and the Pathogenesis of Diabetic Retinopathy, Diabetes. 51 (2002) 3107–3112. doi:10.2337/DIABETES.51.10.3107.
- [38] J.J. Steinle, Retinal endothelial cell apoptosis., Apoptosis. 17 (2012) 1258–60.
  doi:10.1007/s10495-012-0777-3.
- [39] X. Fu, J.S. Gens, J.A. Glazier, S.A. Burns, T.J. Gast, Progression of Diabetic Capillary Occlusion: A Model., PLoS Comput. Biol. 12 (2016) e1004932. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1004932.
- [40] J.S. Penn, A. Madan, R.B. Caldwell, M. Bartoli, R.W. Caldwell, M.E. Hartnett, Vascular endothelial growth factor in eye disease., Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 27 (2008) 331–71. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2008.05.001.
- [41] B.T. Hawkins, T.P. Davis, The Blood-Brain Barrier/Neurovascular Unit in Health and Disease, Pharmacol. Rev. 57 (2005) 173–185. doi:10.1124/pr.57.2.4.
- [42] M.R. Metea, E.A. Newman, Signalling within the neurovascular unit in the mammalian retina, Exp. Physiol. 92 (2007) 635–640.
   doi:10.1113/expphysiol.2006.036376.
- [43] M.H. Aung, H. na Park, M.K. Han, T.S. Obertone, J. Abey, F. Aseem, P.M. Thule, P.M. Iuvone, M.T. Pardue, Dopamine Deficiency Contributes to Early

Visual Dysfunction in a Rodent Model of Type 1 Diabetes, J. Neurosci. 34 (2014) 726–736. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3483-13.2014.

- [44] M.J. Gastinger, A.R. Kunselman, E.E. Conboy, S.K. Bronson, A.J. Barber, Dendrite Remodeling and Other Abnormalities in the Retinal Ganglion Cells of Ins2 <sup>Akita</sup> Diabetic Mice, Investig. Opthalmology Vis. Sci. 49 (2008) 2635. doi:10.1167/iovs.07-0683.
- [45] T.S. D'Cruz, B.N. Weibley, S.R. Kimball, A.J. Barber, Post-Translational Processing of Synaptophysin in the Rat Retina Is Disrupted by Diabetes, PLoS One. 7 (2012) e44711. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0044711.
- [46] A.J. Barber, T.W. Gardner, S.F. Abcouwer, The Significance of Vascular and Neural Apoptosis to the Pathology of Diabetic Retinopathy, Investig.
   Opthalmology Vis. Sci. 52 (2011) 1156. doi:10.1167/iovs.10-6293.
- [47] E. Lieth, K.F. LaNoue, D.A. Antonetti, M. Ratz, Diabetes Reduces Glutamate Oxidation and Glutamine Synthesis in the Retina, Exp. Eye Res. 70 (2000) 723–730. doi:10.1006/exer.2000.0840.
- [48] T. Pannicke, I. Iandiev, A. Wurm, O. Uckermann, F. vom Hagen, A. Reichenbach, P. Wiedemann, H.-P. Hammes, A. Bringmann, Diabetes alters osmotic swelling characteristics and membrane conductance of glial cells in rat retina., Diabetes. 55 (2006) 633–9.
- [49] R. Simó, C. Hernández, Neurodegeneration in the diabetic eye: New insights and therapeutic perspectives, Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 25 (2014) 23–33. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2013.09.005.
- [50] E. Rungger-Brändle, A.A. Dosso, P.M. Leuenberger, Glial reactivity, an early feature of diabetic retinopathy., Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 41 (2000) 1971–80.
- [51] M. Mizutani, C. Gerhardinger, M. Lorenzi, Muller cell changes in human diabetic retinopathy, Diabetes. 47 (1998) 445–449. doi:10.2337/diabetes.47.3.445.
- [52] A.J. Barber, D.A. Antonetti, T.W. Gardner, Altered expression of retinal occludin and glial fibrillary acidic protein in experimental diabetes. The Penn State Retina Research Group., Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 41 (2000) 3561–8.
- [53] A. Ly, P. Yee, K.A. Vessey, J.A. Phipps, A.I. Jobling, E.L. Fletcher, Early Inner Retinal Astrocyte Dysfunction during Diabetes and Development of

#### 7. References

Hypoxia, Retinal Stress, and Neuronal Functional Loss, Investig. Opthalmology Vis. Sci. 52 (2011) 9316. doi:10.1167/iovs.11-7879.

- [54] G. Rathnasamy, W.S. Foulds, E.-A. Ling, C. Kaur, Retinal microglia A key player in healthy and diseased retina, Prog. Neurobiol. 173 (2019) 18–40. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2018.05.006.
- [55] M. Karlstetter, R. Scholz, M. Rutar, W.T. Wong, J.M. Provis, T. Langmann, Retinal microglia: Just bystander or target for therapy?, Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 45 (2015) 30–57. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2014.11.004.
- [56] H.P. Scholl, E. Zrenner, Electrophysiology in the investigation of acquired retinal disorders., Surv. Ophthalmol. 45 (n.d.) 29–47.
- [57] E. Lieth, T.W. Gardner, A.J. Barber, D.A. Antonetti, Penn State Retina Research Group, Retinal neurodegeneration: early pathology in diabetes., Clin.
   Experiment. Ophthalmol. 28 (2000) 3–8.
- [58] K. Kohzaki, A.J. Vingrys, B. V. Bui, Early Inner Retinal Dysfunction in Streptozotocin-Induced Diabetic Rats, Investig. Opthalmology Vis. Sci. 49 (2008) 3595. doi:10.1167/iovs.08-1679.
- [59] A.J. Barber, E. Lieth, S.A. Khin, D.A. Antonetti, A.G. Buchanan, T.W. Gardner, Neural apoptosis in the retina during experimental and human diabetes. Early onset and effect of insulin., J. Clin. Invest. 102 (1998) 783–791. doi:10.1172/JCI2425.
- [60] E. Agardh, A. Bruun, C.D. Agardh, Retinal glial cell immunoreactivity and neuronal cell changes in rats with STZ-induced diabetes., Curr. Eye Res. 23 (2001) 276–84.
- [61] A.J. Barber, A new view of diabetic retinopathy: a neurodegenerative disease of the eye, Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol. Psychiatry. 27 (2003) 283–290. doi:10.1016/S0278-5846(03)00023-X.
- [62] D.A. Antonetti, R. Klein, T.W. Gardner, Diabetic Retinopathy, N. Engl. J. Med. 366 (2012) 1227–1239. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1005073.
- [63] J.E. Ziello, I.S. Jovin, Y. Huang, Hypoxia-Inducible Factor (HIF)-1 regulatory pathway and its potential for therapeutic intervention in malignancy and ischemia., Yale J. Biol. Med. 80 (2007) 51–60.
- [64] P.J. Ratcliffe, J.F. O'Rourke, P.H. Maxwell, C.W. Pugh, Oxygen sensing, hypoxia-inducible factor-1 and the regulation of mammalian gene expression., J. Exp. Biol. 201 (1998) 1153–62.

- [65] P.H. Maxwell, Hypoxia-inducible factor as a physiological regulator, Exp. Physiol. 90 (2005) 791–797. doi:10.1113/expphysiol.2005.030924.
- [66] C.J. Schofield, P.J. Ratcliffe, Oxygen sensing by HIF hydroxylases, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 5 (2004) 343–354. doi:10.1038/nrm1366.
- [67] C.W. Pugh, J.F. O'Rourke, M. Nagao, J.M. Gleadle, P.J. Ratcliffe, Activation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1; definition of regulatory domains within the alpha subunit., J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 11205–14. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.17.11205.
- [68] G.L. Semenza, Hypoxia-inducible factors in physiology and medicine., Cell.148 (2012) 399–408. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.01.021.
- [69] X. Xin, M. Rodrigues, M. Umapathi, F. Kashiwabuchi, T. Ma, S. Babapoor-Farrokhran, S. Wang, J. Hu, I. Bhutto, D.S. Welsbie, E.J. Duh, J.T. Handa, C.G. Eberhart, G. Lutty, G.L. Semenza, S. Montaner, A. Sodhi, Hypoxic retinal Muller cells promote vascular permeability by HIF-1-dependent up-regulation of angiopoietin-like 4., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110 (2013) E3425-34. doi:10.1073/pnas.1217091110.
- [70] G.E. Lang, Diabetic Macular Edema, Ophthalmologica. 227 (2012) 21–29.
  doi:10.1159/000337156.
- [71] Y.A. Muller, H.W. Christinger, B.A. Keyt, A.M. de Vos, The crystal structure of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) refined to 1.93 A resolution: multiple copy flexibility and receptor binding., Structure. 5 (1997) 1325–38.
- [72] D.I.R. Holmes, I. Zachary, The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family: angiogenic factors in health and disease., Genome Biol. 6 (2005) 209. doi:10.1186/gb-2005-6-2-209.
- [73] M. Shibuya, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) and Its Receptor (VEGFR) Signaling in Angiogenesis: A Crucial Target for Anti- and Pro-Angiogenic Therapies., Genes Cancer. 2 (2011) 1097–105. doi:10.1177/1947601911423031.
- [74] G. Tremolada, C. Del Turco, R. Lattanzio, S. Maestroni, A. Maestroni, F. Bandello, G. Zerbini, The Role of Angiogenesis in the Development of Proliferative Diabetic Retinopathy: Impact of Intravitreal Anti-VEGF Treatment, Exp. Diabetes Res. 2012 (2012) 1–8. doi:10.1155/2012/728325.
- [75] M. Shibuya, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) and Its Receptor (VEGFR) Signaling in Angiogenesis: A Crucial Target for Anti- and Pro-

#### 7. References

Angiogenic Therapies., Genes Cancer. 2 (2011) 1097–105. doi:10.1177/1947601911423031.

- [76] J. Woolard, H.S. Bevan, S.J. Harper, D.O. Bates, Molecular diversity of VEGF-A as a regulator of its biological activity., Microcirculation. 16 (2009) 572–92. doi:10.1080/10739680902997333.
- [77] J.L. Yu, J.W. Rak, G. Klement, R.S. Kerbel, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Isoform Expression as a Determinant of Blood Vessel Patterning in Human Melanoma Xenografts, Cancer Res. 62 (2002) 1838–1846.
- [78] D. Shweiki, A. Itin, D. Soffer, E. Keshet, Vascular endothelial growth factor induced by hypoxia may mediate hypoxia-initiated angiogenesis, Nature. 359 (1992) 843–845. doi:10.1038/359843a0.
- [79] L.P. Aiello, R.L. Avery, P.G. Arrigg, B.A. Keyt, H.D. Jampel, S.T. Shah, L.R. Pasquale, H. Thieme, M.A. Iwamoto, J.E. Park, H. V. Nguyen, L.M. Aiello, N. Ferrara, G.L. King, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor in Ocular Fluid of Patients with Diabetic Retinopathy and Other Retinal Disorders, N. Engl. J. Med. 331 (1994) 1480–1487. doi:10.1056/NEJM199412013312203.
- [80] J.W. Miller, A.P. Adamis, D.T. Shima, P.A. D'Amore, R.S. Moulton, M.S. O'Reilly, J. Folkman, H.F. Dvorak, L.F. Brown, B. Berse, Vascular endothelial growth factor/vascular permeability factor is temporally and spatially correlated with ocular angiogenesis in a primate model., Am. J. Pathol. 145 (1994) 574–84.
- [81] A. Reichenbach, A. Bringmann, New functions of Müller cells, Glia. 61 (2013) 651–678. doi:10.1002/glia.22477.
- [82] E. Newman, A. Reichenbach, The Müller cell: a functional element of the retina., Trends Neurosci. 19 (1996) 307–12.
- [83] A. Bringmann, T. Pannicke, J. Grosche, M. Francke, P. Wiedemann, S.N. Skatchkov, N.N. Osborne, A. Reichenbach, Müller cells in the healthy and diseased retina, Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 25 (2006) 397–424. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2006.05.003.
- [84] A. Reichenbach, A. Bringmann, New functions of muller cells, Glia. 61 (2013)651–678. doi:10.1002/glia.22477.
- [85] A. Reichenbach, A. Bringmann, Müller Cells in the Healthy Retina, in: Müller Cells Heal. Dis. Retin., Springer New York, New York, NY, 2010: pp. 35–214. doi:10.1007/978-1-4419-1672-3\_2.

- [86] A. Bringmann, P. Wiedemann, Müller glial cells in retinal disease.,Ophthalmologica. 227 (2012) 1–19. doi:10.1159/000328979.
- [87] E. Lever, D. Sheer, Muller cell-derived VEGF is a significant contributor to retinal neovascularization, J. Pathol. 220 (2010) 114–125. doi:10.1002/path.
- [88] X. Li, J. Liu, J. Hoh, J. Liu, Müller cells in pathological retinal angiogenesis, Transl. Res. 207 (2019) 96–106. doi:10.1016/J.TRSL.2018.12.006.
- [89] J.W. Miller, A.P. Adamis, L.P. Aiello, Vascular endothelial growth factor in ocular neovascularization and proliferative diabetic retinopathy., Diabetes. Metab. Rev. 13 (1997) 37–50.
- [90] J. Stone, A. Itin, T. Alon, J. Pe'er, H. Gnessin, T. Chan-Ling, E. Keshet, Development of retinal vasculature is mediated by hypoxia-induced vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression by neuroglia., J. Neurosci. 15 (1995) 4738–47. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.15-07-04738.1995.
- [91] S.G. Robbins, J.R. Conaway, B.L. Ford, K.A. Roberto, J.S. Penn, Detection of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) protein in vascular and nonvascular cells of the normal and oxygen-injured rat retina., Growth Factors. 14 (1997) 229–41.
- [92] L.P. Aiello, J.M. Northrup, B.A. Keyt, H. Takagi, M.A. Iwamoto, Hypoxic regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor in retinal cells., Arch. Ophthalmol. (Chicago, Ill. 1960). 113 (1995) 1538–44.
- [93] H. Ida, T. Tobe, H. Nambu, M. Matsumura, M. Uyama, P.A. Campochiaro, RPE cells modulate subretinal neovascularization, but do not cause regression in mice with sustained expression of VEGF., Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 44 (2003) 5430–7.
- [94] Y.-Z. Le, VEGF production and signaling in Müller glia are critical to modulating vascular function and neuronal integrity in diabetic retinopathy and hypoxic retinal vascular diseases, Vision Res. 139 (2017) 108–114. doi:10.1016/j.visres.2017.05.005.
- Y. Ueki, J.D. Ash, M. Zhu, L. Zheng, Y.-Z. Le, Expression of Cre recombinase in retinal Müller cells, Vision Res. 49 (2009) 615–621. doi:10.1016/j.visres.2009.01.012.
- [96] J. Wang, X. Xu, M.H. Elliott, M. Zhu, Y.-Z. Le, Müller cell-derived VEGF is essential for diabetes-induced retinal inflammation and vascular leakage., Diabetes. 59 (2010) 2297–305. doi:10.2337/db09-1420.

- [97] J.-J. Wang, M. Zhu, Y.-Z. Le, Functions of Müller cell-derived vascular endothelial growth factor in diabetic retinopathy., World J. Diabetes. 6 (2015) 726–33. doi:10.4239/wjd.v6.i5.726.
- [98] R. Ran, H. Xu, A. Lu, M. Bernaudin, F.R. Sharp, Hypoxia Preconditioning in the Brain, Dev. Neurosci. 27 (2005) 87–92. doi:10.1159/000085979.
- [99] E.K. Iliodromitis, A. Lazou, D.T. Kremastinos, Ischemic preconditioning: protection against myocardial necrosis and apoptosis., Vasc. Health Risk Manag. 3 (2007) 629–37.
- [100] N.M. Rzechorzek, P. Connick, R. Patani, B.T. Selvaraj, S. Chandran, Hypothermic Preconditioning of Human Cortical Neurons Requires Proteostatic Priming., EBioMedicine. 2 (2015) 528–35. doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2015.04.004.
- [101] H.L. Rosenzweig, N.S. Lessov, D.C. Henshall, M. Minami, R.P. Simon, M.P. Stenzel-Poore, Endotoxin Preconditioning Prevents Cellular Inflammatory Response During Ischemic Neuroprotection in Mice, Stroke. 35 (2004) 2576– 2581. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000143450.04438.ae.
- [102] C. Liu, M. Peng, A.M. Laties, R. Wen, Preconditioning with bright light evokes a protective response against light damage in the rat retina., J. Neurosci. 18 (1998) 1337–44.
- [103] J. V Bonventre, Kidney ischemic preconditioning., Curr. Opin. Nephrol. Hypertens. 11 (2002) 43–8.
- [104] P.A. Clavien, S. Yadav, D. Sindram, R.C. Bentley, Protective effects of ischemic preconditioning for liver resection performed under inflow occlusion in humans., Ann. Surg. 232 (2000) 155–62. doi:10.1097/00000658-200008000-00001.
- [105] J. Fan, O. Alsarraf, C.J. Chou, P.W. Yates, N.C. Goodwin, D.S. Rice, C.E. Crosson, Ischemic preconditioning, retinal neuroprotection and histone deacetylase activities, Exp. Eye Res. 146 (2016) 269–275. doi:10.1016/j.exer.2016.03.026.
- [106] S. Luh, P. Yang, Organ preconditioning: the past, current status, and related lung studies., J. Zhejiang Univ. Sci. B. 7 (2006) 331–41. doi:10.1631/jzus.2006.B0331.

- [107] E. Rybnikova, M. Samoilov, Current insights into the molecular mechanisms of hypoxic pre- and postconditioning using hypobaric hypoxia, Front. Neurosci. 9 (2015) 388. doi:10.3389/fnins.2015.00388.
- [108] R.A. Stetler, R.K. Leak, Y. Gan, P. Li, F. Zhang, X. Hu, Z. Jing, J. Chen, M.J. Zigmond, Y. Gao, Preconditioning provides neuroprotection in models of CNS disease: Paradigms and clinical significance, Prog. Neurobiol. 114 (2014) 58– 83. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2013.11.005.
- [109] T. Kirino, Ischemic Tolerance, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 22 (2002) 1283– 1296. doi:10.1097/01.WCB.0000040942.89393.88.
- [110] K. Pong, Ischaemic preconditioning: therapeutic implications for stroke?, Expert Opin. Ther. Targets. 8 (2004) 125–139. doi:10.1517/14728222.8.2.125.
- [111] J. Neckár, F. Papousek, O. Nováková, B. Ost'ádal, F. Kolár, Cardioprotective effects of chronic hypoxia and ischaemic preconditioning are not additive., Basic Res. Cardiol. 97 (2002) 161–7.
- [112] R.M. Brucklacher, R.C. Vannucci, S.J. Vannucci, Hypoxic Preconditioning Increases Brain Glycogen and Delays Energy Depletion from Hypoxia-Ischemia in the Immature Rat, Dev. Neurosci. 24 (2002) 411–417. doi:10.1159/000069051.
- [113] M. Thiersch, C. Lange, S. Joly, S. Heynen, Y.Z. Le, M. Samardzija, C. Grimm, Retinal neuroprotection by hypoxic preconditioning is independent of hypoxiainducible factor-1 expression in photoreceptors, Eur. J. Neurosci. 29 (2009) 2291–2302.
- [114] A.M. Almohanna, S. Wray, Hypoxic conditioning in blood vessels and smooth muscle tissues: effects on function, mechanisms, and unknowns, Rev. Signal. Stress Response Am J Physiol Hear. Circ Physiol. 315 (2018) 756–770. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00725.2017.-Hypoxic.
- [115] S. Licy Stubbs, S. Tzu-Feng Hsiao, H. Mahendrabhai Peshavariya, S. Yong Lim, G. James Dusting, R. James Dilley, Hypoxic Preconditioning Enhances Survival of Human Adipose-Derived Stem Cells and Conditions Endothelial Cells In Vitro, (n.d.). doi:10.1089/scd.2011.0289.
- [116] M. Thiersch, Neuroprotection by hypoxic preconditioning : the role of HIFlï¿¿, (2009). doi:10.5167/uzh-23931.
- [117] C. Grimm, D.M. Hermann, A. Bogdanova, S. Hotop, Ü. Kilic, A. Wenzel, E. Kilic, M. Gassmann, Neuroprotection by hypoxic preconditioning: HIF-1 and

erythropoietin protect from retinal degeneration, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 16 (2005) 531–538. doi:10.1016/J.SEMCDB.2005.03.004.

- [118] D. Xing, X. Sun, J. Li, M. Cui, K. Tan-Allen, J.A. Bonanno, Hypoxia preconditioning protects corneal stromal cells against induced apoptosis., Exp. Eye Res. 82 (2006) 780–7. doi:10.1016/j.exer.2005.09.020.
- [119] J.P.H. Burbach, Neuropeptides from concept to online database www.neuropeptides.nl, Eur. J. Pharmacol. 626 (2010) 27–48. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2009.10.015.
- [120] T. Hökfelt, C. Broberger, Z.Q. Xu, V. Sergeyev, R. Ubink, M. Diez, Neuropeptides--an overview., Neuropharmacology. 39 (2000) 1337–56.
- [121] C. Sobrino Crespo, A. Perianes Cachero, L. Puebla Jiménez, V. Barrios, E. Arilla Ferreiro, Peptides and Food Intake, Front. Endocrinol. (Lausanne). 5 (2014) 58. doi:10.3389/fendo.2014.00058.
- [122] V. Kormos, B. Gaszner, Role of neuropeptides in anxiety, stress, and depression: From animals to humans, Neuropeptides. 47 (2013) 401–419. doi:10.1016/j.npep.2013.10.014.
- [123] Y. Wang, M. Wang, S. Yin, R. Jang, J. Wang, Z. Xue, T. Xu, NeuroPep: a comprehensive resource of neuropeptides., Database (Oxford). 2015 (2015) bav038. doi:10.1093/database/bav038.
- [124] A. Merighi, C. Salio, F. Ferrini, L. Lossi, Neuromodulatory function of neuropeptides in the normal CNS, J. Chem. Neuroanat. 42 (2011) 276–287. doi:10.1016/j.jchemneu.2011.02.001.
- [125] P. Bagnoli, M. Dal Monte, G. Casini, Expression of neuropeptides and their receptors in the developing retina of mammals., Histol. Histopathol. 18 (2003) 1219–42. doi:10.14670/HH-18.1219.
- [126] J.-H. Yang, Z. Guo, T. Zhang, X.X. Meng, L.-S. Xie, Restoration of endogenous substance P is associated with inhibition of apoptosis of retinal cells in diabetic rats, Regul. Pept. 187 (2013) 12–16. doi:10.1016/J.REGPEP.2013.09.001.
- [127] A. Santos-Carvalho, A.F. Ambrósio, C. Cavadas, Neuropeptide Y system in the retina: From localization to function, Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 47 (2015) 19–37. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2015.03.001.
- [128] S. Harrison, P. Geppetti, Substance p., Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 33 (2001) 555–76. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11378438.

- [129] P. Datar, S. Srivastava, E. Coutinho, G. Govil, Substance P: structure, function, and therapeutics., Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 4 (2004) 75–103. doi:10.2174/1568026043451636.
- [130] E.F. Grady, A.M. Garland, P.D. Gamp, M. Lovett, D.G. Payan, N.W. Bunnett, Delineation of the endocytic pathway of substance P and its seventransmembrane domain NK1 receptor., Mol. Biol. Cell. 6 (1995) 509–24.
- [131] G. Amadoro, M. Pieri, M.T. Ciotti, I. Carunchio, N. Canu, P. Calissano, C. Zona, C. Severini, Substance P provides neuroprotection in cerebellar granule cells through Akt and MAPK/Erk activation: Evidence for the involvement of the delayed rectifier potassium current, Neuropharmacology. 52 (2007) 1366–1377. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2007.01.020.
- [132] X.-Y. Chen, Y.-F. Du, L. Chen, Neuropeptides Exert Neuroprotective Effects in Alzheimer's Disease, Front. Mol. Neurosci. 11 (2019) 493. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2018.00493.
- [133] E.C. Leal, E. Carvalho, A. Tellechea, A. Kafanas, F. Tecilazich, C. Kearney, S. Kuchibhotla, M.E. Auster, E. Kokkotou, D.J. Mooney, F.W. LoGerfo, L. Pradhan-Nabzdyk, A. Veves, Substance P promotes wound healing in diabetes by modulating inflammation and macrophage phenotype., Am. J. Pathol. 185 (2015) 1638–48. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.02.011.
- [134] K.-T. Kim, H.-J. Kim, D.-C. Cho, J.-S. Bae, S.-W. Park, Substance P stimulates proliferation of spinal neural stem cells in spinal cord injury via the mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway, Spine J. 15 (2015) 2055– 2065. doi:10.1016/j.spinee.2015.04.032.
- [135] Y.B. Shaik-Dasthagirisaheb, G. Varvara, G. Murmura, A. Saggini, G. Potalivo, A. Caraffa, P. Antinolfi, S. Tetè, D. Tripodi, F. Conti, E. Cianchetti, E. Toniato, M. Rosati, P. Conti, L. Speranza, A. Pantalone, R. Saggini, T.C. Theoharides, F. Pandolfi, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF), Mast Cells and Inflammation, Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol. 26 (2013) 327–335. doi:10.1177/039463201302600206.
- [136] S. Suvas, Role of Substance P Neuropeptide in Inflammation, Wound Healing, and Tissue Homeostasis., J. Immunol. 199 (2017) 1543–1552. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1601751.

- [137] M. Decressac, R.A. Barker, Neuropeptide Y and its role in CNS disease and repair, Exp. Neurol. 238 (2012) 265–272. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2012.09.004.
- [138] M. (Marwan) Alfalah, M.C. Michel, Neuropeptide Y and related peptides, Springer, 2004.
- [139] C. Straznicky, J. Hiscock, Neuropeptide Y-like immunoreactivity in neurons of the human retina., Vision Res. 29 (1989) 1041–8.
- [140] G. Jotwani, K. Itoh, S. Wadhwa, Immunohistochemical localization of tyrosine hydroxylase, substance P, neuropeptide-Y and leucine-enkephalin in developing human retinal amacrine cells., Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res. 77 (1994) 285–9.
- [141] A.R. Álvaro, J. Rosmaninho-Salgado, A.R. Santiago, J. Martins, C. Aveleira, P.F. Santos, T. Pereira, D. Gouveia, A.L. Carvalho, E. Grouzmann, A.F. Ambrósio, C. Cavadas, NPY in rat retina is present in neurons, in endothelial cells and also in microglial and Müller cells, Neurochem. Int. 50 (2007) 757– 763. doi:10.1016/j.neuint.2007.01.010.
- [142] A. Santos-Carvalho, C.A. Aveleira, F. Elvas, A.F. Ambrósio, C. Cavadas, Neuropeptide Y Receptors Y 1 and Y 2 are Present in Neurons and Glial Cells in Rat Retinal Cells in Culture, Investig. Opthalmology Vis. Sci. 54 (2013) 429. doi:10.1167/iovs.12-10776.
- [143] C.M.J. Tan, P. Green, N. Tapoulal, A.J. Lewandowski, P. Leeson, N. Herring, The Role of Neuropeptide Y in Cardiovascular Health and Disease, Front. Physiol. 9 (2018) 1281. doi:10.3389/FPHYS.2018.01281.
- [144] M.C. Dvorakova, P. Kruzliak, S.W. Rabkin, Role of neuropeptides in cardiomyopathies, Peptides. 61 (2014) 1–6. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2014.08.004.
- [145] A.P. Silva, S. Xapelli, E. Grouzmann, C. Cavadas, The putative neuroprotective role of neuropeptide Y in the central nervous system., Curr. Drug Targets. CNS Neurol. Disord. 4 (2005) 331–47.
- [146] A. Santos-Carvalho, F. Elvas, A.R. Alvaro, A.F. Ambrósio, C. Cavadas, Neuropeptide Y receptors activation protects rat retinal neural cells against necrotic and apoptotic cell death induced by glutamate., Cell Death Dis. 4 (2013) e636. doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.160.

- [147] M. Schäffer, T. Beiter, H.D. Becker, T.K. Hunt, Neuropeptides, Arch. Surg. 133 (1998) 1107–1116. doi:10.1001/archsurg.133.10.1107.
- [148] J. Pernow, A. Öhlén, T. Hökfelt, O. Nilsson, J.M. Lundberg, Neuropeptide Y: presence in perivascular noradrenergic neurons and vasoconstrictor effects on skeletal muscle blood vessels in experimental animals and man, Regul. Pept. 19 (1987) 313–324. doi:10.1016/0167-0115(87)90173-X.
- T. Kunt, T. Forst, S. Schmidt, A. Pfützner, S. Schneider, O. Harzer, M. Löbig, M. Engelbach, K. Goitom, T. Pohlmann, J. Beyer, Serum levels of substance P are decreased in patients with type 1 diabetes, Exp. Clin. Endocrinol. Diabetes. 108 (2000) 164–167. doi:10.1055/s-2000-7738.
- [150] R.W. McCallum, R. Smiley, M.Sh. Ali, Mo1076 Decreased Level of Neuropeptide Y is Associated with the Pathogenesis of Gastroparesis in Male Diabetic Rats, Gastroenterology. 154 (2018) S-691. doi:10.1016/S0016-5085(18)32437-5.
- [151] J.H. Yang, Z. Guo, T. Zhang, X.X. Meng, L.S. Xie, Restoration of endogenous substance P is associated with inhibition of apoptosis of retinal cells in diabetic rats, Regul. Pept. 187 (2013) 12–16. doi:10.1016/j.regpep.2013.09.001.
- [152] A. Santos-Carvalho, A.R. Álvaro, J. Martins, A.F. Ambrósio, C. Cavadas, Emerging novel roles of neuropeptide Y in the retina: From neuromodulation to neuroprotection, Prog. Neurobiol. 112 (2014) 70–79. doi:10.1016/J.PNEUROBIO.2013.10.002.
- [153] S. Movafagh, J.P. Hobson, S. Spiegel, H.K. Kleinman, Z. Zukowska, Neuropeptide Y induces migration, proliferation, and tube formation of endothelial cells bimodally via Y1, Y2, and Y5 receptors, FASEB J. 20 (2006) 1924–1926. doi:10.1096/fj.05-4770fje.
- [154] A.C. Villablanca, C.J. Murphy, T.W. Reid, Growth-promoting effects of substance P on endothelial cells in vitro. Synergism with calcitonin generelated peptide, insulin, and plasma factors., Circ. Res. 75 (1994) 1113–20. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7525104.
- [155] D. Erlinge, J. Brunkwall, L. Edvinsson, Neuropeptide Y stimulates proliferation of human vascular smooth muscle cells: cooperation with noradrenaline and ATP., Regul. Pept. 50 (1994) 259–65. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8016410.

- [156] C. Kaur, W.S. Foulds, E.-A. Ling, Hypoxia-ischemia and retinal ganglion cell damage., Clin. Ophthalmol. 2 (2008) 879–89.
- [157] M.M. Nentwich, M.W. Ulbig, Diabetic retinopathy ocular complications of diabetes mellitus., World J. Diabetes. 6 (2015) 489–99.
   doi:10.4239/wjd.v6.i3.489.
- [158] T. Bek, Inner retinal ischaemia: current understanding and needs for further investigations, Acta Ophthalmol. 87 (2009) 362–367. doi:10.1111/j.1755-3768.2008.01429.x.
- [159] M. Bernaudin, A.-S. Nedelec, D. Divoux, E.T. MacKenzie, E. Petit, P. Schumann-Bard, Normobaric Hypoxia Induces Tolerance to Focal Permanent Cerebral Ischemia in Association with an Increased Expression of Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1 and its Target Genes, Erythropoietin and VEGF, in the Adult Mouse Brain, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 22 (2002) 393–403. doi:10.1097/00004647-200204000-00003.
- [160] G.L. Semenza, Hydroxylation of HIF-1: Oxygen Sensing at the Molecular Level, Physiology. 19 (2004) 176–182. doi:10.1152/physiol.00001.2004.
- [161] R.K. Bruick, S.L. McKnight, TRANSCRIPTION: Enhanced: Oxygen Sensing Gets a Second Wind, Science (80-.). 295 (2002) 807–808.
   doi:10.1126/science.1069825.
- [162] L. Cheng, H. Yu, N. Yan, K. Lai, M. Xiang, Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1α Target Genes Contribute to Retinal Neuroprotection., Front. Cell. Neurosci. 11 (2017) 20. doi:10.3389/fncel.2017.00020.
- [163] C. Grimm, G. Willmann, Hypoxia in the Eye: A Two-Sided Coin, High Alt. Med. Biol. 13 (2012) 169–175. doi:10.1089/ham.2012.1031.
- [164] G. Willmann, M.D. Fischer, A. Schatz, K. Schommer, F. Gekeler, Retinal Vessel Leakage at High Altitude, JAMA. 309 (2013) 2210. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.5550.
- [165] E.A. Newman, Acid efflux from retinal glial cells generated by sodium bicarbonate cotransport., J. Neurosci. 16 (1996) 159–68.
- [166] S. Babapoor-Farrokhran, K. Jee, B. Puchner, S.J. Hassan, X. Xin, M. Rodrigues, F. Kashiwabuchi, T. Ma, K. Hu, M. Deshpande, Y. Daoud, S. Solomon, A. Wenick, G.A. Lutty, G.L. Semenza, S. Montaner, A. Sodhi, Angiopoietin-like 4 is a potent angiogenic factor and a novel therapeutic target
for patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 112 (2015) E3030-9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1423765112.

- [167] M. Liu, N.J. Alkayed, Hypoxic Preconditioning and Tolerance via Hypoxia Inducible Factor (HIF) 1α-linked Induction of P 450 2C11 Epoxygenase in Astrocytes, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 25 (2005) 939–948. doi:10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600085.
- [168] B. Kast, C. Schori, C. Grimm, Hypoxic preconditioning protects photoreceptors against light damage independently of hypoxia inducible transcription factors in rods, Exp. Eye Res. 146 (2016) 60–71. doi:10.1016/j.exer.2015.12.008.
- [169] M. Rodrigues, X. Xin, K. Jee, S. Babapoor-Farrokhran, F. Kashiwabuchi, T. Ma, I. Bhutto, S.J. Hassan, Y. Daoud, D. Baranano, S. Solomon, G. Lutty, G.L. Semenza, S. Montaner, A. Sodhi, VEGF secreted by hypoxic M??ller cells induces MMP-2 expression and activity in endothelial cells to promote retinal neovascularization in proliferative diabetic retinopathy, Diabetes. 62 (2013) 3863–3873. doi:10.2337/db13-0014.
- [170] H. Lu, R.A. Forbes, A. Verma, Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 activation by aerobic glycolysis implicates the Warburg effect in carcinogenesis., J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 23111–5. doi:10.1074/jbc.M202487200.
- [171] M.A. Selak, S.M. Armour, E.D. MacKenzie, H. Boulahbel, D.G. Watson, K.D. Mansfield, Y. Pan, M.C. Simon, C.B. Thompson, E. Gottlieb, Succinate links TCA cycle dysfunction to oncogenesis by inhibiting HIF-α prolyl hydroxylase, Cancer Cell. 7 (2005) 77–85. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2004.11.022.
- [172] S.C. Land, A.R. Tee, Hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha is regulated by the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) via an mTOR signaling motif., J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 20534–43. doi:10.1074/jbc.M611782200.
- [173] O. Chen, M. Wu, L. Jiang, The Effect of Hypoxic Preconditioning on Induced Schwann Cells under Hypoxic Conditions, PLoS One. 10 (2015) e0141201. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0141201.
- [174] S. Roth, J.C. Dreixler, B. Mathew, I. Balyasnikova, J.R. Mann, V. Boddapati,
  L. Xue, M.S. Lesniak, Hypoxic-Preconditioned Bone Marrow Stem Cell
  Medium Significantly Improves Outcome After Retinal Ischemia in Rats.,
  Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 57 (2016) 3522–32. doi:10.1167/iovs.15-17381.

- [175] E. Pacary, H. Legros, S. Valable, P. Duchatelle, M. Lecocq, E. Petit, O. Nicole, M. Bernaudin, Synergistic effects of CoCl2 and ROCK inhibition on mesenchymal stem cell differentiation into neuron-like cells, J. Cell Sci. 119 (2006) 2667–2678. doi:10.1242/jcs.03004.
- [176] T. Laukka, C.J. Mariani, T. Ihantola, J.Z. Cao, J. Hokkanen, W.G. Kaelin, L.A. Godley, P. Koivunen, Fumarate and Succinate Regulate Expression of Hypoxia-inducible Genes via TET Enzymes., J. Biol. Chem. 291 (2016) 4256– 65. doi:10.1074/jbc.M115.688762.
- [177] F.R. Sharp, R. Ran, A. Lu, Y. Tang, K.I. Strauss, T. Glass, T. Ardizzone, M. Bernaudin, Hypoxic preconditioning protects against ischemic brain injury., NeuroRx. 1 (2004) 26–35. doi:10.1602/neurorx.1.1.26.
- [178] A. Ames, Energy requirements of CNS cells as related to their function and to their vulnerability to ischemia: a commentary based on studies on retina., Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 70 Suppl (1992) S158-64.
- [179] B. ANDERSON, H.A. SALTZMAN, RETINAL OXYGEN UTILIZATION MEASURED BY HYPERBARIC BLACKOUT., Arch. Ophthalmol. (Chicago, Ill. 1960). 72 (1964) 792–5.
- [180] C. Kaur, G. Rathnasamy, W.S. Foulds, E.-A. Ling, Cellular and Molecular Mechanisms of Retinal Ganglion Cell Death in Hypoxic-Ischemic Injuries, J. Neurol. Exp. Neurosci. (2015). doi:10.17756/jnen.2015-003.
- [181] R.J. Petrella, J. Blouin, B. Davies, M. Barbeau, Prevalence, Demographics, and Treatment Characteristics of Visual Impairment due to Diabetic Macular Edema in a Representative Canadian Cohort., J. Ophthalmol. 2012 (2012) 159167. doi:10.1155/2012/159167.
- [182] R. Nelson, Visual Responses of Ganglion Cells, University of Utah Health Sciences Center, 1995.
- [183] B. Laha, B.K. Stafford, A.D. Huberman, Regenerating optic pathways from the eye to the brain., Science. 356 (2017) 1031–1034. doi:10.1126/science.aal5060.
- [184] K. Rupp-Montpetit, M.L. Moody, Visual loss as a complication of nonophthalmologic surgery: a review of the literature., AANA J. 72 (2004) 285–92.
- [185] V.P. Costa, A. Harris, E. Stefánsson, J. Flammer, G.K. Krieglstein, N. Orzalesi, A. Heijl, J.-P. Renard, L.M. Serra, The effects of antiglaucoma and systemic medications on ocular blood flow., Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 22 (2003) 769–805.

- [186] G. Tezel, M.B. Wax, Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1α in the Glaucomatous Retina and OpticNerve Head, Arch. Ophthalmol. 122 (2004) 1348. doi:10.1001/archopht.122.9.1348.
- [187] R.G. Corredor, J.L. Goldberg, Retinal Ganglion Cell Life and Death Mechanisms and Implications for Ophthalmology, Eur. Ophthalmic Rev. 03 (2009) 109. doi:10.17925/EOR.2009.03.02.109.
- [188] E.J. Duh, J.K. Sun, A.W. Stitt, Diabetic retinopathy: current understanding, mechanisms, and treatment strategies., JCI Insight. 2 (2017). doi:10.1172/jci.insight.93751.
- [189] A. Mashaghi, A. Marmalidou, M. Tehrani, P.M. Grace, C. Pothoulakis, R.
  Dana, Neuropeptide substance P and the immune response., Cell. Mol. Life Sci.
  73 (2016) 4249–4264. doi:10.1007/s00018-016-2293-z.
- [190] P. Denis, J.P. Nordmann, P.P. Elena, M. Dussaillant, H. Saraux, P. Lapalus, Physiological roles of dopamine and neuropeptides in the retina., Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol. 7 (1993) 293–304.
- [191] A. D'Alessandro, D. Cervia, E. Catalani, F. Gevi, L. Zolla, G. Casini, Protective effects of the neuropeptides PACAP, substance P and the somatostatin analogue octreotide in retinal ischemia: a metabolomic analysis, Mol. Biosyst. 10 (2014) 1290. doi:10.1039/c3mb70362b.
- [192] M. Ziche, L. Morbidelli, M. Pacini, P. Geppetti, G. Alessandri, C.A. Maggi, Substance P stimulates neovascularization in vivo and proliferation of cultured endothelial cells., Microvasc. Res. 40 (1990) 264–78.
- [193] J. Yang, X. Meng, L. Xie, Z. Guo, Acute myocardial ischemia up-regulates substance P in the retina of rats, Neurosci. Lett. 443 (2008) 218–222. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2008.07.073.
- [194] J. Troger, S. Neyer, C. Heufler, H. Huemer, E. Schmid, U. Griesser, M. Kralinger, B. Kremser, I. Baldissera, G. Kieselbach, Substance P and vasoactive intestinal polypeptide in the streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat retina., Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 42 (2001) 1045–50.
- [195] J. Cai, L. Wu, X. Qi, L. Shaw, S. Li Calzi, S. Caballero, W.G. Jiang, S.A. Vinores, D. Antonetti, A. Ahmed, M.B. Grant, M.E. Boulton, Placenta Growth Factor-1 Exerts Time-Dependent Stabilization of Adherens Junctions Following VEGF-Induced Vascular Permeability, PLoS One. 6 (2011) e18076. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0018076.

## 7. References

- [196] T. V. Johnson, K.R. Martin, Development and Characterization of an Adult Retinal Explant Organotypic Tissue Culture System as an In Vitro Intraocular Stem Cell Transplantation Model, Investig. Opthalmology Vis. Sci. 49 (2008) 3503. doi:10.1167/iovs.07-1601.
- [197] M.J. Dörfel, O. Huber, Modulation of tight junction structure and function by kinases and phosphatases targeting occludin., J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2012 (2012) 807356. doi:10.1155/2012/807356.
- [198] P.A. Keane, S.R. Sadda, Development of Anti-VEGF Therapies for Intraocular Use: A Guide for Clinicians., J. Ophthalmol. 2012 (2012) 483034. doi:10.1155/2012/483034.
- [199] N. Rahimi, Defenders and Challengers of Endothelial Barrier Function., Front. Immunol. 8 (2017) 1847. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.01847.
- [200] M. Furuse, T. Hirase, M. Itoh, A. Nagafuchi, S. Yonemura, S. Tsukita, S. Tsukita, Occludin: a novel integral membrane protein localizing at tight junctions., J. Cell Biol. 123 (1993) 1777–88.
- [201] M. Takeichi, The cadherins: cell-cell adhesion molecules controlling animal morphogenesis., Development. 102 (1988) 639–55.
- [202] M. Itoh, A. Nagafuchi, S. Yonemura, T. Kitani-Yasuda, S. Tsukita, S. Tsukita, The 220-kD protein colocalizing with cadherins in non-epithelial cells is identical to ZO-1, a tight junction-associated protein in epithelial cells: cDNA cloning and immunoelectron microscopy., J. Cell Biol. 121 (1993) 491–502.
- [203] E. Willott, M.S. Balda, A.S. Fanning, B. Jameson, C. Van Itallie, J.M. Anderson, The tight junction protein ZO-1 is homologous to the Drosophila discs-large tumor suppressor protein of septate junctions., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 90 (1993) 7834–8.
- [204] M. Itoh, M. Furuse, K. Morita, K. Kubota, M. Saitou, S. Tsukita, Direct binding of three tight junction-associated MAGUKs, ZO-1, ZO-2, and ZO-3, with the COOH termini of claudins., J. Cell Biol. 147 (1999) 1351–63.
- [205] D.A. Antonetti, A.J. Barber, L.A. Hollinger, E.B. Wolpert, T.W. Gardner, Vascular endothelial growth factor induces rapid phosphorylation of tight junction proteins occludin and zonula occluden 1. A potential mechanism for vascular permeability in diabetic retinopathy and tumors., J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 23463–7. doi:10.1074/JBC.274.33.23463.

- [206] Y. Wallez, P. Huber, Endothelial adherens and tight junctions in vascular homeostasis, inflammation and angiogenesis, Biochim. Biophys. Acta -Biomembr. 1778 (2008) 794–809. doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2007.09.003.
- [207] J.-A. Ko, R. Yanai, T. Nishida, Up-regulation of ZO-1 expression and barrier function in cultured human corneal epithelial cells by substance P, FEBS Lett. 583 (2009) 2148–2153. doi:10.1016/J.FEBSLET.2009.05.010.
- [208] A. V Delgado, A.T. McManus, J.P. Chambers, Exogenous administration of Substance P enhances wound healing in a novel skin-injury model., Exp. Biol. Med. (Maywood). 230 (2005) 271–80.
- [209] G. Tezel, X. Yang, Caspase-Independent Component of Retinal Ganglion Cell Death, In Vitro, Investig. Opthalmology Vis. Sci. 45 (2004) 4049. doi:10.1167/iovs.04-0490.
- [210] N. Heck, A. Golbs, T. Riedemann, J.-J. Sun, V. Lessmann, H.J. Luhmann, Activity-Dependent Regulation of Neuronal Apoptosis in Neonatal Mouse Cerebral Cortex, Cereb. Cortex. 18 (2008) 1335–1349. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhm165.
- [211] R.M. Chau, F. Ren, W.Q. Huang, Programmed cell death of neonatal rat retinal ganglion cells due to turn-off expression of a novel 30-kD trophic factor and/or the lack of this factor supplied from the superior colliculus., Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 663 (1992) 466–70.
- [212] C. Massoll, W. Mando, S.K. Chintala, Excitotoxicity upregulates SARM1 protein expression and promotes Wallerian-like degeneration of retinal ganglion cells and their axons., Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 54 (2013) 2771– 80. doi:10.1167/iovs.12-10973.
- [213] G. Tezel, Oxidative stress in glaucomatous neurodegeneration: mechanisms and consequences., Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 25 (2006) 490–513. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2006.07.003.
- [214] D. Patrick, A. Leone, J. Shellenberger, K. Dudowicz, J. King, Proinflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interferon-gamma modulate epithelial barrier function in Madin-Darby canine kidney cells through mitogen activated protein kinase signaling., BMC Physiol. 6 (2006) 2. doi:10.1186/1472-6793-6-2.

- [215] W.Z. Ho, D. Kaufman, M. Uvaydova, S.D. Douglas, Substance P augments interleukin-10 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha release by human cord blood monocytes and macrophages., J. Neuroimmunol. 71 (1996) 73–80.
- [216] T. Kincy-Cain, K.L. Bost, Substance P-induced IL-12 production by murine macrophages., J. Immunol. 158 (1997) 2334–9.
- [217] M. Ziche, L. Morbidelli, E. Masini, S. Amerini, H.J. Granger, C.A. Maggi, P. Geppetti, F. Ledda, Nitric oxide mediates angiogenesis in vivo and endothelial cell growth and migration in vitro promoted by substance P., J. Clin. Invest. 94 (1994) 2036–2044. doi:10.1172/JCI117557.
- [218] G.S. Katsanos, A. Anogeianaki, C. Orso, S. Tete, V. Salini, P.L. Antinolfi, G. Sabatino, Impact of substance P on cellular immunity., J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents. 22 (n.d.) 93–8.
- [219] H.S. Hong, S. Kim, S. Nam, J. Um, Y.H. Kim, Y. Son, Effect of substance P on recovery from laser-induced retinal degeneration, Wound Repair Regen. 23 (2015) 268–277. doi:10.1111/wrr.12264.
- [220] N. Cheung, P. Mitchell, T.Y. Wong, Diabetic retinopathy., Lancet (London, England). 376 (2010) 124–36. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)62124-3.
- [221] T.W. Gardner, D.A. Antonetti, A.J. Barber, K.F. LaNoue, S.W. Levison, Diabetic retinopathy: more than meets the eye., Surv. Ophthalmol. 47 Suppl 2 (2002) S253-62.
- [222] E.A. Newman, E.A. Newman, Glial cell regulation of neuronal activity and blood flow in the retina by release of gliotransmitters, 2 (2015).
- [223] D.A. Antonetti, R. Klein, T.W. Gardner, Diabetic Retinopathy, N. Engl. J. Med. 366 (2012) 1227–1239. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1005073.
- [224] T.W. Gardner, J.R. Davila, The neurovascular unit and the pathophysiologic basis of diabetic retinopathy, Graefe's Arch. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol. 255 (2017) 1–6. doi:10.1007/s00417-016-3548-y.
- [225] Y. Dumont, J.C. Martel, A. Fournier, S. St-Pierre, R. Quirion, Neuropeptide Y and neuropeptide Y receptor subtypes in brain and peripheral tissues., Prog. Neurobiol. 38 (1992) 125–67.
- [226] M.C. Michel, Receptors for neuropeptide Y: multiple subtypes and multiple second messengers., Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 12 (1991) 389–94.

- [227] P.Y.. Jen, W.W.Y. Li, D.T. Yew, Immunohistochemical localization of neuropeptide y and somatostatin in human fetal retina, Neuroscience. 60 (1994) 727–735. doi:10.1016/0306-4522(94)90500-2.
- [228] K. Akiyama, S. Nakanishi, N.H. Nakamura, T. Naito, Gene expression profiling of neuropeptides in mouse cerebellum, hippocampus, and retina, Nutrition. 24 (2008) 918–923. doi:10.1016/J.NUT.2008.06.018.
- [229] A. Bruun, K. Tornqvist, B. Ehinger, Neuropeptide Y (NPY) immunoreactive neurons in the retina of different species., Histochemistry. 86 (1986) 135–40.
- [230] A.G. Blomqvist, H. Herzog, Y-receptor subtypes--how many more?, Trends Neurosci. 20 (1997) 294–8.
- [231] A.P. Silva, S. Xapelli, P.S. Pinheiro, R. Ferreira, J. Lourenco, A. Cristovao, E. Grouzmann, C. Cavadas, C.R. Oliveira, J.O. Malva, Up-regulation of neuropeptide Y levels and modulation of glutamate release through neuropeptide Y receptors in the hippocampus of kainate-induced epileptic rats, J. Neurochem. 93 (2005) 163–170. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.03005.x.
- [232] S. Xapelli, L. Bernardino, R. Ferreira, S. Grade, A.P. Silva, J.R. Salgado, C. Cavadas, E. Grouzmann, F.R. Poulsen, B. Jakobsen, C.R. Oliveira, J. Zimmer, J.O. Malva, Interaction between neuropeptide Y (NPY) and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in NPY-mediated neuroprotection against excitotoxicity: a role for microglia, Eur. J. Neurosci. 27 (2008) 2089–2102. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06172.x.
- [233] S. Movafagh, J.P. Hobson, S. Spiegel, H.K. Kleinman, Z. Zukowska, Neuropeptide Y induces migration, proliferation, and tube formation of endothelial cells bimodally via Y1, Y2, and Y5 receptors, FASEB J. 20 (2006) 1924–1926. doi:10.1096/fj.05-4770fje.
- [234] K. Ou, S. Mertsch, S. Theodoropoulou, J. Wu, J. Liu, D.A. Copland, S. Schrader, L. Liu, A.D. Dick, Restoring retinal neurovascular health via substance P, Exp. Cell Res. (2019). doi:10.1016/J.YEXCR.2019.04.008.
- [235] S. Lenzen, The mechanisms of alloxan- and streptozotocin-induced diabetes, Diabetologia. 51 (2008) 216–226. doi:10.1007/s00125-007-0886-7.
- [236] J. Cai, L. Wu, X. Qi, L. Shaw, S. Li Calzi, S. Caballero, W.G. Jiang, S.A. Vinores, D. Antonetti, A. Ahmed, M.B. Grant, M.E. Boulton, Placenta Growth Factor-1 Exerts Time-Dependent Stabilization of Adherens Junctions

Following VEGF-Induced Vascular Permeability, PLoS One. 6 (2011) e18076. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0018076.

- [237] M.-L. Chang, C.-H. Wu, Y.-F. Jiang-Shieh, J.-Y. Shieh, C.-Y. Wen, Reactive changes of retinal astrocytes and Müller glial cells in kainate-induced neuroexcitotoxicity., J. Anat. 210 (2007) 54–65. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7580.2006.00671.x.
- [238] Y. Chen, Q. Lu, E.E. Schneeberger, D.A. Goodenough, Restoration of Tight Junction Structure and Barrier Function by Down-Regulation of the Mitogenactivated Protein Kinase Pathway in Ras-transformed Madin-Darby Canine Kidney Cells, Mol. Biol. Cell. 11 (2000) 849–862. doi:10.1091/mbc.11.3.849.
- [239] A. Chawla, R. Chawla, S. Jaggi, Microvasular and macrovascular complications in diabetes mellitus: Distinct or continuum?, Indian J. Endocrinol. Metab. 20 (2016) 546–51. doi:10.4103/2230-8210.183480.
- [240] C. Rask-Madsen, G.L. King, Vascular complications of diabetes: mechanisms of injury and protective factors., Cell Metab. 17 (2013) 20–33.
  doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2012.11.012.
- [241] K. Nowotny, T. Jung, A. Höhn, D. Weber, T. Grune, Advanced glycation end products and oxidative stress in type 2 diabetes mellitus., Biomolecules. 5 (2015) 194–222. doi:10.3390/biom5010194.
- [242] M.S. Stem, T.W. Gardner, Neurodegeneration in the pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic implications., Curr. Med. Chem. 20 (2013) 3241–50.
- [243] H. Qian, H. Ripps, Neurovascular Interaction and the Pathophysiology of Diabetic Retinopathy, J. Diabetes Res. 2011 (2011). doi:10.1155/2011/693426.
- [244] R.A. Feit-Leichman, R. Kinouchi, M. Takeda, Z. Fan, S. Mohr, T.S. Kern, D.F. Chen, Vascular Damage in a Mouse Model of Diabetic Retinopathy: Relation to Neuronal and Glial Changes, Investig. Opthalmology Vis. Sci. 46 (2005) 4281. doi:10.1167/iovs.04-1361.
- [245] J.M. Anderson, M.S. Balda, A.S. Fanning, The structure and regulation of tight junctions, Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 5 (1993) 772–778. doi:10.1016/0955-0674(93)90024-K.
- [246] D.A. Antonetti, A.J. Barber, L.A. Hollinger, E.B. Wolpert, T.W. Gardner, Vascular endothelial growth factor induces rapid phosphorylation of tight junction proteins occludin and zonula occluden 1. A potential mechanism for

vascular permeability in diabetic retinopathy and tumors., J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 23463–7. doi:10.1074/JBC.274.33.23463.

- [247] K. Takano, T. Kojima, N. Sawada, T. Himi, Role of tight junctions in signal transduction: an update., EXCLI J. 13 (2014) 1145–62.
- [248] C.A. Aveleira, C.-M. Lin, S.F. Abcouwer, A.F. Ambrósio, D.A. Antonetti, TNF-α Signals Through PKCζ/NF-κB to Alter the Tight Junction Complex and Increase Retinal Endothelial Cell Permeability, Diabetes. 59 (2010) 2872– 2882. doi:10.2337/DB09-1606.
- [249] R. Ferreira, S. Xapelli, T. Santos, A.P. Silva, A. Cristóvão, L. Cortes, J.O. Malva, Neuropeptide Y modulation of interleukin-1 {beta} (IL-1 {beta})induced nitric oxide production in microglia., J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 41921–34. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.164020.
- [250] W.E. Cromer, S.D. Zawieja, B. Tharakan, E.W. Childs, M.K. Newell, D.C. Zawieja, The effects of inflammatory cytokines on lymphatic endothelial barrier function, Angiogenesis. 17 (2014) 395–406. doi:10.1007/s10456-013-9393-2.
- [251] E. Lieth, A.J. Barber, B. Xu, C. Dice, M.J. Ratz, D. Tanase, J.M. Strother, Glial reactivity and impaired glutamate metabolism in short-term experimental diabetic retinopathy. Penn State Retina Research Group, Diabetes. 47 (1998) 815–820. doi:10.2337/diabetes.47.5.815.
- [252] V. Connaughton, Glutamate and Glutamate Receptors in the Vertebrate Retina, University of Utah Health Sciences Center, 1995.
- [253] J. Deng, D.Z. Wu, R. Gao, Detection of glutamate and gamma-aminobutyric acid in vitreous of patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy., Yan Ke Xue Bao = Eye Sci. 16 (2000) 199–202.
- [254] R.A. Kowluru, R.L. Engerman, G.L. Case, T.S. Kern, Retinal glutamate in diabetes and effect of antioxidants., Neurochem. Int. 38 (2001) 385–90.
- [255] C.K. Vorwerk, S.A. Lipton, D. Zurakowski, B.T. Hyman, B.A. Sabel, E.B. Dreyer, Chronic low-dose glutamate is toxic to retinal ganglion cells. Toxicity blocked by memantine., Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 37 (1996) 1618–24.
- [256] N.J. Sucher, S.A. Lipton, E.B. Dreyer, Molecular basis of glutamate toxicity in retinal ganglion cells, Vision Res. 37 (1997) 3483–3493. doi:10.1016/S0042-6989(97)00047-3.

- [257] A.R. Álvaro, J. Martins, A. Costa, E. Fernandes, F. Carvalho, A.F. Ambrósio, C. Cavadas, Neuropeptide Y protects retinal neural cells against cell death induced by ecstasy, Neuroscience. 152 (2008) 97–105. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.12.027.
- [258] M. Śmiałowska, H. Domin, B. Zięba, E. Koźniewska, R. Michalik, P. Piotrowski, M. Kajta, Neuroprotective effects of neuropeptide Y-Y2 and Y5 receptor agonists in vitro and in vivo, Neuropeptides. 43 (2009) 235–249. doi:10.1016/j.npep.2009.02.002.
- [259] A.R. Álvaro, J. Rosmaninho-Salgado, A.F. Ambrósio, C. Cavadas, Neuropeptide Y inhibits [Ca<sup>2+</sup>] i changes in rat retinal neurons through NPY Y 1, Y 4, and Y 5 receptors, J. Neurochem. 109 (2009) 1508–1515. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06079.x.
- [260] M. Decressac, S. Pain, P.-Y. Chabeauti, L. Frangeul, N. Thiriet, H. Herzog, J. Vergote, S. Chalon, M. Jaber, A. Gaillard, Neuroprotection by neuropeptide Y in cell and animal models of Parkinson's disease, Neurobiol. Aging. 33 (2012) 2125–2137. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.06.018.
- [261] M.J. Fowler, Microvascular and Macrovascular Complications of Diabetes, Clin. Diabetes. 26 (2008) 77–82. doi:10.2337/diaclin.26.2.77.
- [262] D.H. Jo, H. An, D.-J. Chang, Y.-Y. Baek, C.S. Cho, H.O. Jun, S.-J. Park, J.H. Kim, H.-Y. Lee, K.-W. Kim, J. Lee, H.-J. Park, Y.-M. Kim, Y.-G. Suh, J.H. Kim, Hypoxia-mediated retinal neovascularization and vascular leakage in diabetic retina is suppressed by HIF-1α destabilization by SH-1242 and SH-1280, novel hsp90 inhibitors, J. Mol. Med. 92 (2014) 1083–1092. doi:10.1007/s00109-014-1168-8.
- [263] W. Eichler, Y. Yafai, P. Wiedemann, A. Reichenbach, Angiogenesis-related factors derived from retinal glial (Müller) cells in hypoxia., Neuroreport. 15 (2004) 1633–7.
- [264] S. Tout, T. Chan-Ling, H. Holländer, J. Stone, The role of müller cells in the formation of the blood-retinal barrier, Neuroscience. 55 (1993) 291–301. doi:10.1016/0306-4522(93)90473-S.
- [265] W. Shen, M. Fruttiger, L. Zhu, S.H. Chung, N.L. Barnett, J.K. Kirk, S. Lee, N.J. Coorey, M. Killingsworth, L.S. Sherman, M.C. Gillies, Conditional Muller Cell Ablation Causes Independent Neuronal and Vascular Pathologies in a

Novel Transgenic Model, J. Neurosci. 32 (2012) 15715–15727. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2841-12.2012.

- [266] Y. Bai, J. Ma, J. Guo, J. Wang, M. Zhu, Y. Chen, Y.-Z. Le, Müller cell-derived VEGF is a significant contributor to retinal neovascularization, J. Pathol. 219 (2009) 446–454. doi:10.1002/path.2611.
- [267] Y. Yafai, W. Eichler, I. Iandiev, J.-D. Unterlauft, C. Jochmann, P. Wiedemann,
  A. Bringmann, Thrombospondin-1 Is Produced by Retinal Glial Cells and
  Inhibits the Growth of Vascular Endothelial Cells, Ophthalmic Res. 52 (2014)
  81–88. doi:10.1159/000362371.
- [268] W. Eichler, Y. Yafai, T. Keller, P. Wiedemann, A. Reichenbach, PEDF derived from glial Müller cells: a possible regulator of retinal angiogenesis, Exp. Cell Res. 299 (2004) 68–78. doi:10.1016/J.YEXCR.2004.05.020.
- [269] N. Nishikiori, M. Osanai, H. Chiba, T. Kojima, Y. Mitamura, H. Ohguro, N. Sawada, Glial Cell-Derived Cytokines Attenuate the Breakdown of Vascular Integrity in Diabetic Retinopathy, Diabetes. 56 (2007) 1333–1340. doi:10.2337/db06-1431.
- [270] J.S. Penn, A. Madan, R.B. Caldwell, M. Bartoli, R.W. Caldwell, M.E. Hartnett, Vascular endothelial growth factor in eye disease., Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 27 (2008) 331–71. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2008.05.001.
- [271] S. Le Jan, C. Amy, A. Cazes, C. Monnot, N. Lamandé, J. Favier, J. Philippe, M. Sibony, J.-M. Gasc, P. Corvol, S. Germain, Angiopoietin-like 4 is a proangiogenic factor produced during ischemia and in conventional renal cell carcinoma., Am. J. Pathol. 162 (2003) 1521–8. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64285-X.
- [272] H. Noma, K. Yasuda, M. Shimura, Cytokines and the Pathogenesis of Macular Edema in Branch Retinal Vein Occlusion, J. Ophthalmol. 2019 (2019) 1–9. doi:10.1155/2019/5185128.
- [273] A.S. Al-Kharashi, Role of oxidative stress, inflammation, hypoxia and angiogenesis in the development of diabetic retinopathy., Saudi J. Ophthalmol. Off. J. Saudi Ophthalmol. Soc. 32 (2018) 318–323. doi:10.1016/j.sjopt.2018.05.002.
- [274] S. Soni, Y.S. Padwad, HIF-1 in cancer therapy: two decade long story of a transcription factor, Acta Oncol. (Madr). 56 (2017) 503–515.
  doi:10.1080/0284186X.2017.1301680.

- [275] S.A. Dos Santos, D.R. de Andrade, Júnior, HIF-1alpha and infectious diseases: a new frontier for the development of new therapies., Rev. Inst. Med. Trop. Sao Paulo. 59 (2017) e92. doi:10.1590/S1678-9946201759092.
- [276] M.E. Hubbi, D.M. Gilkes, J.H. Baek, G.L. Semenza, Four-and-a-Half LIM Domain Proteins Inhibit Transactivation by Hypoxia-inducible Factor 1, J. Biol. Chem. 287 (2012) 6139–6149. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.278630.
- [277] C. Tan, R.G. de Noronha, A.J. Roecker, B. Pyrzynska, F. Khwaja, Z. Zhang, H. Zhang, Q. Teng, A.C. Nicholson, P. Giannakakou, W. Zhou, J.J. Olson, M.M. Pereira, K.C. Nicolaou, E.G. Van Meir, Identification of a novel small-molecule inhibitor of the hypoxia-inducible factor 1 pathway., Cancer Res. 65 (2005) 605–12.
- [278] L.M. Greenberger, I.D. Horak, D. Filpula, P. Sapra, M. Westergaard, H.F. Frydenlund, C. Albaek, H. Schrøder, H. Ørum, A RNA antagonist of hypoxiainducible factor-1alpha, EZN-2968, inhibits tumor cell growth., Mol. Cancer Ther. 7 (2008) 3598–608. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-08-0510.
- [279] S. Li, A. Hafeez, F. Noorulla, X. Geng, G. Shao, C. Ren, G. Lu, H. Zhao, Y. Ding, X. Ji, Preconditioning in neuroprotection: From hypoxia to ischemia., Prog. Neurobiol. 157 (2017) 79–91. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2017.01.001.
- [280] M. Thiersch, C. Lange, S. Joly, S. Heynen, Y.Z. Le, M. Samardzija, C. Grimm, Retinal neuroprotection by hypoxic preconditioning is independent of hypoxiainducible factor-1 expression in photoreceptors, Eur. J. Neurosci. 29 (2009) 2291–2302. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.06781.x.
- [281] A.J. Majmundar, W.J. Wong, M.C. Simon, Hypoxia-inducible factors and the response to hypoxic stress., Mol. Cell. 40 (2010) 294–309. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2010.09.022.
- [282] E.L. Fletcher, J.A. Phipps, J.L. Wilkinson-Berka, Dysfunction of retinal neurons and glia during diabetes., Clin. Exp. Optom. 88 (2005) 132–45.
- [283] J.F. Arboleda-Velasquez, C. Valdez, C.K. Marko, P.A. D'Amore, From pathobiology to the Targeting of Pericytes for the Treatment of Diabetic Retinopathy, Curr. Diab. Rep. 15 (2015) 573. doi:10.1007/S11892-014-0573-2.
- [284] K.G. Falavarjani, Q.D. Nguyen, Adverse events and complications associated with intravitreal injection of anti-VEGF agents: a review of literature., Eye (Lond). 27 (2013) 787–94. doi:10.1038/eye.2013.107.

- [285] X.-T. Huang, C. Li, X.-P. Peng, J. Guo, S.-J. Yue, W. Liu, F.-Y. Zhao, J.-Z. Han, Y.-H. Huang, Y.-L. Yang-Li, Q.-M. Cheng, Z.-G. Zhou, C. Chen, D.-D. Feng, Z.-Q. Luo, An excessive increase in glutamate contributes to glucosetoxicity in β-cells via activation of pancreatic NMDA receptors in rodent diabetes., Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 44120. doi:10.1038/srep44120.
- [286] X. Dong, Y. Wang, Z. Qin, Molecular mechanisms of excitotoxicity and their relevance to pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases., Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 30 (2009) 379–87. doi:10.1038/aps.2009.24.
- [287] M. Tsacopoulos, P.J. Magistretti, Metabolic coupling between glia and neurons., J. Neurosci. 16 (1996) 877–85. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.16-03-00877.1996.
- [288] A. BRINGMANN, T. PANNICKE, J. GROSCHE, M. FRANCKE, P. WIEDEMANN, S. SKATCHKOV, N. OSBORNE, A. REICHENBACH, Müller cells in the healthy and diseased retina, Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 25 (2006) 397–424. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2006.05.003.
- [289] E.A. Newman, K.R. Zahs, Modulation of neuronal activity by glial cells in the retina., J. Neurosci. 18 (1998) 4022–8.
- [290] E.R. Stevens, M. Esguerra, P.M. Kim, E.A. Newman, S.H. Snyder, K.R. Zahs, R.F. Miller, d-serine and serine racemase are present in the vertebrate retina and contribute to the physiological activation of NMDA receptors, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 100 (2003) 6789–6794. doi:10.1073/PNAS.1237052100.
- [291] M. Dubois-Dauphin, C. Poitry-Yamate, F. de Bilbao, A.K. Julliard, F. Jourdan, G. Donati, Early postnatal Müller cell death leads to retinal but not optic nerve degeneration in NSE-Hu-Bcl-2 transgenic mice., Neuroscience. 95 (2000) 9–21.
- [292] C. Grimm, D.M. Hermann, A. Bogdanova, S. Hotop, Ü. Kilic, A. Wenzel, E. Kilic, M. Gassmann, Neuroprotection by hypoxic preconditioning: HIF-1 and erythropoietin protect from retinal degeneration, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 16 (2005) 531–538. doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2005.03.004.
- [293] Z. Luo, F. Wu, E. Xue, L. Huang, P. Yan, X. Pan, Y. Zhou, Hypoxia preconditioning promotes bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells survival by inducing HIF-1α in injured neuronal cells derived exosomes culture system, Cell Death Dis. 10 (2019) 134. doi:10.1038/s41419-019-1410-y.

- [294] A.E. Greijer, E. van der Wall, The role of hypoxia inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) in hypoxia induced apoptosis., J. Clin. Pathol. 57 (2004) 1009–14. doi:10.1136/jcp.2003.015032.
- [295] C. Christian, M. Gilbert, D.G. Payan, Stimulation of Transcriptional Regulatory Activity by Substance P, Neuroimmunomodulation. 1 (1994) 159– 164. doi:10.1159/000097156.
- [296] K. Lieb, B.L. Fiebich, M. Berger, J. Bauer, K. Schulze-Osthoff, The neuropeptide substance P activates transcription factor NF-kappa B and kappa B-dependent gene expression in human astrocytoma cells., J. Immunol. 159 (1997) 4952–8.

## 8. Acknowledgements

## 8. Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to express my special thanks to my primary supervisors Prof. Stefan Schrader and Prof. Sebastian Wesselborg for the continuous support of my Ph.D study and related research, for their immense knowledge, aspiring guidance and illuminating views. Besides my advisors, I would like to thank Dr. Sonja Mertsch for all the encouragement and valuable advice during the project and while writing this thesis.

My sincere thanks also go to the whole research team at the Academic Unit of Ophthalmology in University of Bristol. Especially Prof. Andrew Dick, Dr. Lei Liu, Dr. Dave Copland and Dr. Jian Liu, who provided me an opportunity to join their team and work to perform the majority of my experiments in their facilities. What a cracking place to work! Meanwhile, without their crucial advice, precious support in overcoming numerous obstacles I have been facing through my research, this project would not be possible to conduct this research.

With a special mention to Dr. Sofia Theodoropoulou at the University of Bristol for her unfailing support and assistance. All her encouragement and practical guidance along the way, taught me how to be a good researcher and always gave me thoughtful supervision.

A very special gratitude goes out to all my funding bodies, specifically at The Dunhill Medical Trust [grant number: R474/0216] and China Scholarships Council (CSC) for helping and providing the funding for the work.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank my wife Youjian Li for her constant encouragement and endless patience with me. Without her support, this work would not have been possible. I am also grateful to my other family members and friends who have supported me along the way.

Thanks for all your encouragement!